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Equity Residential is an SP 500 company focused on the acquisition

development and management of high-quality apartment properties in top

U.S growth markets As of December 31 2008 the company owned or had

investments in 548 properties consisting of 147244 apartment units located in

23 states and the District of Columbia

Dear Fellow Shareholders

2008 was indeed an extraordinary year It began with some debate about whether or not our

economy had entered recession and ended with unquestioned certainty that we were in the

midst of the worst world-wide economic conditions seen in decades Along the way numerous

seemingly invincible financial institutions were brought to the brink requiring unprecedented

government support the final extent of which remains undetermined Millions of jobs have been

lost since the recession began with no business industry or area of the country untouched by

the severe impact of such downturn in our economy Yet despite the dramatic decline in the

economy Equity Residential produced strong operating results thanks to our talented people

our new platform and our portfolio of high-quality well-located assets

Our Portfolio

Since our initial public offering in 1993 we have worked diligently to create value for our

shareholders by combining our investment skills with our property management expertise

Our portfolio of assets grew from 22000 units in 1993 to more than 225000 units in 2000

This growth allowed us to build economies of scale and take advantage of opportunities to

efficiently incorporate additional assets to our platform be they one-off or large portfolios

In 2000 we began an aggressive transformation of our property portfolio We significantly

reduced the number of markets in which we operate By selling assets and reinvesting those

proceeds we have increased our size and scale in core markets that we believe will deliver better

long-term risk adjusted returns During this process we have sold more than 150000 apartment

units for over $10 billion acquired more than 62000 apartment units for over $9 billion and

developed nearly 13000 apartment units for more than $2.4 billion

As result of this transformation we now have portfolio of high-quality assets in some of the

most desirable markets across the country Our core markets which include New York Boston

Washington D.C Seattle San Francisco and Los Angeles are truly international cities with

diversified economies offering employment opportunities and high quality of life to their

residents Because of these traits they will continue to attract the 80 million young adults of

the Echo Boom generation as they finish school and head into the work force On average four

million of these children of the Baby Boomers will turn 18 each year for the next decade further

increasing the age cohort with the highest propensity to rent apartments

These markets also feature another characteristic very beneficial to apartment owners cost

of home ownership that is significantly higher than the national average While housing prices

have fallen dramatically across the country in our core markets the cost to own home remains

high particularly when looked at as percentage of average income At the end of 2008 the

monthly cost to own home was more than 50% higher than the cost to rent an apartment

in our core markets compared to 12% higher on average nationally This should keep our

apartments full and allow us to continue to raise our rents long into the future Furthermore

home ownership in the United States continues to decline from peak of 69% of total

households in 2005 to projected 66% in 2009 This has increased demand for rental housing

by returning nearly three million households to rent rolls Many experts believe that the national

home ownership percentage will continue to decrease and return to the historic average of

64% which will return an additional two million households to landlords rent rolls



Our Platform

Thanks to our fully implemented state-of-the-art operating platform we are managing all

of our revenue and operational activities on real-time basis Harnessing the power of this

technology has allowed us to maximize the efficiency of our operation and deliver market-

leading performance

With the help of our revenue management system we delivered same store revenue growth

of 3.2% in 2008 Our performance was even more impressive when looked at on market-by-

market basis Our properties delivered revenue growth in excess of the market in over 70% of

our core markets across the country

In 2008 we continued our proven track record of stringent cost control with year-over-year

same store operating expense growth of only 2.2% Even more impressive is that this was

achieved after having delivered same store operating expense growth of an already low 2.1%

in 2007 We expect to continue to build on that success in 2009 despite the challenges that will

come from rising utility expenses and property taxes

Also in 2008 our general and administrative expenses declined 3.9% and our property

management expenses decreased 12.2% In addition by carefully controlling the scope and

timing of capital work we decreased our annual recurring capital expenditures from $1109 per

unit in 2007 to $864 per unit last year decrease of 22%

Much of our on-site cost control has come from reducing the cost-to-lease vacant units because

the process of searching for and renting an apartment has been transformed by technology

Using our website EquityApartments.com prospective residents are able to find all the

information they need on pricing location and amenities for each of our properties around

the country By doing so these prospects come to us having already done much of their pre

selection work and arrive with an understanding of the property unit types and availability

rental rates and amenuties These prospects become e-leads by completing guest card and

setting up an appointment on-line to visit the property In 2008 we generated an average of

20000 e-leads per month an increase of 31% from the prior year In the fourth quarter of 2008

42% of our leases came as result of e-leads an increase of 5% from the fourth quarter year

ago Not only are we dealing with our customers in the manner that they most prefer but in

doing so are also getting better qualified more informed customers through our door with less

effort and at significantly less cost In fact since the implementation of our new platform our

leasing advertising and marketing costs per move-in have decreased over 20%

Growth in our on-site operating costs has also been modest due to tight controls on our costs to

turn an apartment uniFt and make it ready for new resident Thanks to the visibility provided by

our new platform we have been able to reduce our core turn costs by an average of more than

2% in each of the last three years

While we are very proud of our accomplishments in controlling our expenditures we can only

consider it success if we are at the same time keeping our customers satisfied Generally

our residents pay about one-third of their income to us in rent For most rent is their single

largest monthly expense At Equity Residential we know our residents have high expectations

for the overall quality of their individual apartment unit their apartment community and in the

service we provide And we are dedicated to exceeding their expectations



From survey of 10000 apartment residents done several years ago we know that new

residents satisfaction within the first 30 days of move-in is the single most important

determinant of their willingness to renew when their lease expires With that knowledge we

began our Excellence in Maintenance and Customer Service EMC 365 program dedicated to

improving the move-in experience and achieving high levels of resident satisfaction Every

property is evaluated and ranked monthly on their EMC 365 scores which is the result of

prospect and resident data collected on-line The scores tell us how were doing taking care of

our assets providing exceptional move-in experiences handling residents service requests and

the overall attitude of our on-site teams

This prospect and resident survey data also creates Customer Loyalty Scores which are

increasing across the country each and every month In 2008 these scores increased an average

of 45% from year ago We place great emphasis on these scores which are major drivers of

compensation for our property management personnel Our systems allow us to monitor the

results on real-time basis and address any issues immediately And while we are pleased that

we have very good and continually improving customer loyalty scores across our portfolio the

proof of our success is reflected both in the increase in our resident retention rates and the

dramatic rise in resident referrals We are delighted that the number of our residents that stayed

loyal to Equity Residential by moving from one of our properties to another increased 10% in

2008 Satisfied residents also tend to pay more rent than do new residents In each and every

month of 2008 our renewal rents exceeded our new resident rents The statistics are clear

loyal residents say good things about us stay longer with us and pay more rent to do so We will

continue our relentless focus on customer loyalty

Our Balance Sheet

Having strong balance sheet has always been primary focus for Equity Residential but never

more so than now We are proud that we were proactive in addressing our funding needs when

we began to see the turmoil in the credit markets In the fall of 2007 we closed $500 million

unsecured term loan with our bank group and we began talks with Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac about secured borrowings In 2008 we borrowed $1.6 billion from these agencies at an

average rate of approximately 6% per annum to refinance debt obligations maturing in 2008

and 2009

The liquidity the agencies provide the multifamily sector also enabled us to continue to be an

aggressive seller of assets furthering our strategy of exiting non-core markets and selling older

underperforming assets We took advantage of this opportunity and were net seller of more

than $500 million of assets in 2008 These excess proceeds were used to retire additional debt

and fund development costs

As result of our efforts in 2008 we currently have sufficient liquidity to meet our funding

obligations into 2011 We will continue to be proactive in addressing our future funding needs

We are rated Baal by Moodys BBB by SP and A- by Fitch the highest in our sector We also

cover our fixed charges by more than 2.2x and have 52% leverage ratio We maintain strong

liquidity with access to multiple sources of debt financing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
traditional whole loan lenders such as pension funds and life insurance companies as well as

the public unsecured debt markets We benefit from large pool of unsecured assets giving

us $3 billion of additional secured borrowing capacity if necessary We have $1.3 billion of

availability on our unsecured revolving line of credit consisting of 25-bank syndicate This

line of credit does not mature until 2012 As of December 31 2008 we had cash on hand of

approximately $1.02 billion We are built not only to withstand difficult economic conditions

but to also take advantage of future opportunities



Our People

Equitys mission to be Americas choice for apartment living by being uncompromising in

delivering on our commitments to our shareholders our residents and our employees is

durable one It reminds us everyday what we need to do and why we need to do it

Our success is due to more than 4600 Equity Residential associates dedicated to this mission

They share an entrepreneurial spirit and approach their jobs with knowledge and skill as well

as commitment to customer service Their enthusiasm and determination are what drive

our results and their hard work and dedication make Equity Residential place where people

want to spend their careers Keeping them engaged is top priority and we are very pleased

to tell you that our recent employee engagement scores were once again extremely high

Our team is committed to delivering for you in 2009 and beyond

Our Future

There is no doubt that 2009 will be challenging year for our national economy the apartment

business and Equity Residential but we are poised to meet that challenge We will focus on

managing our portfolio with maximum efficiency retaining current residents driving qualified

prospects to our properties attaining high customer loyalty scores controlling expenses and

maintaining liquidity However the loss of over million jobs is taking its toll on our business

In early February we announced that our expectation for 2009 is to deliver same store revenue

results of -1.5% to -4.5% same store expense growth of 2.5% to 3.5% and same store NOI of

-3.75% to -9.25% Many other businesses are dealing with far greater decreases in revenues

as their customers drastically cut spending but Equity Residential benefits from the fact that

regardless of the state of the economy housing remains basic need and renting is the most

affordable option As result our great portfolio of well-built well-located assets remains 94%

occupied

The multifamily housing market in this country has always been function of the most basic

of economic tenets supply and demand Previous periods of recession have been led by

significant oversupply of apartment units putting downward pressure on occupancy and rents

very different set of circumstances exists today Supply is not problem and will not become

one as result of the capital crunch that has all but stopped the supply of new apartment units

in every market across the country Furthermore demand for rental housing remains strong

and will continue to grow as result of household formations of the Echo Boom generation

immigration patterns and decreasing home ownership rate As result construction starts will

significantly lag these demand drivers and multifamily fundamentals will be strong for many

years to come We think the prospects for the apartment business and Equity Residential have

rarely looked brighter

We appreciate your continued support

Our best to you

David Neithercut

President and Chief Executive Officer

Samuel Zell

Chairman of the Board

April 102009
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PART

Item Business

General

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an SP
50Q company focused on the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in top United

States growth markets EQR has elected to be taxed as REIT

The Company is one of the largest publicly traded real estate companies and is the largest publicly traded

owner of multifamily properties in the United States based on the aggregate market value of its outstanding Common

Shares the number of apartment units wholly owned and total revenues earned The Companys corporate

headquarters are located in Chicago Illinois and the Company also operates property management offices throughout

the United States

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2008 owned an approximate 94.2% ownership interest in

ERP Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership The Company is

structured as an umbrella partnership REIT UPREIT under which all property ownership and related business

operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to the Company include

EQR the Operating Partnership and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership and/or EQR

As of December 31 2008 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities owned

all or portion of 548 properties in 23 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 147244 units The ownership

breakdown includes table does not include various uncompleted development properties

Properties Units

Wholly Owned Properties 477 127002

Partially Owned Properties

Consolidated 28 5757

Unconsolidated 41 9776

Military Housing Fee Managed 4709

548 147244

As of February 2009 the Company has approximately 4700 employees who provide real estate

operations leasing legal financial accounting acquisition disposition development and other support functions

Certain capitalized terms used herein are defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Available Information

You may access our Annual Report on Form 10-K our Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q our Current

Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to any of those reports we file with the SEC free of charge at our website

www.eguityresidential.com These reports are made available at our website as soon as reasonably practicable after

we file them with the SEC

Business Objectives and Operating Strategies

The Company seeks to maximize current income capital appreciation of each property and the total return for its

shareholders The Companys strategy for accomplishing these objectives includes

Leveraging our size and scale in four critical ways

Investing in apartment communities located in strategically targeted markets to maximize our total return

on an enterprise level

Meeting the needs of our residents by offering wide array of product choices and commitment to

service

Engaging retaining and attracting the best employees by providing them with the education resources

and opportunities to succeed and



Sharing resources customers and best practices in property management and across the enterprise

Owning highly diversified portfolio by investing in target markets defined by combination of the

following criteria

High barrier-to-entry low supply

Strong economic predictors high demand and

Attractive quality of life high demand and retention

Giving residents reasons to stay with the Company by providing range
of product options available in our

diversified portfolio and by enhancing their experience through our employees and our services

Being open and responsive to market realities to take advantage of investment opportunities that align

with our long-term vision

Acquisition Development and Disposition Strategies

The Company anticipates that future property acquisitions developments and dispositions will occur within the

United States Acquisitions and developments may be fmanced from various sources of capital which may include

retained cash flow issuance of additional equity and debt securities sales of properties joint venture agreements and

collateralized and uncollateralized borrowings In addition the Company may acquire properties in transactions that

include the issuance of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units as consideration for the

acquired properties Such transactions may in certain circumstances enable the sellers to defer in whole or in part the

recognition of taxable income or gain that might otherwise result from the sales EQR may also acquire land parcels to hold

and/or sell based on market opportunities

When evaluating potential acquisitions developments and dispositions the Company generally considers the

following factors

strategically targeted markets

income levels and employment growth trends in the relevant market

employment and household growth and net migration of the relevant markets population

barriers to entry that would limit competition zoning laws building permit availability supply of

undeveloped or developable real estate local building costs and construction costs among other factors

the location construction quality condition and design of the property

the current and projected cash flow of the property and the ability to increase cash flow

the potential for capital appreciation of the property

the terms of resident leases including the potential for rent increases

the potential for economic growth and the tax and regulatory environment of the community in which the

property is located

the occupancy and demand by residents for properties of similar type in the vicinity the overall market and

submarket

the prospects for liquidity through sale financing or refinancing of the property

the benefits of integration into existing operations

purchase prices and yields of available existing stabilized properties if any

competition from existing multifamily properties comparably priced single family homes or rentals

residential properties under development and the potential for the construction of new multifamily properties

in the area and

opportunistic selling based on demand and price of high quality assets including condominium conversions

The Company generally reinvests the proceeds received from property dispositions primarily to achieve its

acquisition development and rehab strategies and at times to fund its debt and equity repurchase activities In

addition when feasible the Company may structure these transactions as tax-deferred exchanges

See also Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the

Companys segment disclosures



Debt and Equity Activity

Please refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and Results qf

Operations for the Companys Capital Structure chart as of December 31 2008

Major Debt and Equity Activities for the Years Ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006

During 2008

The Operating Partnership obtained $500.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an

11.5 year stated maturity date of October 2019 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate

for 10.5 years at 5.19% secured by 13 properties

The Operating Partnership obtained $550.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an

11.5 year stated maturity date of March 2020 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for

10.5 years at approximately 6% secured by 15 properties

The Operating Partnership obtained $543.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an

year stated maturity date of January 2017 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for

years at approximately 6% secured by 18 properties

The Company issued 995129 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net

proceeds of approximately $24.6 million

The Company issued 195961 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received

net proceeds of approximately $6.2 million

The Company repurchased and retired 220085 of its Common Shares at an average price of $35.93 per share

for total consideration of $7.9 million See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for

further discussion

The Company repurchased $72.6 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 at discount

to par of approximately 1.0% See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion

The Company repurchased $101.4 million of its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 15

2026 at discount to par of approximately 17.7% See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

During 2007

The Operating Partnership issued $350.0 million of five-year 5.50% fixed rate notes the October 2012

Notes in public debt offering in May/June 2007 The October 2012 Notes were issued at discount

which is being amortized over the life of the notes on straight-line basis The October 2012 Notes are due

October 2012 with interest payable semiannually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 commencing

January 15 2008 The Operating Partnership received net proceeds of approximately $346.1 million in

connection with this issuance

The Operating Partnership issued $650.0 million of ten-year 5.75% fixed rate notes the June 2017 Notes
in public debt offering in May/June 2007 The June 2017 Notes were issued at discount which is being

amortized over the life of the notes on straight-line basis The June 2017 Notes are due June 15 2017 with

interest payable semiannually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 commencing January 15 2008 The

Operating Partnership received net proceeds of approximately $640.6 million in connection with this

issuance

The Operating Partnership obtained three-year subject to two one-year extension options $500.0 million

senior unsecured credit facility term loan which generally pays variable interest rate of LIBOR plus

spread dependent upon the current credit rating on the Operating Partnerships long-term unsecured debt

The Operating Partnership paid $1.1 million in upfront costs which will be deferred and amortized over the

three-year term EQR has guaranteed the Operating Partnerships term loan facility up to the maximum

amount and for the full term of the facility

The Company issued 1040765 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net

proceeds of approximately $28.8 million

The Company issued 189071 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received

net proceeds of approximately $7.2 million

The Company repurchased and retired 27484346 of its Common Shares at an average price of $44.62 per

share for total consideration of $1.2 billion



During 2006

The Operating Partnership issued $400.0 million often and one-half year 5.375% unsecured fixed rate notes

the August 2016 Notes in public debt offering in January 2006 The August 2016 Notes were issued at

discount which is being amortized over the life of the notes on straight-line basis The August 2016

Notes are due August 2016 with interest payable semiannually in arrears on February and August

commencing August 2006 The Operating Partnership received net proceeds of approximately $395.5

million in connection with this issuance

The Operating Partnership issued $650.0 million of twenty-year 3.85% exchangeable senior notes the

August 2026 Notes in public debt offering in August 2006 The August 2026 Notes were issued at

discount which is being amortized over the life of the notes on straight-line basis The August 2026 Notes

are due August 15 2026 with interest payable semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15

commencing February 15 2007 The Operating Partnership received net proceeds of approximately $637.0

million in connection with this issuance See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for

further discussion

The Company issued 2647776 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net

proceeds of approximately $69.7 million

The Company issued 213427 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received

net proceeds of approximately $8.0 million

The Company repurchased 1897912 of its Common Shares on the open market at an average price of

$43.85 per share The Company paid approximately $83.2 million for these shares which were retired

subsequent to the repurchase

On January 27 2009 the Company repurchased at par $105.2 million of its 4.75% unsecured notes due June

15 2009 and $185.2 million of its 6.95% unsecured notes due March 2011 pursuant to cash tender offer

announced on January 16 2009

As of February 26 2009 an unlimited amount of debt securities remains available for issuance by the

Operating Partnership under registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in

December 2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically expires on

December 21 2011 and does not contain maximum issuance amount As of February 26 2009 an unlimited

amount of equity securities remains available for issuance by the Company under registration statement that became

automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in December 2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the

registration statement automatically expires on December 15 2011 and does not contain maximum issuance

amount

In May 2002 the Companys shareholders approved the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan In January 2003

the Company filed Form S-8 registration statement to register 23125828 Common Shares under this plan As of January

2009 21740453 shares are the maximum shares issuable under this plan See Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion

Credit Facifities

The Operating Partnership has $1.5 billion unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on February 28

2012 with the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $500.0 million by adding additional banks to

the facility or obtaining the agreement of existing banks to increase their commitments Advances under the credit

facility bear interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus spread dependent upon the

Operating Partnerships credit rating or based on bids received from the lending group EQR has guaranteed the

Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the maximum amount and for the full term of the facility

During the
year

ended December 31 2008 one of the providers of the Operating Partnerships unsecured

revolving credit facility declared bankruptcy Under the existing terms of the credit facility the providers share is up to

$75.0 million of potential borrowings As result the Operating Partnerships borrowing capacity under the unsecured

revolving credit facility has in essence been permanently reduced to $1 .425 billion of potential borrowings The obligation

to fund by all of the other providers has not changed

On April 2005 the Operating Partnership obtained three-year $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit

facility maturing on May 29 2008 Advances under the credit facility bore interest at variable rates based upon

LIBOR at various interest periods plus spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating or based on

bids received from the lending group EQR guaranteed the Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the maximum

amount and for the full term of the facility This credit facility was repaid in full and terminated on February 28



2007 The Company recorded $0.4 million of write-offs of unamortized deferred financing costs as additional interest

in connection with this termination

On May 2007 the Operating Partnership obtained one-year $500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility

maturing on May 2008 Advances under this facility bore interest at variable rates based on LIBOR at various interest

periods plus spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating EQR guaranteed this credit facility up to

the maximumamount and for its full term This credit facility was repaid in full and terminated on June 2007

As of December 31 2008 the amount available on the credit facility was $1.29 billion net of $130.0 million

which was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above As of December

31 2007 $139.0 million was outstanding and $80.8 million was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and not

available for borrowing on the credit facilities During the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 the weighted average

interest rates were 4.3 1% and 5.68% respectively

Competition

All of the Companys properties are located in developed areas that include other multifamily properties The

number of competitive multifamily properties in particular area could have material effect on the Companys ability to

lease units at the properties or at any newly acquired properties and on the rents charged The Company may be competing

with other entities that have greater resources than the Company and whose managers have more experience than the

Companys managers In addition other forms of rental properties and single-family housing provide housing alternatives

to potential residents of multifamily properties See Item 1A Risk Factors for additional information with respect to

competition

Environmental Considerations

See Item 1A Risk Factors for information concerning the potential effects of environmental regulations on our

operations

Item 1A Risk Factors

General

The following Risk Factors may contain defined terms that are different from those used in the other sections of this

report Unless otherwise indicated when used in this section the terms we and us refer to Equity Residential

and its subsidiaries including ERP Operating Limited Partnership This Item IA includes forward-looking

statements You should refer to our discussion of the qualflcations and limitations on forward-looking statements

included in Item

The occurrence of the events discussed in the following risk factors could adversely affect possibly in

material manner our business financial condition or results of operations which could adversely affect the value of

our common shares of beneficial interest or preferred shares of beneficial interest which we refer to collectively as

Shares preference interests and/or units Interests and/or Units of subsidiary of ERP Operating Limited

Partnership our operating partnership and limited parinership interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units In

this section we refer to the Shares Interests Units and the OP Units together as our securities and the investors

who own Shares Interests Units and/or OP Units as our security holders

Our Performance and Securities Value are Subject to Risks Associated with the Real Estate Industry

General

Real property investments are subject to varying degrees of risk and are relatively illiquid Several factors

may adversely affect the economic performance and value of our properties These factors include changes in the

national regional and local economic climates local conditions such as an oversupply of multifamily properties or

reduction in demand for our multifamily properties the attractiveness of our properties to residents competition from

other available multifamily property owners and single family homes and changes in market rental rates Our

performance also depends on our ability to collect rent from residents and to pay for adequate maintenance insurance

and other operating costs including real estate taxes which could increase over time Sources of labor and materials

required for maintenance repair capital expenditure or development may be more expensive than anticipated Also

the expenses of owning and operating property are not necessarily reduced when circumstances such as market

factors and competition cause reduction in income from the property



We May Not Have Sufficient Cash Flows From Operations After Capital Expenditures to Cover Our

Distributions

We generally consider our cash flows provided by operating activities after capital expenditures to be

adequate to meet operating requirements and payment of distributions to our security holders However there may be

times when we experience shortfalls in our coverage
of distributions which may cause us to consider reducing our

distributions and/or using the proceeds from property dispositions or additional financing transactions to make up the

difference Should these shortfalls occur for lengthy periods of time or be material in nature our financial condition

may be adversely affected and we may not be able to maintain our current distribution levels

We May Be Unable to Renew Leases or Relet Units as Leases Expire

When our residents decide not to renew their leases upon expiration we may not be able to relet their units

Even if the residents do renew or we can relet the units the terms of renewal or reletting may be less favorable than

current lease terms Because virtually all of our leases are for apartments they are generally for terms of no more than

one year If we are unable to promptly renew the leases or relet the units or if the rental rates upon renewal or

reletting are significantly lower than expected rates then our results of operations and financial condition will be

adversely affected Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by national and local economic and

market conditions including without limitation new construction and excess inventory of multifamily and single

family housing slow or negative employment growth availability of low interest mortgages for single family home

buyers and the potential for geopolitical instability all of which are beyond the Companys control In addition

various state and local municipalities are considering and may continue to consider rent control legislation which

could limit our ability to raise rents Finally the federal government is considering and may continue to consider

policies which may encourage home ownership thus increasing competition and possibly limiting our ability to raise

rents Consequently our cash flow and ability to service debt and make distributions to security holders could be

reduced

New Acquisitions and/or Development Projects May Fail to Perform as Expected and Competition for

Acquisitions May Result in Increased Prices for Properties

We intend to actively acquire multifamily properties for rental operations as market conditions dictate The

Company does not currently intend to begin the development of any new wholly-owned projects but has substantial

number of properties under development now and may commence new development activities if conditions warrant

We may underestimate the costs necessary to bring an acquired property up to standards established for its intended

market position or to complete development property Additionally we expect that other major real estate investors

with significant capital will compete with us for attractive investment opportunities or may also develop properties in

markets where we focus our development efforts This competition may increase prices for multifamily properties

We may not be in position or have the opportunity in the future to make suitable property acquisitions on favorable

terms To the extent that we do develop more properties if conditions warrant we expect to do so ourselves in

addition to co-investing with our development partners The total number of development units cost of development

and estimated completion dates are subject to uncertainties arising from changing economic conditions such as the

cost of labor and construction materials competition and local government regulation

Because Real Estate Investments Are Illiquid We May Not Be Able to Sell Properties When Appropriate

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly We may not be able to reconfigure our portfolio

promptly in response to economic or other conditions This inability to respond promptly to changes in the

performance of our investments could adversely affect our financial condition and ability to make distributions to our

security holders

Changes in Laws and Litigation Risk Could Affect Our Business

We are generally not able to pass through to our residents under existing leases real estate or other federal

state or local taxes Consequently any such tax increases may adversely affect our financial condition and limit our

ability to make distributions to our security holders Similarly changes that increase our potential liability under

environmental laws or our expenditures on environmental compliance would adversely affect our cash flow and

ability to make distributions on our securities



We may become involved in legal proceedings including but not limited to proceedings related to consumer

employment development condominium conversion tort and commercial legal issues that if decided adversely to or

settled by us could result in liability material to our financial condition or results of operations

Environmental Problems Are Possible and Can Be Costly

Federal state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require

current or previous owner or operator of real estate to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substances or

petroleum product releases at such property The owner or operator may have to pay governmental entity or third

parties for property damage and for investigation and clean-up costs incurred by such parties in connection with the

contamination These laws typically impose clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner

or operator knew of or caused the presence of the contaminants Even if more than one person may have been

responsible for the contamination each person covered by the environmental laws may be held responsible for all of

the clean-up costs incurred In addition third parties may sue the owner or operator of site for damages and costs

resulting from environmental contamination emanating from that site

Substantially all of our properties have been the subject of environmental assessments completed by qualified

independent environmental consultant companies While these environmental assessments have not revealed nor are

we aware of any
environmental liability that our management believes would have material adverse effect on our

business results of operations financial condition or liquidity there can be no assurance that we will not incur such

liabilities in the future

Over the past several years there have been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and managers

of multifamily properties alleging personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential

real estate As some of these lawsuits have resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements insurance

carriers have reacted by excluding mold-related claims from standard policies and pricing mold endorsements at

prohibitively high rates We have adopted programs designed to minimize the existence of mold in any of our

properties as well as guidelines for promptly addressing and resolving reports of mold to minimize any impact mold

might have on our residents or the property

We cannot be assured that existing environmental assessments of our properties reveal all environmental

liabilities that any prior owner of any of our properties did not create material environmental condition not known

to us or that material environmental condition does not otherwise exist as to any of our properties

Insurance Policy Deductibles and Exclusions

In order to manage insurance costs management has gradually increased deductible and self-insured

retention amounts As of December 31 2008 the Companys property insurance policy provides for per occurrence

deductible of $250000 and self-insured retention of $5.0 million per occurrence subject to maximum annual

aggregate self-insured retention of $7.5 million with approximately 80% of
any excess losses being covered by

insurance Any earthquake and named windstorm losses are subject to deductible of 5% of the values of the

buildings involved in the losses and are not subject to the aggregate self-insured retention The Companys general

liability and workers compensation policies at December 31 2008 provide for $2.0 million and $1.0 million per

occurrence deductible respectively These higher deductible and self-insured retention amounts do expose the

Company to greater potential uninsured losses but management believes the savings in insurance premium expense

justifly this potential increased exposure over the long-term

As result of the terrorist attacks of September 11 2001 property insurance carriers created exclusions for

losses from terrorism from our all risk property insurance policies As of December 31 2008 the Company was

insured for $500.0 million in terrorism insurance coverage with $100000 deductible This coverage excludes

losses from nuclear biological and chemical attacks In the event of terrorist attack impacting one or more of our

properties we could lose the revenues from the property our capital investment in the property and possibly face

liability claims from residents or others suffering injuries or losses The Company believes however that the number

of properties in and geographic diversity of its portfolio and its terrorism insurance coverage help to mitigate its

exposure to the risks associated with potential terrorist attacks
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Debt Financing Preferred Shares and Preference Interests and Units Could Adversely Affect Our Performance

General

Please refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations for the Companys total debt and unsecured debt summaries as of December 31 2008

In addition to debt we have $209.0 million of combined liquidation value of outstanding preferred shares of

beneficial interest and preference units with weighted average dividend preference of 6.94% per annum as of

December 31 2008 Our use of debt and preferred equity financing creates certain risks including the following

Disruptions in the Financial Markets Could Adversely Affect Our Ability to Obtain Debt Financing and

Impact our Acquisitions and Dispositions

The United States capital and credit markets continue to experience significant dislocations and liquidity

disruptions These circumstances have materially impacted liquidity in the debt markets making financing terms for

us less attractive and resulted in the unavailability of certain types of debt financing If the capital and credit markets

continue to experience volatility and the availability of funds remains limited on unattractive terms or non-existent

we will incur increased costs associated with issuing debt instruments In addition it is possible that our ability to

access the capital and credit markets may be limited or precluded by these or other factors at time when we would

like or need to do so which would adversely impact our ability to refinance maturing debt andlor react to changing

economic and business conditions Due to disruptions in the floating rate tax-exempt bond market where the interest

rates reset weekly and in the credit markets perception of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac which guaranty and provide

liquidity for these bonds we have experienced and could experience in the future an increase in interest rates on these

debt obligations These bonds could also be put to our consolidated subsidiaries if Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac fail to

satisfy their guaranty obligations While this obligation is in almost all cases non-recourse to us this could cause the

Company to have to repay these obligations on short notice or risk foreclosure actions on the collateralized assets

Furthermore while we believe Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will continue to provide liquidity to our sector should

they discontinue doing so have their mandates changed or reduced or be disbanded by the government it would

significantly reduce our access to debt capital and/or increase borrowing costs and would significantly reduce our

sales of assets Uncertainty in the credit markets could negatively impact our ability to make acquisitions and make it

more difficult or not possible for us to sell properties or may adversely affect the price we receive for properties that

we do sell as prospective buyers may experience increased costs of debt financing or difficulties in obtaining debt

financing Potential continued disruptions in the financial markets could also have other unknown adverse effects on

us or the economy generally and may cause the price of our Common Shares to fluctuate significantly and/or to

decline

Non-Performance by Our Counterparties Could Adversely Affect Our Performance

Although we have not experienced any material counterparty non-performance the disruption in financial

and credit markets could among other things impede the ability of our counterparties to perform on their contractual

obligations There are multiple financial institutions that are individually committed to lend us varying amounts as

part of our revolving credit facility Should any of these institutions fail to fund their committed amounts when

contractually required our financial condition could be adversely affected Should several of these institutions fail to

fund we could experience significant financial distress

One of the financial institutions with commitment of $75.0 million has recently declared bankruptcy and it

is unlikely that they would honor their financial commitment Our borrowing capacity under the credit facility has in

essence been permanently reduced to $1 .425 billion The Company also has several assets under development with

joint venture partners which were financed by financial institutions that are suffering varying degrees of distress If

one or more of these lenders fail to fund when contractually required the Company or its joint venture partner may be

unable to complete construction of its development properties In addition the parent of one of the Companys

insurance providers has also experienced liquidity issues and while there has yet to be any non-performance should

any occur it could negatively impact the Company Should any of our other major insurance providers experience

similar financial or other distress it could negatively impact the Company Finally we are also party to various

derivative contracts with number of counterparties Any failure of any
of our counterparties to perform under these

contracts could negatively impact us
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SignfIcant Downgrade in Our Credit Ratings Could Adversely Affect Our Performance

significant downgrade in our credit ratings while not affecting our ability to draw proceeds under the

revolving credit facility would cause our borrowing costs to increase under the facility and also would impact our

ability to borrow secured and unsecured debt by increasing borrowing costs or otherwise limit our access to capital

In addition downgrade below investment grade would require us to post cash collateral and/or letters of credit in

favor of some of our secured lenders to cover our self-insured property and liability insurance deductibles

Scheduled Debt Payments Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition

In the future our cash flow could be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest or to pay

distributions on our securities at expected levels

We may not be able to refinance existing debt including joint venture indebtedness which in virtually all

cases requires substantial principal payments at maturity and if we can the terms of such refinancing might not be as

favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness If principal payments due at maturity cannot be refinanced extended

or paid with proceeds of other capital transactions such as new equity capital our cash flow will not be sufficient in

all years to repay all maturing debt As result certain of our other debt may cross default we may be forced to

postpone capital expenditures necessary for the maintenance of our properties we may have to dispose of one or more

properties on terms that would otherwise be unacceptable to us or we may be forced to allow the mortgage holder to

foreclose on property

Please refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations for the Companys debt maturity schedule as of December 31 2008

Financial Covenants Could Adversely Affect the Companys Financial Condition

If property we own is mortgaged to secure debt and we are unable to meet the mortgage payments the

holder of the mortgage could foreclose on the property resulting in loss of income and asset value Foreclosure on

mortgaged properties or an inability to refinance existing indebtedness would likely have negative impact on our

financial condition and results of operations

The mortgages on our properties may contain customary negative covenants that among other things limit

our ability without the prior consent of the lender to further mortgage the property and to reduce or change insurance

coverage In addition our unsecured credit facilities contain certain restrictions requirements and other limitations on

our ability to incur debt The indentures under which substantial portion of our unsecured debt was issued also

contain certain financial and operating covenants including among other things maintenance of certain financial

ratios as well as limitations on our ability to incur secured and unsecured debt including acquisition financing and

to sell all or substantially all of our assets Our credit facilities and indentures are cross-defaulted and also contain

cross default provisions with other material debt The Company believes it was in compliance with its unsecured

public debt covenants for both the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Some of the properties were financed with tax-exempt bonds that contain certain restrictive covenants or

deed restrictions We have retained an independent outside consultant to monitor compliance with the restrictive

covenants and deed restrictions that affect these properties If these bond compliance requirements restrict our ability

to increase our rental rates to attract low or moderate-income residents or eligible/qualified residents then our income

from these properties may be limited Generally we believe that the interest rate benefit attendant to properties with

tax-exempt bonds more than outweighs any loss of income due to restrictive covenants or deed restrictions

Our Degree of Leverage Could Limit Our Ability to Obtain Additional Financing

Our consolidated debt-to-total market capitalization ratio was 54.3% as of December 31 2008 Our degree

of leverage could have important consequences to security holders For example the degree of leverage could affect

our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions

development or other general corporate purposes making us more vulnerable to downturn in business or the

economy in general

Rising Interest Rates Could Adversely Affect Cash Flow

Advances under our credit facilities bear interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR at various interest

periods plus spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating or based upon bids received from the
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lending group Certain public issuances of our senior unsecured debt instruments may also from time to time bear

interest at floating rates We may also borrow additional money with variable interest rates in the future Increases in

interest rates would increase our interest expense under these debt instruments and would increase the costs of

refinancing existing debt and of issuing new debt Accordingly higher interest rates could adversely affect cash flow

and our ability to service our debt and to make distributions to security holders We use interest rate hedging

arrangements to manage our exposure to interest rate volatility but these arrangements may expose us to additional

risks and no strategy can completely insulate us from risks associated with interest rate fluctuations There can be no

assurance that our hedging arrangements will have the desired beneficial impact and may involve costs such as

transaction fees or breakage costs if we terminate them

We Depend on Our Key Personnel

We depend on the efforts of the Chairman of our Board of Trustees Samuel Zell and our executive officers

particularly David Neithercut our President and Chief Executive Officer If they resign or otherwise cease to be

employed by us our operations could be temporarily adversely affected Mr Zell has entered into retirement benefit

and noncompetition agreements with the Company

In the event the Chairman of the Board and/or the CEO are unable to serve the Lead Trustee will

automatically be appointed to serve as the interim successor to the Chairman ii the Chairman will automatically be

appointed to serve as the interim successor to the CEO and iii the Chair of the Compensation Committee of the

Board will immediately call meeting of the Committee to recommend to the full Board the selection of permanent

replacement for either or both positions as necessary

Control and Influence by Sign Wcant Shareholders Could Be Exercised in Manner Adverse to Other Shareholders

The consent of certain affiliates of Mr Zell is required for certain amendments to the Fifth Amended and

Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership the Partnership Agreement As result

of their security ownership and rights concerning amendments to the Partnership Agreement the security holders

referred to herein may have influence over the Company Although these security holders have not agreed to act

together on any matter they would be in position to exercise even more influence over the Companys affairs if they

were to act together in the future This influence could conceivably be exercised in manner that is inconsistent with

the interests of other security holders For additional information regarding the security ownership of our trustees

including Mr Zell and our executive officers see the Companys definitive proxy statement

Shareholders Ability to Effect Changes in Control of the Company is Limited

Provisions of Our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws Could Inhi bit Changes in Control

Certain provisions of our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws may delay or prevent change in control of the

Company or other transactions that could provide the security holders with premium over the then-prevailing market

price of their securities or which might otherwise be in the best interest of our security holders This includes the 5%

Ownership Limit described below While our existing preferred shares do not have these provisions any future series

of preferred shares may have certain voting provisions that could delay or prevent change in control or other

transactions that might otherwise be in the interest of our security holders In 2008 we adopted amendments to our

Bylaws to expand the information required to be provided by any security holder or persons acting in concert with

such security holder who proposes business or nominee at an annual meeting of shareholders including disclosure

of information related to hedging activities and investment strategies with respect to our securities These

amendments could delay or prevent change in control or other transactions that might otherwise be in the interest of

our security holders

We Have Share Ownership Limit for REIT Tax Purposes

To remain qualified as REIT for federal income tax purposes not more than 50% in value of our

outstanding Shares may be owned directly or indirectly by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half

of any year To facilitate maintenance of our REIT qualification our Declaration of Trust subject to certain

exceptions prohibits ownership by any single shareholder of more than 5% of the lesser of the number or value of the

outstanding class of common or preferred shares We refer to this restriction as the Ownership Limit Absent any

exemption or waiver granted by our Board of Trustees securities acquired or held in violation of the Ownership Limit

will be transferred to trust for the exclusive benefit of designated charitable beneficiary and the security holders

rights to distributions and to vote would terminate transfer of Shares may be void if it causes person to violate

the Ownership Limit The Ownership Limit could delay or prevent change in control and therefore could adversely
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affect our security holders ability to realize premium over the then-prevailing market price for their Shares To

reduce the ability of the Board to use the Ownership Limit as an anti-takeover device in 2004 the Company amended

the Ownership Limit to require rather than permit the Board to grant waiver of the Ownership Limit if the

individual seeking waiver demonstrates that such ownership would not jeopardize the Companys status as REIT

Our Preferred Shares May Affect Changes in Control

Our Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board of Trustees to issue up to 100 million preferred shares and to

establish the preferences and rights including the right to vote and the right to convert into common shares of any

preferred shares issued The Board of Trustees may use its powers to issue preferred shares and to set the terms of

such securities to delay or prevent change in control of the Company even if change in control were in the interest

of security holders

Inapplicability of Mwyland Law Limiting Certain Changes in Control

Certain provisions of Maryland law applicable to real estate investment trusts prohibit business

combinations including certain issuances of equity securities with any person who beneficially owns ten percent or

more of the voting power of outstanding securities or with an affiliate who at any time within the two-year period

prior to the date in question was the beneficial owner of ten percent or more of the voting power of the Companys

outstanding voting securities an Interested Shareholder or with an affiliate of an Interested Shareholder These

prohibitions last for five years after the most recent date on which the Interested Shareholder became an Interested

Shareholder After the five-year period business combination with an Interested Shareholder must be approved by

two super-majority shareholder votes unless among other conditions holders of common shares receive minimum

price for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the Interested

Shareholder for its common shares As permitted by Maryland law however the Board of Trustees of the Company

has opted out of these restrictions with respect to any business combination involving Mr Zell and certain of his

affiliates and persons acting in concert with them Consequently the five-year prohibition and the super-majority vote

requirements will not apply to business combination involving us and/or any of them Such business combinations

may not be in the best interest of our security holders

Our Success as REITIs Dependent on Compliance with Federal Income Tax Requirements

Our Failure to Qual5 as REIT Would Have Serious Adverse Consequences to Our Security Holders

We believe that we have qualified for taxation as REIT for federal income tax purposes since our taxable

year ended December 31 1992 based in part upon opinions of tax counsel received whenever we have issued equity

securities or engaged in significant merger
transactions We plan to continue to meet the requirements for taxation as

REIT Many of these requirements however are highly technical and complex We cannot therefore guarantee

that we have qualified or will qualify in the future as REIT The determination that we are REIT requires an

analysis of various factual matters that may not be totally within our control For example to qualify as REIT our

gross income must generally come from rental and other real estate or passive related sources that are itemized in the

REIT tax laws We are also required to distribute to security holders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income

excluding capital gains The fact that we hold our assets through ERP Operating Limited Partnership and its

subsidiaries further complicates the application of the REIT requirements Even technical or inadvertent mistake

could jeopardize our REIT status Furthermore Congress and the IRS might make changes to the tax laws and

regulations and the courts might issue new rulings that make it more difficult or impossible for us to remain

qualified as REIT We do not believe however that any pending or proposed tax law changes would jeopardize our

REIT status In addition Congress and the IRS have recently liberalized the REIT qualification rules to permit

REITs in certain circumstances to pay monetary penalty for inadvertent mistakes rather than lose REIT status

If we fail to qualify as REIT we would be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates Alsc

unless the IRS granted us relief under certain statutory provisions we would remain disqualified as REIT for four

years following the year we first failed to qualify If we fail to qualify as REIT we would have to pay significant

income taxes We therefore would have less money available for investments or for distributions to security holders

This would likely have significant adverse effect on the value of our securities In addition we would no longer be

required to make any distributions to security holders Even if we qualify as REIT we are and will continue to be

subject to certain federal state and local taxes on our income and property In addition our corporate housing

business and condominium conversion business which are conducted through taxable REIT subsidiaries generally

will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates to the extent they have taxable income
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We Could Be Disqualified as REIT or Have to Pay Taxes Our Merger Partners Did Not Qualify as REITs

If any of our prior merger partners had failed to qualify as REIT throughout the duration of their existence

then they might have had undistributed corporation earnings and profits at the time of their merger with us If that

was the case and we did not distribute those earnings and profits prior to the end of the year in which the merger took

place we might not qualify as REIT We believe based in part upon opinions of legal counsel received pursuant to

the terms of our merger agreements as well as our own investigations among other things that each of our prior

merger partners qualified as REIT and that in
any event none of them had any undistributed corporation

earnings and profits at the time of their merger with us If any of our prior merger partners failed to qualify as

REIT an additional concern would be that they would have recognized taxable gain at the time they merged with us

We would be liable for the tax on such gain In this event we could have to pay corporate income tax on any gain

existing at the time of the applicable merger on assets acquired in the merger if the assets are sold within ten years of

the merger Finally we could be precluded from electing REIT status for up to four years after the year in which the

predecessor entity failed to qualify for REIT status

Compliance with REIT Distribution Requirements May Affect Our Financial Condition

Distribution Requirements May Increase the Indebtedness of the Company

We may be required from time to time under certain circumstances to accrue as income for tax purposes

interest and rent earned but not yet received In such event or upon our repayment of principal on debt we could

have taxable income without sufficient cash to enable us to meet the distribution requirements of REIT

Accordingly we could be required to borrow funds or liquidate investments on adverse terms in order to meet these

distribution requirements

Tax Elections Regarding Distributions May Impact Future Liquidity of the Company

During 2008 we did make and under certain circumstances may consider making again in the future tax

election to treat future distributions to shareholders as distributions in the current year This election which is

provided for in the REIT tax code may allow us to avoid increasing our dividends or paying additional income taxes

in the current year However this could result in constraint on our ability to decrease our dividends in future years

without creating risk of either violating the REIT distribution requirements or generating additional income tax

liability

Federal Income Tax Considerations

General

The following discussion summarizes the federal income tax considerations material to holder of common
shares It is not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations For example it does not give detailed discussion of

any state local or foreign tax considerations The following discussion also does not address all tax matters that may
be relevant to prospective shareholders in light of their particular circumstances Moreover it does not address all tax

matters that may be relevant to shareholders who are subject to special treatment under the tax laws such as insurance

companies tax-exempt entities financial institutions or broker-dealers foreign corporations and persons who are not

citizens or residents of the United States

The specific tax attributes of particular shareholder could have material impact on the tax considerations

associated with the purchase ownership and disposition of common shares Therefore it is essential that each

prospective shareholder consult with his or her own tax advisors with regard to the application of the federal income

tax laws to the shareholders personal tax situation as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any

state local or foreign taxing jurisdiction

The information in this section is based on the current Internal Revenue Code current temporary and

proposed Treasury regulations the legislative history of the Internal Revenue Code current administrative

interpretations and practices of the Internal Revenue Service including its practices and policies as set forth in private

letter rulings which are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service and existing court decisions Future legislation

regulations administrative interpretations and court decisions could change current law or adversely affect existing

interpretations of current law Any change could apply retroactively Thus it is possible that the Internal Revenue

Service could challenge the statements in this discussion which do not bind the Internal Revenue Service or the

courts and that court could agree with the Internal Revenue Service
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Our Taxation

We elected REIT status beginning with the year that ended December 31 1992 In any year in which we

qualify as REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on the portion of our REIT taxable income or

capital gain that we distribute to our shareholders This treatment substantially eliminates the double taxation that

applies to most corporations which pay tax on their income and then distribute dividends to shareholders who are in

turn taxed on the amount they receive We elected taxable REIT subsidiary status for certain of our corporate

subsidiaries primarily those engaged in condominium conversion and sale activities As result we will be subject to

federal income taxes for activities performed by our taxable REIT subsidiaries

We will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates upon our REIT taxable income or capital

gain that we do not distribute to our shareholders In addition we will be subject to 4% excise tax if we do not

satisfy specific REIT distribution requirements We could also be subject to the alternative minimum tax on our

items of tax preference In addition any net income from prohibited transactions i.e dispositions of property

other than property held by taxable REIT subsidiary held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of

business will be subject to 100% tax We could also be subject to 100% penalty tax on certain payments received

from or on certain expenses deducted by taxable REIT subsidiary if any such transaction is not respected by the

Internal Revenue Service If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test described

below but have maintained our qualification as REIT because we satisfied certain other requirements we will still

generally be subject to 100% penalty tax on the taxable income attributable to the gross income that caused the

income test failure If we fail to satisfy any of the REIT asset tests described below by more than de minimis

amount due to reasonable cause and we nonetheless maintain our REIT qualification because of specified cure

provisions we will be required to pay tax equal to the greater of $50000 or the highest marginal corporate tax rate

multiplied by the net income generated by the non-qualifying assets If we fail to satisfy any provision of the Internal

Revenue Code that would result in our failure to qualify as REIT other than violation of the REIT gross income or

asset tests described below and the violation is due to reasonable cause we may retain our REIT qualification but we

will be required to pay penalty of $50000 for each such failure Moreover we may be subject to taxes in certain

situations and on certain transactions that we do not presently contemplate

We believe that we have qualified as REIT for all of our taxable years beginning with 1992 We also

believe that our current structure and method of operation is such that we will continue to qualify as REIT

However given the complexity of the REIT qualification requirements we cannot provide any assurance that the

actual results of our operations have satisfied or will satisfy the requirements under the Internal Revenue Code for

particular year

If we fail to qualify for taxation as REIT in any taxable year and the relief provisions described herein do

not apply we will be subject to tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates We also may be subject to the

corporate alternative minimum tax As result our failure to qualify as REIT would significantly reduce the cash

we have available to distribute to our shareholders Unless entitled to statutory relief we would not be able to re-elect

to be taxed as REIT until our fifth taxable year after the year of disqualification It is not possible to state whether

we would be entitled to statutory relief

Our qualification and taxation as REIT depend on our ability to satisfy various requirements under the

Internal Revenue Code We are required to satisfy these requirements on continuing basis through actual annual

operating and other results Accordingly there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to operate in

manner so as to remain qualified as REIT

Ownership of Taxable REIT Subsidiaries by Us The Internal Revenue Code provides that REITs may own

greater than ten percent of the voting power and value of the securities of taxable REIT subsidiaries or TRSs
which are corporations subject to tax as regular corporation that have elected jointly with REIT to be TRS

Generally taxable REIT subsidiary may own assets that cannot otherwise be owned by REIT and can perform

impermissible tenant services discussed below which would otherwise taint our rental income under the REIT

income tests However the REIT will be obligated to pay 100% penalty tax on some payments that we receive or

on certain expenses deducted by our TRSs if the economic arrangements between us our tenants and the TRS are not

comparable to similar arrangements among unrelated parties TRS may also receive income from prohibited

transactions without incurring the 100% federal income tax liability imposed on REITs Income from prohibited

transactions may include the purchase and sale of land the purchase and sale of completed development properties

and the sale of condominium units
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TRSs pay federal and state income tax at the full applicable corporate rates The amount of taxes paid on
impermissible tenant services income and the sale of real estate held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary
course of business may be material in amount The TRSs will attempt to reduce if possible the amount of these

taxes but we cannot guarantee whether or the extent to which measures taken to reduce these taxes will be
successful To the extent that these companies are required to pay taxes less cash may be available for distributions

to shareholders

Share Ownership Test and Organizational Requirement In order to qualify as REIT our shares of
beneficial interest must be held by minimum of 100 persons for at least 335 days of taxable year that is 12 months
or during proportionate part of taxable year of less than 12 months Also not more than 50% in value of our
shares of beneficial interest may be owned directly or indirectly by applying certain constructive ownership rules by
five or fewer individuals during the last half of each taxable year In addition we must meet certain other

organizational requirements including but not limited to that the beneficial ownership in us is evidenced by
transferable shares and iiwe are managed by one or more trustees We believe that we have satisfied all of these
tests and all other organizational requirements and that we will continue to do so in the future In order to ensure

compliance with the 100 person test and the 50% share ownership test discussed above we have placed certain

restrictions on the transfer of our shares that are intended to prevent further concentration of share ownership
However such restrictions may not prevent us from failing these requirements and thereby failing to qualify as

REIT

Gross Income Tests To qualify as REIT we must satisfy two gross income tests

At least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year must be derived directly or indirectly from rents

from real property investments in real estate and/or real estate mortgages dividends paid by another

REIT and from some types of temporary investments excluding certain hedging income
At least 95% of our gross income for each taxable

year must be derived from
any combination of income

qualifying under the 75% test and dividends non-real estate mortgage interest and gain from the sale or

disposition of stock or securities excluding certain hedging income

To qualify as rents from real property for the
purpose of satisfying the gross income tests rental payments

must generally be received from unrelated
persons and not be based on the net income of the resident Also the rent

attributable to personal property must not exceed 15% of the total rent We may generally provide services to

residents without tainting our rental income only if such services are usually or customarily rendered in

connection with the rental of real property and not otherwise considered impermissible services If such services arc

impermissible then we may generally provide them only if they are considered de minimis in amount or are provided
through an independent contractor from whom we derive no revenue and that meets other requirements or through
taxable REIT subsidiary We believe that services provided to residents by us either are usually or customarily
rendered in connection with the rental of real property and not otherwise considered impermissible or if considered

impermissible services will meet the de minimis test or will be provided by an independent contractor or taxable

REIT subsidiary However we cannot provide any assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will agree with these

positions

If we fail to satisfy one or both of the gross income tests for any taxable
year we may nevertheless qualify as

REIT for the year if we are entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code In this case
penalty tax would still be applicable as discussed above Generally it is not possible to state whether in all

circumstances we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions and in the event these relief provisions do
not apply we will not qualify as REIT

Asset Tests In general at the close of each quarter of our taxable year we must satisfy four tests relating to

the nature of our assets

At least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by real estate assets which include for

this purpose shares in other real estate investment trusts and certain cash related items

Not more than 25% of the value of our total assets may be represented by securities other than those in

the 75% asset class

Except for securities includable in item above equity investments in other REITs qualified REIT
subsidiaries i.e corporations owned 100% by REIT that are not TRSs or REITs or taxable REIT
subsidiaries the value of any one issuers securities owned by us may not exceed 5% of the value of

our total assets and we may not own securities representing more than 10% of the voting power or

value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer and
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Not more than 20% 25% for taxable years beginning after December 31 2008 of the value of our total

assets may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries

The 10% value test described in clause above does not apply to certain securities that fall within safe

harbor under the Code Under the safe harbor the following are not considered securities held by us for purposes of

this 10% value test straight debt securities ii any loan of an individual or an estate iii certain rental agreements

for the use of tangible property iv any obligation to pay rents from real property any security issued by state or

any political subdivision thereof foreign government or Puerto Rico only if the determination of any payment under

such security is not based on the profits of another entity or payments on any obligation issued by such other entity or

vi any security issued by REIT The timing and payment of interest or principal on security qualifying as straight

debt may be subject to contingency provided that such contingency does not change the effective yield to

maturity not considering de minimis change which does not exceed the greater of 1/4 of 1% or 5% of the annual yield

to maturity or we own $1000000 or less of the aggregate issue price or value of the particular issuers debt and not

more than 12 months of unaccrued interest can be required to be prepaid or the contingency is consistent with

commercial practice and the contingency is effective upon default or the exercise of prepayment right by the issuer

of the debt If we hold indebtedness from any issuer including REIT the indebtedness will be subject to and may

cause violation of the asset tests unless it is qualifying real estate asset or otherwise satisfies the above safe

harbor We currently own equity interests in certain entities that have elected to be taxed as REITs for federal income

tax purposes
and are not publicly traded If any such entity were to fail to qualify as REIT we would not meet the

10% voting stock limitation and the 10% value limitation and we would unless certain relief provisions applied fail

to qualify as REIT We believe that we and each of the REITs we own an interest in have and will comply with the

foregoing asset tests for REIT qualification However we cannot provide any assurance that the Internal Revenue

Service will agree with our determinations

If we fail to satisfy the 5% or 10% asset tests described above after 30-day cure period provided in the

Internal Revenue Code we will be deemed to have met such tests if the value of our non-qualifying assets is de

minimis i.e does not exceed the lesser of 1% of the total value of our assets at the end of the applicable quarter or

$10000000 and we dispose of the non-qualifying assets within six months after the last day of the quarter in which

the failure to satisfy the asset tests is discovered For violations due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect that

are in excess of the de minimis exception described above we may avoid disqualification as REIT under any of the

asset tests after the 30-day cure period by disposing of sufficient assets to meet the asset test within such six month

period paying tax equal to the greater of $50000 or the highest corporate tax rate multiplied by the net income

generated by the non-qualifying assets and disclosing certain information to the Internal Revenue Service If we

cannot avail ourselves of these relief provisions or if we fail to timely cure any noncompliance with the asset tests we

would cease to qualify as REIT

Annual Distribution ReQuirements To qualify as REIT we are generally required to distribute dividends

other than capital gain dividends to our shareholders each year
in an amount at least equal to 90% of our REIT

taxable income These distributions must be paid either in the taxable year to which they relate or in the following

taxable year if declared before we timely file our tax return for the prior year and if paid with or before the first

regular dividend payment date after the declaration is made We intend to make timely distributions sufficient to

satisfy our annual distribution requirements To the extent that we do not distribute all of our net capital gain or

distribute at least 90% but less than 100% of our REIT taxable income as adjusted we are subject to tax on these

amounts at regular corporate rates We will be subject to 4% excise tax on the excess of the required distribution

over the sum of amounts actually distributed and amounts retained for which federal income tax was paid if we fail to

distribute during each calendar year
at least the sum of 85% of our REIT ordinary income for the year 95%

of our REIT capital gain net income for the year and any undistributed taxable income from prior taxable years

REIT may elect to retain rather than distribute all or portion of its net capital gains and pay the tax on the gains

In that case REIT may elect to have its shareholders include their proportionate share of the undistributed net capital

gains in income as long-term capital gains and receive credit for their share of the tax paid by the REIT For

purposes of the 4% excise tax described above any retained amounts would be treated as having been distributed

Ownership of Partnership Interests By Us As result of our ownership of the Operating Partnership we

will be considered to own and derive our proportionate
share of the assets and items of income of the Operating

Partnership respectively for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests including its share of assets and items of

income of any subsidiaries that are partnerships or limited liability companies

State and Local Taxes We may be subject to state or local taxation in various jurisdictions including those

in which we transact business or reside Our state and local tax treatment may not conform to the federal income tax
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treatment discussed above Consequently prospective shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding
the effect of state and local tax laws on an investment in common shares

Taxation of Domestic Shareholders Subject to U.S Tax

General If we qualify as REIT distributions made to our taxable domestic shareholders with respect to

their common shares other than capital gain distributions and distributions attributable to taxable REIT subsidiaries
will be treated as ordinary income to the extent that the distributions come out of earnings and profits These

distributions will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for shareholders that are corporations nor will

they constitute qualified dividend income under the Internal Revenue Code meaning that such dividends will be

taxed at marginal rates applicable to ordinary income rather than the special capital gain rates currently applicable to

qualified dividend income distributed to shareholders who satisfy applicable holding period requirements In

determining whether distributions are out of earnings and profits we will allocate our earnings and profits first to

preferred shares and second to the common shares The portion of ordinary dividends which
represent ordinary

dividends we receive from TRS will be designated as qualified dividend income to REIT shareholders and are

eligible for preferential tax rates if paid to our non-corporate shareholders

To the extent we make distributions to our taxable domestic shareholders in excess of our earnings and

profits such distributions will be considered return of capital Such distributions will be treated as tax-free

distribution and will reduce the tax basis of shareholders common shares by the amount of the distribution so
treated To the extent such distributions cumulatively exceed taxable domestic shareholders tax basis such

distributions are taxable as gain from the sale of shares Shareholders may not include in their individual income tax

returns any of our net operating losses or capital losses

Dividends declared by REIT in October November or December are deemed to have been paid by the

REIT and received by its shareholders on December 31 of that year so long as the dividends are actually paid during
January of the following year However this treatment only applies to the extent of the REITs earnings and profits

existing on December 31 To the extent the shareholder distribution paid in January exceeds available earnings and

profits as of December 31 the excess will be treated as distribution taxable to shareholders in the year paid As

such for tax reporting purposes January distributions paid to our shareholders may be split between two tax years

Distributions made by us that we properly designate as capital gain dividends will be taxable to taxable

domestic shareholders as gain from the sale or exchange of capital asset held for more than one year This treatment

applies only to the extent that the designated distributions do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable

year It applies regardless of the period for which domestic shareholder has held his or her common shares Despite
this general rule corporate shareholders may be required to treat up to 20% of certain capital gain dividends as

ordinary income

Generally we will classify portion of our designated capital gain dividends as 15% rate gain distribution

and the remaining portion as an unrecaptured Section 1250 gain distribution 15% rate gain distribution would be

taxable to taxable domestic shareholders that are individuals estates or trusts at maximum rate of 15% An
unrecaptured Section 1250 gain distribution would be taxable to taxable domestic shareholders that are individuals
estates or trusts at maximumrate of 25%

If for
any taxable year we elect to designate as capital gain dividends

any portion of the dividends paid or
made available for the year to holders of all classes of shares of beneficial interest then the portion of the capital gains
dividends that will be allocable to the holders of common shares will be the total capital gain dividends multiplied by

fraction The numerator of the fraction will be the total dividends paid or made available to the holders of the

common shares for the year The denominator of the fraction will be the total dividends paid or made available to

holders of all classes of shares of beneficial interest

We may elect to retain rather than distribute as is generally required net capital gain for taxable year and

pay the income tax on that gain If we make this election shareholders must include in income as long-term capital

gain their proportionate share of the undistributed net capital gain Shareholders will be treated as having paid their

proportionate share of the tax paid by us on these gains Accordingly they will receive tax credit or refund for the

amount Shareholders will increase the basis in their common shares by the difference between the amount of capital

gain included in their income and the amount of the tax they are treated as having paid Our earnings and profits will

be adjusted appropriately

In general shareholder will recognize gain or loss for federal income tax purposes on the sale or other

disposition of common shares in an amount equal to the difference between
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the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received in the sale or other disposition

and

the shareholders adjusted tax basis in the common shares

The gain or loss will be capital gain or loss if the common shares were held as capital asset Generally the

capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the common shares were held for more than one year

In general loss recognized by shareholder upon the sale of common shares that were held for six months

or less determined after applying certain holding period rules will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent

that the shareholder received distributions that were treated as long-term capital gains For shareholders who are

individuals trusts and estates the long-term capital loss will be apportioned among the applicable long-term capital

gain rates to the extent that distributions received by the shareholder were previously so treated

Taxation of Domestic Tax-Exempt Shareholders

Most tax-exempt organizations are not subject to federal income tax except to the extent of their unrelated

business taxable income which is often referred to as UBTI Unless tax-exempt shareholder holds its common

shares as debt financed property or uses the common shares in an unrelated trade or business distributions to the

shareholder should not constitute UBTI Similarly if tax-exempt shareholder sells common shares the income from

the sale should not constitute UBTI unless the shareholder held the shares as debt financed property or used the shares

in trade or business

However for tax-exempt shareholders that are social clubs voluntary employee benefit associations

supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans income from owning or selling

common shares will constitute UBTI unless the organization is able to properly deduct amounts set aside or placed in

reserve so as to offset the income generated by its investment in common shares These shareholders should consult

their own tax advisors concerning these set aside and reserve requirements which are set forth in the Internal Revenue

Code

In addition certain pension trusts that own more than 10% of pension-held REIT must report portion of

the distributions that they receive from the REIT as UBTI We have not been and do not expect to be treated as

pension-held REIT for purposes of this rule

Taxation of Foreign Shareholders

The following is discussion of certain anticipated United States federal income tax consequences of the

ownership and disposition of common shares applicable to foreign shareholder For purposes
of this discussion

foreign shareholder is any person
other than

citizen or resident of the United States

corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United

States or of any state thereof or

an estate or trust whose income is includable in gross
income for United States federal income tax

purposes regardless of its source

Distributions by Us Distributions by us to foreign shareholder that are neither attributable to gain from

sales or exchanges by us of United States real property interests nor designated by us as capital gains dividends will be

treated as dividends of ordinary income to the extent that they are made out of our earnings and profits These

distributions ordinarily will be subject to withholding of United States federal income tax on gross
basis at 30%

rate or lower treaty rate unless the dividends are treated as effectively connected with the conduct by the foreign

shareholder of United States trade or business Please note that under certain treaties lower withholding rates

generally applicable to dividends do not apply to dividends from REITs Dividends that are effectively connected

with United States trade or business will be subject to tax on net basis at graduated rates and are generally not

subject to withholding Certification and disclosure requirements must be satisfied before dividend is exempt from

withholding under this exemption foreign shareholder that is corporation also may be subject to an additional

branch profits tax at 30% rate or lower treaty rate
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We expect to withhold United States income tax at the rate of 30% on any distributions made to foreign
shareholder unless

lower treaty rate applies and any required form or certification evidencing eligibility for that reduced

rate is filed with us or

the foreign shareholder files an IRS Form W-8ECI with us claiming that the distribution is effectively

connected income

distribution in excess of our current or accumulated earnings and profits will not be taxable to foreign
shareholder to the extent that the distribution does not exceed the adjusted basis of the shareholders common shares

Instead the distribution will reduce the adjusted basis of the common shares To the extent that the distribution

exceeds the adjusted basis of the con-u-non shares it will give rise to gain from the sale or exchange of the

shareholders common shares The tax treatment of this gain is described below

We intend to withhold at rate of 30% or lower applicable treaty rate on the entire amount of
any

distribution not designated as capital gain distribution In such event foreign shareholder may seek refund of the

withheld amount from the IRS if it is subsequently determined that the distribution was in fact in excess of our

earnings and profits and the amount withheld exceeded the foreign shareholders United States tax liability with

respect to the distribution

Any capital gain dividend with respect to any class of our stock which is regularly traded on an established

securities market will be treated as an ordinary dividend described above if the foreign shareholder did not own more
than 5% of such class of stock at any time during the one year period ending on the date of the distribution Foreign
shareholders generally will not be required to report distributions received from us on U.S federal income tax returns

and all distributions treated as dividends for U.S federal income tax purposes including any capital gain dividends
will be subject to 30% U.S withholding tax unless reduced or eliminated under an applicable income tax treaty as

described above In addition the branch profits tax will no longer apply to such distributions

Distributions to foreign shareholder that we designate at the time of the distributions as capital gain

dividends other than those arising from the disposition of United States real property interest generally will not be

subject to United States federal income taxation unless

the investment in the common shares is effectively connected with the foreign shareholders United

States trade or business in which case the foreign shareholder will be subject to the same treatment as

domestic shareholders except that shareholder that is foreign corporation may also be subject to the

branch profits tax as discussed above or

the foreign shareholder is nonresident alien individual who is present in the United States for 183 days
or more during the taxable year and has tax home in the United States in which case the nonresident

alien individual will be subject to 30% tax on the individuals capital gains

Except as described above under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act which is known as

FIRPTA distributions to foreign shareholder that are attributable to gain from sales or exchanges of United States

real property interests will cause the foreign shareholder to be treated as recognizing the gain as income effectively

connected with United States trade or business This rule applies whether or not distribution is designated as

capital gain dividend Accordingly foreign shareholders generally would be taxed on these distributions at the same
rates applicable to U.S shareholders subject to special alternative minimum tax in the case of nonresident alien

individuals In addition foreign corporate shareholder might be subject to the branch profits tax discussed above as

well as U.S federal income tax return filing requirements We are required to withhold 35% of these distributions

The withheld amount can be credited against the foreign shareholders United States federal income tax liability

Although the law is not entirely clear on the matter it appears that amounts we designate as undistributed

capital gains in respect of the common shares held by U.S shareholders would be treated with respect to foreign
shareholders in the same manner as actual distributions of capital gain dividends Under that approach foreign
shareholders would be able to offset as credit against the United States federal income tax liability their

proportionate share of the tax paid by us on these undistributed capital gains In addition foreign shareholders would
be able to receive from the IRS refund to the extent their proportionate share of the tax paid by us were to exceed

their actual United States federal income tax liability
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Foreign Shareholders Sales of Common Shares Gain recognized by foreign shareholder upon the sale or

exchange of common shares generally will not be subject to United States taxation unless the shares constitute

United States real property interest within the meaning of FIRPTA The common shares will not constitute United

States real property interest so long as we are domestically controlled REIT domestically controlled REIT is

REIT in which at all times during specified testing period less than 50% in value of its stock is held directly or

indirectly by foreign shareholders We believe that we are domestically controlled REIT Therefore we believe that

the sale of common shares will not be subject to taxation under FIRPTA However because common shares and

preferred shares are publicly traded we cannot guarantee that we will continue to be domestically controlled REIT

In any event gain from the sale or exchange of common shares not otherwise subject to FIRPTA will be subject to

U.S tax if either

the investment in the common shares is effectively connected with the foreign shareholders United

States trade or business in which case the foreign shareholder will be subject to the same treatment as

domestic shareholders with respect to the gain or

the foreign shareholder is nonresident alien individual who is present in the United States for 183 days

or more during the taxable year and has tax home in the United States in which case the nonresident

alien individual will be subject to 30% tax on the individuals capital gains

Even if we do not qualif as or cease to be domestically controlled REIT gain arising from the sale or

exchange by foreign shareholder of common shares still would not be subject to United States taxation under

FIRPTA as sale of United States real property interest if

the class or series of shares being sold is regularly traded as defined by applicable IRS regulations on

an established securities market such as the New York Stock Exchange and

the selling foreign shareholder owned 5% or less of the value of the outstanding class or series of shares

being sold throughout the five-year period ending on the date of the sale or exchange

If gain on the sale or exchange of common shares were subject to taxation under FIRPTA the foreign

shareholder would be subject to regular United States income tax with respect to the gain in the same manner as

taxable U.S shareholder subject to any applicable alternative minimum tax special alternative minimum tax in the

case of nonresident alien individuals and the possible application of the branch profits tax in the case of foreign

corporations The purchaser of the common shares would be required to withhold and remit to the IRS 10% of the

purchase price

Information Reporting Requirement and Backup Withholding

We will report to our domestic shareholders and the Internal Revenue Service the amount of distributions

paid during each calendar year
and the amount of tax withheld if any Under certain circumstances domestic

shareholders may be subject to backup withholding Backup withholding will apply only if such domestic shareholder

fails to furnish certain information to us or the Internal Revenue Service Backup withholding will not apply with

respect to payments made to certain exempt recipients such as corporations and tax-exempt organizations Domestic

shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their qualification for exemption from backup

withholding and the procedure for obtaining such an exemption Backup withholding is not an additional tax Rather

the amount of any backup withholding with respect to payment to domestic shareholder will be allowed as credit

against such persons United States federal income tax liability and may entitle such person to refund provided that

the required information is timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

As of December 31 2008 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities

owned all or portion of 548 properties in 23 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 147244 units The

Companys properties are summarized by building type in the following table
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Average

Type Properties Units Units

Garden 471 124850 265

Mid/High-Rise 75 17685 236

Military Housing 4709 2355

Total 548 147244

The Companys properties are summarized by ownership type in the following table

Properties Units

Wholly Owned Properties 477 127002

Partially Owned Properties

Consolidated 28 5757

Unconsolidated 41 9776

Military Housing Fee Managed 4709

548 147244

The following table sets forth certain information by market relating to the Companys properties at

December 31 2008
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PORTFOLIO SUMMARY

of 2009 Average

of Stabilized Rental

Markets Properties Units Total Units NOl Rate

New York Metro Area 22 6246 4.2% 10.0% 2748

DC Northern Virginia
26 8781 6.0% 8.8% 1637

South Florida 39 12897 8.8% 8.4% 1270

Los Angeles 38 7749 5.3% 7.8% 1777

Seattle/Tacoma 49 11138 7.6% 7.5% 1330

San Francisco Bay Area 34 6731 4.6% 6.5% 1709

Boston 37 6217 4.2% 6.4% 1962

Phoenix 42 12084 8.2% 5.3% 902

Denver 25 8606 5.8% 5.0% 1019

10 San Diego 14 4491 3.1% 4.4% 1655

11 Orlando 26 8042 5.5% 4.3% 1021

12 Atlanta 29 8882 6.0% 3.9% 944

13 Inland Empire CA 15 4655 3.2% 3.7% 1362

14 Suburban Maryland 21 5559 3.8% 3.4% 1180

15 Orange County CA 10 3307 2.2% 3.3% 1597

16 New England excluding Boston 32 4769 3.2% 2.5% 1106

17 Portland OR 11 3713 2.5% 1.9% 959

18 Jacksonville 12 3951 2.7% 1.7% 868

19 Dallas/Ft Worth 14 3427 2.3% 1.4% 936

20 Tampa 11 3414 2.3% 1.3% 909

Top 20 Total 507 134659 91.5% 97.5% 1344

21 Raleigh/Durham
12 3058 2.1% 1.3% 818

22 Central Valley CA 1343 0.9% 0.6% 1090

23 Other EQR 15 3318 2.2% 0.6% 907

Total 542 142378 96.7% 100.0% 1320

Condominium Conversion 157 0.1%

Military Housing 4709 3.2%

Grand Total 548 147244 100.0% 100.0% 1320

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied units for the month of December 2008

The Companys properties had an average occupancy of approximately 93.2% at December 31 2008

Resident leases are generally for twelve months in length and often require security deposits The garden-style

properties are generally defined as properties with two and/or three story buildings while the mid-rise/high-rise are

defined as properties with greater than three story buildings These two property types typically provide residents

with amenities which may include clubhouse swimming pool laundry facilities and cable television access

Certain of these properties offer additional amenities such as saunas whirlpools spas sports courts and exercise

rooms or other amenities The military housing properties are defined as those properties located on military bases

The distribution of the properties throughout the United States reflects the Companys belief that geographic

diversification helps insulate the portfolio from regional and economic influences At the same time the Company has

sought to create clusters of properties within each of its primary markets in order to achieve economies of scale in

management and operation The Company may nevertheless acquire additional multifamily properties located anywhere in

the United States

The properties currently in various stages of development at December 31 2008 are included in the

following table
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Consolidated Development Projects as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands except for project and unit amounts

Total Book

Value Not

Placed in Total Percentage

Service Debt Completed

Estimated Estimated

Percentage Percentage Completion Stabilization

Leased Occupied Date Date

Completed Not Stabilized Wholly Owned

Orlando FL 165 27955 27825

Boston MA 310 164981

Westwood MA 102 19888

352 57376

321 54418 ___________

1250 324618

Completed Not Stabilized Partially Owned

1660 439912 433991 76708

5228 1915499 $1668529 $1110346 632676

Total capital cost represents estimated development cost for projects under development and all capitalized costs incurred to date

plus any estimates of costs remaining to be funded for all projects all in accordance with GAAP
Debt is primarily tax-exempt bonds that are entirely outstanding with $94.1 million held in escrow by the lender and released as

draw requests are made This escrowed amount is classified as Deposits restricted in the consolidated balance sheets at

December 312008
Of the approximately $495.9 million of capital cost remaining to be funded at December 31 2008 for projects under development

$341.4 million will be funded by fully committed third party bank loans and the remaining $154.5 million will be funded by cash on

hand

Properties included here are substantially complete However they may still require additional exterior and interior work for all

units to be available for leasing

Total book value to date of land held for development declined significantly since December 31 2007 primarily as result of the

$116.4 million impairment charge that the Company announced on January 2009

Proiec.tc Location

Wholly Owned

Total Total

No of Capital Book Value

Units Cost to Date

Mosaic at Metro Hyattsvitte
MD

70 Greene a.k.a 77 Hudson Jersey City NJ

Reserve at Town Center II Mill Creek WA

Redmond Way Redmond WA

Projects Under Development Wholly Owned

Third Square a.k.a
303 Third St

Veridian a.k.a Silver Spring

Montclair Metro

Cambridge MA

Silver Spring MD

Montclair NJ

260 61483

480 269958

100 24464

250 84382

1090 440287

482 254523

457 148705

163 48730

404 128816

492 283968

480 170558

2478 1035300

53329

196126

9324

22434

281213

250629

139904

29326

96600

108727

73266

698452

53329 38425

196126

9324

22434

281213 38425

126437 158515

t39904 98674

29326 14540

96600 39028

108727

73266 163160

574260 473917

94%

79%

27%

7%

98%

95%

64%

71%

32%

24%

Red Road Commons South Miami FL

111 Lawrence Street Brooklyn NY

Westgate Pasadena CA

Projects Under Development Partially Owned

Projects Under Development

Land Held for Development

Land/Projects Held for and/or Under Development

21% 14% QI 2009

Q4 2009

Qt2010

Ql2Ott

36% 29% Qt 2009

22% 5% Ql 2009

Q32009

Qt2OtO

Q220t0

Q2201l

QI 2010

QI 2011

Q3 2010

Ql 2012

Q2 2010

Q3 2010

Qt 2010

Q3 2011

Q3 2011

Q2 2012

3568 1475587 979665 855473 512342

N/A 254873 254873 43626

3568 1475587 1234538 1110346 555968

Key Isle at Windermere II

West End Apartments

a.k.a Emerson/CRP II

Highland Glen It

Crowntree Lakes Orlando FL

Reunion at Redmond
Ridge Redmond WA

Projects Completed Not Stabilized Wholly Owned

163145

19868

56680

52909

320427

93% 89% Completed Ql 2009

Alta Pacific Irvine CA

1401 State a.k.a City Lofts Chicago IL

Projects Completed Not Stabilized Partially Owned

Projects Completed Not Stabilized

Total Projects

132 45342

278 69952

410 115294

92% 86% Completed

86% 86% Completed

81% 69% Compleled

31% 28% Completed

45317

68247

113564

Q2 2009

Q2 2009

Q4 2009

Q3 2010

28260

48448

76708

95% 89% Completed QI 2009

63% 53% Completed Q3 2009
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Item Legal Proceedings

The Company is party to housing discrimination lawsuit brought by non-profit civil rights organization in

April 2006 in the U.S District Court for the District of Maryland The suit alleges that the Company designed and

built approximately 300 of its properties in violation of the accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act and

Americans With Disabilities Act The suit seeks actual and punitive damages injunctive relief including

modification of non-compliant properties costs and attorneys fees The Company believes it has number of viable

defenses including that majority of the named properties were completed before the operative dates of the statutes in

question and/or were not designed or built by the Company Accordingly the Company is defending the suit

vigorously Due to the pendency of the Companys defenses and the uncertainty of many other critical factual and

legal issues it is not possible to determine or predict the outcome of the suit and as result no amounts have been

accrued at December 31 2008 While no assurances can be given the Company does not believe that the suit if

adversely determined would have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company does not believe there is any other litigation pending or threatened against it that individually

or in the aggregate reasonably may be expected to have material adverse effect on the Company

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Common Share Market Prices andDividends

The following table sets forth for the years indicated the high low and closing sales prices for and the

distributions declared on the Companys Common Shares which trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the

trading symbol EQR

Sales Price

2008

Fourth Quarter Ended December 31 2008

Third Quarter Ended September 30 2008

Second Quarter Ended June 30 2008

First Quarter Ended March 31 2008

High

43.76

49.00

44.89

43.78

Low

21.27

36.84

37.76

31.07

Closing

29.82

44.41

38.27

41.49

Distributions

0.4825

0.4825

0.4825

0.4825

The number of record holders of Common Shares at January 31 2009 was approximately 3700 The

number of outstanding Common Shares as of January 31 2009 was 272794454

Common Shares Repurchased in the Quarter Ended December 31 2008

The Company repurehased the following Common Shares during the quarter ended December 31 2008

October 2008

November 2008

December 2008

Fourth Quarter 2008

Total Number

of Common

Shares

Purchased

Average Price

Paid Per

Share

Total Number of

Common Shares

Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced

Plans or Programs

48924

48924

Dollar Value of

Common Shares

that May Yet Be

Purchased Under

the Plans or

Programs

The Common Shares repurchased during the quarter ended December 31 2008 represent Common Shares repurchased

under the Companys publicly announced share repurchase program approved by its Board of Trustees All 48924 shares

were repurchased from Trustee at price of $32.97 per share the then current market price to cover the minimum

statutoly tax withholding obligation related to the vesting of the Trustees restricted shares On December 2007 the

Board of Trustees approved $500.0 million share repurchase program of which $467.7 million remains available for

repurchase as of December 31 2008

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31 2008 with respect to the Companys Common

Shares that may be issued under its existing equity compensation plans

2007

Fourth Quarter Ended December 31 2007 45.01 33.79 36.47 0.4825

Third Quarter Ended September 30 2007 47.48 35.00 42.36 0.4625

Second Quarter Ended June 30 2007 52.25 44.36 45.63 0.4625

First Quarter Ended March 31 2007 56.46 46.66 48.23 0.4625

Period

48924 32.97

48924 32.97

469273467

467660443

467660443
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Number of securities

remaining available

Number of securities Weighted average for future issuance

to be issued upon exercise price of under equity

exercise of outstanding compensation plans

outstanding options options warrants excluding securities

Plan Category warrants and rights and rights in column

Equity compensation plans

approved by shareholders 9473259 $33.94 12628543

Equity compensation plans not

approved by shareholders N/A N/A N/A

The amounts shown in columns and of the above table do not include 996011 outstanding Common

Shares all of which are restricted and subject to vesting requirements that were granted under the

Companys Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option and Share Award Plan as amended the 1993 Plan

and the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated the 2002 Plan and outstanding Common

Shares that have been purchased by employees and trustees under the Companys ESPP

Includes 8742816 Common Shares that may be issued under the 2002 Plan of which only 25% may be in

the form of restricted shares and 3885727 Common Shares that may be sold to employees and trustees

under the ESPP

The aggregate number of securities available for issuance inclusive of restricted shares previously granted

and outstanding and shares underlying outstanding options under the 2002 Plan equals 7.5% of the Companys

outstanding Common Shares calculated on fully diluted basis determined annually on the first day of each calendar year

On January 2009 this amount equaled 21740453 of which 8742816 shares were available for future issuance

Item Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating information on historical basis for the

Company The following information should be read in conjunction with all of the financial statements and notes

thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K The historical operating and balance sheet data have been derived from

the historical financial statements of the Company All amounts have also been restated in accordance with the

discontinued operations provisions of SFAS No 144 Certain capitalized terms as used herein are defined in the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL FITANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial information in thousands except for per share and property data

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

OPERATING DATA

Total revenues from continuing operations 2103204 1947057 1702541 1413877 1229707

Interestandotherincome 33540 20144 30880 68315 8685

Income from continuing operations net of

minority interests 40909 67829 30293 87707 24498

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 379183 921793 1042551 774086 447831

Net income 420092 989622 1072844 861793 472329

Net income available to Common Shares 405585 960676 1031766 807792 418583

Earnings per share basic

Income loss from continuing operations available

to Common Shares 0.10 0.14 0.04 0.12 0.10

Net income available to Common Shares 1.50 3.44 3.56 2.83 1.50

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 270012 279406 290019 285760 279744

Earnings per share diluted

Income loss from continuing operations available

toCommonShares 0.10 0.14 0.04 0.12 0.10

Net income available to Common Shares 1.49 3.39 3.56 2.79 1.50

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 290060 302235 290019 310785 279744

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding 1.93 1.87 1.79 1.74 1.73

BALANCE SHEET DATA at end of period

Real estate before accumulated depreciation 18690239 18333350 17235175 16590370 14852621

Real
estate

after accumulated depreciation 15128939 15163225 14212695 13702230 12252794

Totalassets 16535110 15689777 15062219 14108751 12656306

Total debt 10501246 9508733 8057656 7591073 6459806

Minoritylnterests 318501 358046 411459 422183 535582

Shareholders equity 4997294 5062518 5884222 5395340 5072528

OTHER DATA
Total

properties at end of period 548 579 617 926 939

Total apartment units at end of period 147244 152821 165716 197404 200149

Funds from operations available to Common Shares

andOPUnitsbasicl2 631644 723484 716143 784625 651741

Cash flow provided by used for

Operating activities 755027 793128 755466 698531 707061

Investing activities 343803 200645 259472 592201 555279

Financingactivities 428739 801929 324545 101007 117856

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT defines funds from operations FF0 April 2002

White Paper as net income computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of depreciable property plus depreciation and amortization and after

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint

ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis The April 2002 White Paper states that gain or

loss on sales of property is excluded from FF0 for previously depreciated operating properties only Once the Company

commences the conversion of units to condominiums it simultaneously discontinues depreciation of such property FF0
available to Common Shares and OP Units is calculated on basis consistent with net income available to Common Shares

and reflects adjustments to net income for preferred distributions and premiums on redemption of preferred shares in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States The equity positions of various individuals

and entities that contributed their properties to the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively referred

to as the Minority Interests Operating Partnership Subject to certain restrictions the Minority Interests Operating
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Partnership may exchange their OP Units for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis See Item 7for reconciliation of

net income to FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units

The Company believes that FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units are helpful to investors as supplemental

measures of the operating performance of real estate company because they are recognized measures ofperformance by the

real estate industry and by excluding gains or losses related to dispositions of depreciable properly and excluding real estate

depreciation which can vary among owners of identical usseis in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and

useful life estimates FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units can help compare the operating performance

of companys real estate between periods or as compared to different companies FF0 and FF0 available to Common

Shares and OP Units do not represent net income net income available to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating

activities in accordance with GAAP Therefore FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units should not be

exclusively considered as alternatives to net income net income available to Common Shares or net cashflowsfrom operating

activities as determined by GAAP or as measures of liquidity The Companys calculation of FF0 and FF0 available to

Common Shares and OP Units may differ from other real estate companies due to among other items variations in cost

capitalization policies for capital expenditures and accordingly may not be comparable to such other real estate companies

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the Company

should be read in connection with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto Due to the Companys

ability to control the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries other than entities owning interests in the Partially

Owned Properties Unconsolidated and certain other entities in which the Company has investments the Operating

Partnership and each such subsidiary entity has been consolidated with the Company for financial reporting purposes

Capitalized terms used herein and not defined are as defined elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2008

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this Item as well as elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are

intended to be made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

These statements are based on current expectations estimates projections and assumptions made by management

While the Companys management believes the assumptions underlying its forward-looking statements are

reasonable such information is inherently subject to uncertainties and may involve certain risks which could cause

actual results performance or achievements of the Company to differ materially from anticipated future results

performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements Many of these uncertainties

and risks are difficult to predict and beyond managements control Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of

future performance results or events The forward-looking statements contained herein are made as of the date hereof

and the Company undertakes no obligation to update or supplement these forward-looking statements Factors that

might cause such differences include but are not limited to the following

We intend to actively acquire multifamily properties for rental operations as market conditions dictate

The Company does not currently intend to begin the development of any new wholly-owned projects but

has substantial number of properties under development now and may commence new development

activities if conditions warrant We may underestimate the costs necessary to bring an acquired property

up to standards established for its intended market position or to complete development property

Additionally we expect that other major real estate investors with significant capital will compete with

us for attractive investment opportunities or may also develop properties in markets where we focus our

development efforts This competition may increase prices for multifamily properties We may not be

in position or have the opportunity in the future to make suitable property acquisitions on favorable

terms To the extent that we do develop more properties if conditions warrant we expect to do so

ourselves in addition to co-investing with our development partners The total number of development

units cost of development and estimated completion dates are subject to uncertainties arising from

changing economic conditions such as the cost of labor and construction materials competition and

local government regulation

Sources of capital to the Company or labor and materials required for maintenance repair capital

expenditure or development may be more expensive than anticipated

Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by national and local economic and market

conditions including without limitation new construction and excess inventory of multifamily and

single family housing slow or negative employment growth availability of low interest mortgages for

single family home buyers and the potential for geopolitical instability all of which are beyond the

Companys control and

Additional factors as discussed in Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K particularly those under
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Forward-looking statements and related uncertainties are also included in Notes 11 and 18 in the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements in this report

Overview

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an

SP 500 company focused on the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in

top United States growth markets EQR has elected to be taxed as REIT

The Company is one of the largest publicly traded real estate companies and is the largest publicly traded

owner of multifamily properties in the United States based on the aggregate market value of its outstanding Common

Shares the number of apartment units wholly owned and total revenues earned The Companys corporate

headquarters are located in Chicago Illinois and the Company also operates property management offices throughout

the United States As of February 2009 the Company has approximately 4700 employees who provide real estate

operations leasing legal financial accounting acquisition disposition development and other support functions

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2008 owned an approximate 94.2% ownership interest in

ERP Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership The Company is

structured as an umbrella partnership REIT UPREIT under which all property ownership and related business

operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to the Company include

EQR the Operating Partnership and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership and/or EQR

Business Objectives and Operating Strategies

The Company seeks to maximize current income capital appreciation of each property and the total return for its

shareholders The Companys strategy for accomplishing these objectives includes

Leveraging our size and scale in four critical ways

Investing in apartment communities located in strategically targeted markets to maximize our total return

on an enterprise level

Meeting the needs of our residents by offering wide array of product choices and commitment to

service

Engaging retaining and attracting the best employees by providing them with the education resources

and opportunities to succeed and

Sharing resources customers and best practices in property management and across the enterprise

Owning highly diversified portfolio by investing in target markets defmed by combination of the

following criteria

High barrier-to-entry low supply

Strong economic predictors high demand and

Attractive quality of life high demand and retention

Giving residents reasons to stay with the Company by providing range of product options available in our

diversified portfolio and by enhancing their experience through our employees and our services

Being open and responsive to market realities to take advantage of investment opportunities that align

with our long-term vision

Acquisition Development and Disposition Strategies

The Company anticipates that future property acquisitions developments and dispositions will occur within the

United States Acquisitions and developments may be fmanced from various sources of capital which may include

retained cash flow issuance of additional equity and debt securities sales of properties joint venture agreements and

collateralized and uncollateralized borrowings In addition the Company may acquire properties in transactions that

include the issuance of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units as consideration for the

acquired properties Such transactions may in certain circumstances enable the sellers to defer in whole or in part the
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recognition of taxable income or gain that might otherwise result from the sales EQR may also acquire land parcels to hold

and/or sell based on market opportunities

When evaluating potential acquisitions developments and dispositions the Company generally considers the

following factors

strategically targeted markets

income levels and employment growth trends in the relevant market

employment and household growth and net migration of the relevant markets population

barriers to entry that would limit competition zoning laws building permit availability supply of

undeveloped or developable real estate local building costs and construction costs among other factors

the location construction quality condition and design of the property

the current and projected cash flow of the property and the ability to increase cash flow

the potential for capital appreciation of the property

the terms of resident leases including the potential for rent increases

the potential for economic growth and the tax and regulatory environment of the community in which the

property is located

the occupancy and demand by residents for properties of similar type in the vicinity the overall market and

submarket

the prospects for liquidity through sale financing or refinancing of the property

the benefits of integration into existing operations

purchase prices and yields of available existing stabilized properties if any

competition from existing multifamily properties comparably priced single family homes or rentals

residential properties under development and the potential for the construction of new multifamily properties

in the area and

opportunistic selling based on demand and price of high quality assets including condominium conversions

The Company generally reinvests the proceeds received from property dispositions primarily to achieve its

acquisition development and rehab strategies and at times to fund its debt and equity repurchase activities In

addition when feasible the Company may structure these transactions as tax-deferred exchanges

Current Environment

The slowdown in the economy which accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2008 coupled with continued job

losses and/or lack of job growth leads us to be cautious regarding expected performance for 2009 Since the fourth

quarter of 2008 our revenue has declined in most of our major markets as the economic slowdown continues to

impact existing and prospective residents Markets with little employment loss should perform better than markets

with employment issues although most of our markets are now experiencing job losses Should the current credit

crisis and general economic recession continue the Company may continue to experience period of declining

revenues which would adversely impact the Companys results of operations The vast majority of our leases are for

terms of 12 months or less As result we quickly feel the impact of an economic downturn which limits our ability

to raise rents or causes us to lower rents on turnover units and lease renewals Since the second half of 2008

continued job losses and lack of household formation have hampered our ability to increase rents or caused us to

lower rents for new residents Additionally in recent months it has become increasingly difficult to maintain rents

with our renewing residents

After two consecutive years of modest expense growth same store expenses grew 2.2% between 2008 and

2007 and 2.1% between 2007 and 2006 the Company anticipates that 2009 expenses will increase at higher rate

primarily due to cost pressures from non-controllable areas such as utilities and real estate taxes The combination of

expected declines in revenues and higher overall expense levels will have negative impact on the Companys results

of operations for 2009

The continued credit crisis has negatively impacted the availability and pricing of debt capital During this

time the multifamily residential sector has benefited from the continued liquidity provided by Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac vast majority of the properties we sold this year were financed for the purchaser by one of these

agencies Furthermore Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac provided us with approximately $1.6 billion of secured

mortgage financing in 2008 at attractive rates when compared to other sources of credit While the Company believes

these agencies will continue to provide liquidity to our sector should they discontinue doing so have their mandates

changed or reduced or be disbanded by the government it would significantly reduce our access to debt capital and/or

increase borrowing costs and would significantly reduce our sales of assets
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In response to the recession and liquidity issues prevalent in the debt markets we took number of steps to

better position ourselves In early 2008 we began pre-funding our maturing debt obligations with approximately $1.6

billion in secured mortgage financing obtained from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac We also significantly reduced our

acquisition activity During the second half of 2008 we only acquired one property while we continued selling non-

core assets We expect to continue to be net seller of assets during 2009 should current conditions continue

Additionally we significantly reduced our development activities starting only two new projects in the first half of

2008 and none in the second half of the year We also reduced the number of planned development projects we will

undertake in the future and took $116.4 million impairment charge to reduce the value of five assets that we no

longer plan on pursuing We do not currently anticipate starting any new wholly-owned development projects during

2009 unless market conditions improve significantly Finally during 2009 we also expect to continue our focus on

our expense control initiatives

Our specific current expectations regarding our results for 2009 and certain items that will affect them are set

forth under Results of Operations below

We believe that cash and cash equivalents federally insured investment deposits and current availability on

our revolving credit facility will provide sufficient liquidity to meet our funding obligations relating to debt retirement

and existing development projects into 2011 We expect that our remaining funding obligations for 2011 and

subsequent periods will be met through new borrowings property dispositions and cash generated from operations

Despite the challenging conditions noted above we believe that the Company is well-positioned to withstand

the continuing economic downturn Our properties are geographically diverse and were approximately 93% occupied

as of December 31 2008 little new multifamily rental supply has been added to most of our markets the national

single family home ownership rate continues to decline and the long-term demographic picture is positive

We believe we are well-positioned with strong balance sheet and sufficient liquidity to cover debt

maturities and development fundings in the near term which should allow us to take advantage of investment

opportunities should distressed assets become available at significant discounts When economic conditions improve
the short-term nature of our leases and the limited supply of new rental housing being constructed should allow us to

quickly realize revenue growth and improvement in our operating results

Results of Operations

In conjunction with our business objectives and operating strategy the Company continued to invest or recycle its

capital investment in apartment properties located in strategically targeted markets during the years ended December 31
2008 and December 31 2007 In summary we

Year Ended December 31 2008

Acquired $380.7 million of apartment properties consisting of properties and 2141 units and an

uncompleted development property for $31.7 million and invested $2.4 million to obtain the management

contract rights and towards the redevelopment of military housing project consisting of 978 units all of

which we deem to be in our strategic targeted markets and

Sold $896.7 million of apartment properties consisting of 41 properties and 10127 units as well as 130

condominium units for $26.1 million and land parcel for $3.3 million

Year Ended December31 2007

Acquired $1.7 billion of apartment properties consisting of 36 properties and 8167 units and $212.8 million

of land parcels all of which we deem to be in our strategic targeted markets and

Sold $1.9 billion of apartment properties consisting of 73 properties and 21563 units as well as 617

condominium units for $164.2 million and $50.0 million of land parcels

The Companys primary financial measure for evaluating each of its apartment communities is net operating

income NOT NOI represents rental income less property and maintenance expense real estate tax and insurance

expense and property management expense The Company believes that NOT is helpful to investors as supplemental

measure of the operating performance of real estate company because it is direct measure of the actual operating

results of the Companys apartment communities
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Properties that the Company owned for all of both 2008 and 2007 the 2008 Same Store Properties which

represented 115051 units impacted the Companys results of operations Properties that the Company owned for all

of both 2007 and 2006 the 2007 Same Store Properties which represented 115857 units also impacted the

Companys results of operations Both the 2008 Same Store Properties and 2007 Same Store Properties are discussed

in the following paragraphs

The Companys acquisition disposition and completed development activities also impacted overall results

of operations for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 The impacts of these activities are also discussed in

greater detail in the following paragraphs

Comparison of the year ended December 31 2008 to the year ended December 31 2007

For the year ended December 31 2008 income from continuing operations net of minority interests decreased by

approximately $26.9 million or 9.7% when compared to the year ended December 31 2007 The decrease in continuing

operations is discussed below

Revenues from the 2008 Same Store Properties increased $53.8 million primarily as result of higher rental

rates charged to residents Expenses from the 2008 Same Store Properties increased $13.5 million primarily due to

higher real estate taxes utility costs and payroll The following tables provide comparative same store results and

statistics for the 2008 Same Store Properties

2008 vs 2007

Year over Year Same Store Results/Statistics

in thousands except for Average Rental Rate 115051 Same Store Units

Results Statistics

Average

Rental

Description Revenues Expenses NOl Rate Occupancy Turnover

2008 1739004 632366 $1106638 1334 94.5% 63.5%

2007 $1685196 618882 1066314 1292 94.6% 63.6%

Change 53808 13484 40324 42 0.1% 0.1%

Change 3.2% 2.2% 3.8% 3.3%

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied units for the period

The following table presents reconciliation of operating income per
the consolidated statements of

operations to NOT for the 2008 Same Store Properties

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Amounts in thousands

Operating income 500112 539128

Adjustments

Non-same store operating results 148956 82826
Fee and asset management revenue 10715 9183
Fee and asset management expense 7981 8412

Depreciation 591162 562290

General and administrative 44951 46767

Impairment 122103 1726

Same store NOT 1106638 1066314

For properties that the Company acquired prior to January 2008 and expects to continue to own through

December 31 2009 the Company anticipates the following same store results for the full year ending December 31

2009

34



2009 Same Store Assumptions

Physical occupancy 93.5%

Revenue change 4.50% to 1.50%

Expense change 2.50% to 3.50%

NOl change 9.25% to 3.75%

These 2009 assumptions are based on current expectations and are forward-looking

Non-same store operating results increased approximately $66.1 million or 79.8% and consist primarily of

properties acquired in calendar years 2008 and 2007 as well as operations from completed development properties

and our corporate housing business

See also Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the

Companys segment disclosures

Fee and asset management revenues net of fee and asset management expenses increased approximately $2.0

million primarily due to an increase in revenue earned on the management of our military housing venture at Fort Lewis

along with the addition of McChord Air Force Base as well as decrease in asset management expenses As of December

31 2008 and 2007 the Company managed 14485 units and 14472 units respectively primarily for unconsolidated entities

and our military housing ventures at Fort Lewis and McChord Air Force Base

Property management expenses from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with the self-

management of the Companys properties as well as management fees paid to any third party management companies
These expenses decreased by approximately $10.4 million or 11.9% This decrease is primarily attributable to lower

overall payroll-related costs as result of decrease in the number of properties in the Companys portfolio as well as

decrease in legal and professional fees

Depreciation expense from continuing operations which includes depreciation on non-real estate assets increased

approximately $28.9 million or 5.1% primarily as result of additional depreciation expense on properties acquired in 2007

and 2008 and capital expenditures for all properties owned

General and administrative expenses from continuing operations which include corporate operating

expenses decreased approximately $1.8 million or 3.9% primarily as result of $2.2 million decrease in profit

sharing expense and lower overall payroll-related costs partially offset by an increase in legal and professional fees

due to $1.7 million expense recovery recorded for the year ended December 31 2007 related to certain lawsuit in

Florida see Note 21 The Company anticipates that general and administrative expenses will approximate $40.0

million to $42.0 million for the year ending December 31 2009 The above assumption is based on current

expectations and is forward-looking

Impairment from continuing operations increased approximately $120.4 million primarily due to an

impairment charge on land held for development of $116.4 million taken in the fourth quarter of 2008 related to five

potential development projects that will no longer be pursued In addition the Company wrote-off an additional $4.0

million of various pursuit and out-of-pocket costs for terminated development transactions and halted condominium

conversion properties during 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 See Note 19 in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements for fUrther discussion

Interest and other income from continuing operations increased approximately $13.4 million or 66.5%

primarily as result of an $18.7 million gain recognized during the year ended December 31 2008 related to the

partial debt extinguishment of the Companys June 2009 and August 2026 public notes see Note as well as an

increase in short-term investments This was partially offset by $7.3 million decrease in interest earned on 1031

exchange and earnest money deposits due primarily to the decline in the Companys transaction activities The

Company anticipates that interest and other income will approximate $9.0 million to $12.0 million for the year ending

December 31 2009 The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-looking

Interest expense from continuing operations including amortization of deferred financing costs decreased

approximately $4.1 million or 0.8% primarily as result of lower overall effective interest rates and reduction in debt

extinguishment costs partially offset by higher overall debt levels outstanding due to the Companys 2007 share repurchase

activity and its pre-funding of its 2008 and 2009 debt maturities During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company

capitalized interest costs of approximately $60.1 million as compared to $45.1 million for the year ended December 31
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2007 lhis capitalization of interest primarily relates to consolidated projects under development The effective interest

cost on all indebtedness for the year ended December 31 2008 was 5.56% as compared to 5.96% for the year ended

December 31 2007 The Company anticipates that interest expense
will approximate $475.0 million to $495.0 million for

the year ending December 31 2009 The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-looking

Income and other tax expense
from continuing operations increased approximately $2.8 million primarily due

to change in the estimate for Texas state taxes and an increase in franchise taxes The Company anticipates that

income and other tax expense will approximate $1.0 million to $2.0 million for the year ending December 31 2009

The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-looking

Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $0.4 million between the periods

under comparison This increase is primarily due to income received in 2007 from the sale of the Companys 7.075%

ownership interest in Wellsford Park Highlands Corporation an entity which owns condominium development in

Denver Colorado

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities increased approximately $0.2 million primarily due to $2.9

million gain on the sale of three unconsolidated institutional joint venture properties realized in 2008 compared to

gain of $2.6 million realized in 2007 on the sale of one property

Net gain on sales of land parcels decreased approximately $3.4 million primarily as result of higher net

gains realized in 2007 on the sale of two land parcels compared to the net gain realized in 2008 on the sale of one land

parcel

Discontinued operations net of minority interests decreased approximately $542.6 million between the periods

under comparison This decrease is primarily due to significant decrease in the number of properties sold during the year

ended December 31 2008 compared to the same period in 2007 as well as the mix of properties sold in each year See

Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Comparison of the year
ended December 312007 to the year ended December 312006

For the year ended December 31 2007 income from continuing operations net of minority interests increased by

approximately $37.5 million when compared to the year ended December 31 2006 The increase in continuing operations

is discussed below

Revenues from the 2007 Same Store Properties increased $67.2 million primarily as result of higher rental

rates charged to residents Expenses from the 2007 Same Store Properties increased $12.6 million primarily due to

higher payroll building utility costs insurance and real estate taxes The following tables provide comparative same

store results and statistics for the 2007 Same Store Properties

2007 vs 2006

Year over Year Same Store Results/Statistics

in thousands except for Average Rental Rate 115857 Same Store Units

Results Statistics

Average

Rental

Description Revenues Expenses NOT Rate Occupancy Turnover

2007 $1643513 607691 1035822 1250 94.7% 63.3%

2006 1576322 595074 981248 1199 94.7% 64.9%

Change 67191 12617 54574 51 0.0% 1.6%

Change 4.3% 2.1% 5.6% 4.3%

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied units for the period

Non-same store operating results increased $106.1 million and consist primarily of properties acquired in

calendar years 2007 and 2006 as well as operations from completed development properties and our corporate housing

business
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See also Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the

Companys segment disclosures

Fee and asset management revenues net of fee and asset management expenses increased $0.6 million primarily

as result of an increase in property management fees from unconsolidated entities along with decrease in asset

management expenses from managing fewer properties for third parties and unconsolidated entities As of December 31
2007 and 2006 the Company managed 14472 units and 15020 units respectively primarily for unconsolidated entities

and our military housing venture at Fort Lewis

Property management expenses from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with the self-

management of the Companys properties as well as management fees paid to any third party management companies

These expenses decreased by approximately $8.7 million or 9.0% This decrease is primarily attributable to lower

overall payroll costs various reserve adjustments for workers compensation and medical costs and lower training

costs associated with the completion of majority of the rollout of new property management system partially offset

by higher legal and professional fees

Depreciation expense from continuing operations which includes depreciation on non-real estate assets increased

$79.6 million primarily as result of additional depreciation expense on newly acquired properties and capital expenditures

for all properties owned

General and administrative
expenses from continuing operations which include corporate operating

expenses increased approximately $2.6 million between the periods under comparison This increase was primarily

due to an increase in restricted share expense and severance costs associated with the resignation of two of the

Companys executives as well as less expense recovery related to certain lawsuit in Florida see Note 21 partially

offset by decrease in profit sharing

Impairment from continuing operations decreased $32.3 million primarily due to an impairment charge on

goodwill of $30.0 million taken in 2006 related to the corporate housing business In addition in 2006 the Company
wrote-off $2.0 million of various deferred sales costs following the decision to halt the condominium conversion and

sale process at five assets

Interest and other income from continuing operations decreased approximately $10.7 million primarily as

result of $14.7 million of forfeited deposits for various terminated transactions along with $3.7 million in proceeds

from eBays acquisition of Rent.com received during the year ended December 31 2006 This was partially offset by

$4.1 million received in 2007 for insurance litigation settlement proceeds $2.7 million increase in interest earned on

1031 exchange and earnest money deposits and $0.7 million increase in interest earned on short-term investments

Interest
expense

from continuing operations including amortization of deferred fmancing costs increased

approximately $67.3 million primarily as result of higher overall debt levels outstanding due to the Companys share

repurchase activity as well as the timing of acquisitions and dispositions partially offset by lower overall effective interest

rates During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company capitalized interest costs of approximately $45.1 million as

compared to $20.7 million for the year ended December 31 2006 This capitalization of interest primarily relates to

consolidated projects under development The effective interest cost on all indebtedness for the year ended December 31
2007 was 5.96% as compared to 6.2 1% for the year ended December31 2006

Income and other tax expense from continuing operations decreased approximately $1.8 million primarily

due to taxable gain incurred in 2006 on partially owned land parcel partially offset by refunds received in 2006 as

result of change in tax status of portfolio of partially owned consolidated properties

Income from investments in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $1.0 million between the

periods under comparison This increase is primarily due to the sale of the Companys 7.075% ownership interest in

Wellsford Park Highlands Corporation an entity which owns condominium development in Denver Colorado and

profit participation received from the sale of condominium units at development project that was sold in 2003

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities increased $2.3 million primarily as result of $2.6 million gain

on the sale of an unconsolidated institutional joint venture property during the year ended December 31 2007

Net gain on sales of land parcels increased $3.6 million primarily as result of higher net gains realized in

2007 on the sales of land parcels compared to the net gains realized in 2006
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Discontinued operations net of minority interests decreased approximately $120.8 million between the periods

under comparison This decrease is primarily due to significant decrease in the number of properties sold during the year

ended December 31 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 as well as the mix of properties sold in each year See

Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

As of January 2008 the Company had approximately $50.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and $1.28

billion available under its revolving credit facility net of $80.8 million which was restricted/dedicated to support

letters of credit and not available for borrowing and net of the $139.0 million balance outstanding After taking into

effect the various transactions discussed in the following paragraphs and the net cash provided by operating activities

the Companys cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31 2008 was approximately $890.8 million and the

amount available on the Companys revolving credit facility was $1.29 billion net of $130.0 million which was

restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and $75.0 million which had been committed by now bankrupt

financial institution and is not available for borrowing The significant increase in the Companys cash and cash

equivalents balance since December 31 2007 is direct result of its decision to pre-fund its 2008 and 2009 debt

maturities with the closing of three secured mortgage loan poois in 2008 $500.0 million in March 2008 $550.0

million in August 2008 and $543.0 million in December 2008 See Notes and 10 in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion

During the year
ended December 31 2008 the Company generated proceeds from various transactions

which included the following

Disposed of 45 properties and various individual condominium units receiving net proceeds of

approximately $887.6 million

Obtained $1.6 billion in new mortgage financing and terminated nine forward starting swaps designated to

hedge $450.0 million of the total loan issuances making payments of $26.7 million

Obtained an additional $248.5 million of new mortgage loans primarily on development properties and

Issued approximately 1.2 million Common Shares and received net proceeds of $30.8 million

During the year ended December 31 2008 the above proceeds were primarily utilized to

Invest $521.5 million primarily in development projects

Acquire seven rental properties and one uncompleted development property utilizing cash of $388.1 million

Invest $2.4 million in military housing project located in the state of Washington

Repurchase 0.2 million Common Shares and settle 0.1 million Common Shares utilizing cash of $12.5

million see Note

Repay $130.0 million of fixed rate private notes

Repurchase $174.0 million of fixed rate public notes and

Repay $435.4 million of mortgage loans

Depending on its analysis of market prices economic conditions and other opportunities for the investment

of available capital the Company may repurchase its Common Shares pursuant to its existing share repurchase

program authorized by the Board of Trustees The Company repurchased $7.9 million 220085 shares at an average

price per share of $35.93 of its Common Shares during the year ended December 31 2008 As of December 31

2008 the Company had authorization to repurchase an additional $467.7 million of its shares See Note in the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Companys total debt summary and debt maturity schedules as of December 31 2008 are as follows
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Debt Summary as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Maturities

Amounts of Total Rates years

Secured 5036930 48.0% 5.18% 8.3

Unsecured 5464316 52.0% 5.46% 5.5

Total 10501246 100.0% 5.34% 6.9

Fixed Rate Debt

Secured Conventional 3805652 36.2% 6.00% 7.2

Unsecured Public/Private 4701372 44.8% 5.69% 5.7

Unsecured Tax Exempt 75790 0.7% 5.07% 20.5

Fixed Rate Debt 8582814 81.7% 5.80% 6.5

Floating Rate Debt

Secured Conventional 595388 5.7% 3.78% 2.4

Secured Tax Exempt 635890 6.1% 2.50% 21.6

UnsecuredPublic/Private 651554 6.2% 3.89% 1.5

Unsecured Tax Exempt 35600 0.3% 1.05% 20.0

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility 4.3 1% 3.1

Floating Rate Debt 1918432 18.3% 3.39% 8.5

Total 10501246 100.0% 5.34% 6.9

Net of the effect of any derivative instruments Weighted average rates are for the year ended December31 2008

Note The Company capitalized interest of approximately $60.1 million and $45.1 million during the years ended December 31
2008 and 2007 respectively

Debt Maturity Schedule as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Fixed Floating Rates on Fixed Rates on

Year Rate Rate Total of Total Rate Debt Total Debt

2009 350974 512424 863398 8.2% 6.79% 4.62%

2010 294968 658515 953483 9.1% 7.01% 4.42%

2011 24 1451164 63178 1514342 14.4% 5.71% 5.57%

2012 908196 3658 911854 8.7% 6.08% 6.08%

2013 566333 566333 5.4% 5.93% 5.93%

2014 517470 517470 4.9% 5.28% 5.28%

2015 355620 355620 3.4% 6.41% 6.41%

2016 1089317 1089317 10.4% 5.32% 5.32%

2017 1346649 456 1347105 12.8% 5.87% 5.87%

2018 335496 44677 380173 3.6% 5.96% 5.63%

2019 1366627 635524 2002151 19.1% 5.85% 4.98%

Total 8582814 1918432 10501246 100.0% 5.86% 5.37%

Net of the effect of any derivative instruments Weighted average rates are as of December 31 2008

On January 27 2009 the Company repurchased at par $105.2 million of its 4.75% unsecured notes due June 15 2009 and

$185.2 million of its 6.95% unsecured notes due March 2011 pursuant to cash tender offer announced on January 16
2009

Includes the Companys $500.0 million floating rate term loan facility which matures on October 2010 subject to two

one-year extension options exercisable by the Company
Includes $548.6 million face value of 3.85% convertible unsecured debt with final maturity of 2026 The notes are

callable by the Company on or after August 18 2011 The notes are putable by the holders on August 18 2011 August 15
2016 and August 15 2021
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The following table provides summary of the Companys unsecured debt as of December 31 2008

Unsecured Debt Summary as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands

Unamortized

Coupon Due Face Premium Net

Rate Date Amount Discount Balance

Fixed Rate Notes

4.750% 06/15/09 227400 98 227302

6.950% 03/02/11 300000 2047 302047

6.625% 03/15/12 400000 942 399058

5.500% 10/01/12 350000 1295 348705

5.200% 04/01/13 400000 503 399497

5.250% 09/15/14 500000 351 499649

6.584% 04/13/15 300000 700 299300

5.125% 03/15/16 500000 386 499614

5.375% 08/01/16 400000 1407 398593

5.750% 06/15/17 650000 4323 645677

7.125% 10/15/17 150000 570 149430

7.570% 08/15/26 140000 140000

3.850% 08/15/26 548557 6057 542500

Floating Rate Adjustments 150000 150000

4715957 14585 4701372

Fixed Rate Tax Exempt Notes

5.200% 06/15/29 75790 75790

Floating Rate Tax Exempt Notes

7-Day SIFMA 12/15/28 35600 35600

Floating Rate Notes

06/15/09 150000 150000

FAS 133 Adjustmentsnet 1554 1554

Term Loan Facility L1BOR0.50% 10/05/10 500000 500000

651554 651554

Revolving Credit Facility LIBOR0.50% 02/28/12

TotalUnsecuredDebt 5478901 14585 5464316

Note SIFMA stands for the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association and is the tax-exempt index equivalent of LIBOR

$150.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts portion of the 4.750% notes due June 15 2009 to floating

interest rate During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company repurchased $72.6 million of these notes at

discount to par of approximately 1.0% and recognized gain on early debt extinguishment of $0.7 million On January

27 2009 the Company repurchased $105.2 million of these notes at par pursuant to cash tender offer announced on

January 16 2009

On January 27 2009 the Company repurchased $185.2 million of these notes at par pursuant to cash tender offer

announced on January 16 2009

Convertible notes mature on August 15 2026 The notes are callable by the Company on or after August 18 2011 The

notes are putable by the holders on August 18 2011 August 15 2016 and August 15 2021 During the year ended

December 31 2008 the Company repurchased $101.4 million of these notes at discount to par of approximately 17.7%

and recognized gain on early debt extinguishment of $18.0 million

Notes are private All other unsecured debt is public

Represents the Companys $500.0 million term loan facility which matures on October 2010 subject to two one-year

extension options exercisable by the Company

As of December 31 2008 there was no amount outstanding and approximately $1.29 billion available on the Companys

unsecured revolving credit facility

As of February 26 2009 an unlimited amount of debt securities remains available for issuance by the

Operating Partnership under registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in

December 2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically expires on

December 21 2011 and does not contain maximum issuance amount As of February 26 2009 an unlimited
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amount of equity securities remains available for issuance by the Company under registration statement the SEC

declared effective in December 2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically

expires on December 15 2011 and does not contain maximum issuance amount

The Companys Consolidated Debt-to-Total Market Capitalization Ratio as of December 31 2008 is

presented in the following table The Company calculates the equity component of its market capitalization as the

sum of the total outstanding Common Shares and assumed conversion of all OP Units at the equivalent market

value of the closing price of the Companys Common Shares on the New York Stock Exchange ii the Common
Share Equivalent of all convertible preferred shares and preference units and iii the liquidation value of all

perpetual preferred shares outstanding

Capital Structure as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands except for share and per share amounts

Secured Debt 5036930 48.0%

Unsecured Debt 5464316 52.0%

Total Debt 10501246 100.0% 54.3%

Common Shares 272786760 94.2%

OP Units 16679777 5.8%

Total Shares and OP Units 289466537 100.0%

Common Share Equivalents see below 406167

Total outstanding at quarter-end 289872704

Common Share Price at December 31 2008 29.82

8644004 97.7%

Perpetual Preferred Equity see below 200000 2.3%

Total Equity 8844004 100.0% 45.7%

Total Market Capitalization 19345250 100.0%

Convertible Preferred Equity as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands except for share/unit and per share/unit amounts

Outstanding Annual Annual Weighted Common

Redemption Shares/
Liquidation Dividend Per Dividend Average Conversion Share

Series Date Units Value Share/Unit Amount Rate Ratio Equivalents

Preferred Shares

7.00%SeriesE 11/1/98 329016 8225 1.75 576 1.1128 366129

7.00% Series 6/30/98 22459 561 1.75 39 1.4480 32521

Junior Preference Units

8.00% Series 7/29/09 7367 184 2.00 15 1.020408 7517

Total Convertible Preferred Equity 358842 8970 630 7.02% 406167

Perpetual Preferred Equity as of December 31 2008

Amounts in thousands except for share and per share amounts

Annual Annual Weighted

Redemption Outstanding Liquidation Dividend Dividend Average

Series Date Shares Value Per Share Amount Rate

Preferred Shares

8.29% Series 12/10/26 1000000 50000 4.145 4145

6.48% Series 6/19/08 600000 150000 16.20 9720

Total Perpetual Preferred Equity 1600000 200000 13865 6.93%

The Company generally expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements including capital expenditures

related to maintaining its existing properties and certain scheduled unsecured note and mortgage note repayments

through its working capital net cash provided by operating activities and borrowings under its revolving credit

facility Under normal operating conditions the Company considers its cash provided by operating activities to be

41



adequate to meet operating requirements and payments of distributions However there may be times when the

Company experiences shortfalls in its coverage of distributions which may cause the Company to consider reducing

its distributions and/or using the proceeds from property dispositions or additional financing transactions to make up

the difference Should these shortfalls occur for lengthy periods of time or be material in nature the Companys
financial condition may be adversely affected and it may not be able to maintain its current distribution levels The

Company also expects to meet its long-term liquidity requirements such as scheduled unsecured note and mortgage

debt maturities property acquisitions financing of construction and development activities and capital improvements

through the issuance of unsecured notes and equity securities including additional OP Units and proceeds received

from the disposition of certain properties as well as joint ventures In addition the Company has significant

unencumbered properties available to secure additional mortgage borrowings in the event that the public capital

markets are unavailable or the cost of alternative sources of capital is too high The fair value of and cash flow from

these unencumbered properties are in excess of the requirements the Company must maintain in order to comply with

covenants under its unsecured notes and line of credit Of the $18.7 billion in investment in real estate on the

Companys balance sheet at December 31 2008 $10.9 billion or 58.1% was unencumbered

As of February 2009 the Operating Partnerships senior debt credit ratings from Standard Poors

SP Moodys and Fitch are BBB Baal and A- respectively As of February 2009 the Companys preferred

equity ratings from SP Moodys and Fitch are BBB- Baa2 and BBB respectively

The Operating Partnership has long-term revolving credit facility with available borrowings as of February

2009 of $1.30 billion that matures in February 2012 See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for

further discussion This facility may among other potential uses be used to fund property acquisitions costs for

certain properties under development and short-term liquidity requirements As of February 2009 no amounts

were outstanding under this facility

See Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the events which occurred

subsequent to December31 2008

Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Improvements to Real Estate

Our policy with respect to capital expenditures is generally to capitalize expenditures that improve the value

of the property or extend the useful life of the component asset of the property We track improvements to real estate

in two major categories and several subcategories

Replacements inside the unit These include

flooring such as carpets hardwood vinyl linoleum or tile

appliances

mechanical equipment such as individual furnace/air units hot water heaters etc

furniture and fixtures such as kitchenlbath cabinets light fixtures ceiling fans sinks tubs toilets

mirrors countertops etc and

blinds/shades

All replacements are depreciated over five-year estimated useful life We expense as incurred all make-

ready maintenance and turnover costs such as cleaning interior painting of individual units and the repair of any

replacement item noted above

Building improvements outside the unit These include

roof replacement and major repairs

paving or major resurfacing of parking lots curbs and sidewalks

amenities and common areas such as pools exterior sports and playground equipment lobbies

clubhouses laundry rooms alarm and security systems and offices

major building mechanical equipment systems

interior and exterior structural repair and exterior painting and siding

major landscaping and grounds improvement and

vehicles and office and maintenance equipment

All building improvements are depreciated over five to ten-year estimated useful life We capitalize

building improvements and upgrades only if the item exceeds $2500 selected projects must exceed $10000 ii

extends the useful life of the asset and iii improves the value of the asset
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For the year ended December 31 2008 our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately $169.8

million This includes the following amounts in thousands except for unit and per unit amounts

Capitalized Improvements to Real Estate

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Total Avg Building Avg Avg
Units Replacements Per Unit Improvements Per Unit Total Per Unit

Established Properties 105607 38003 360 53195 504 91198 864

New Acquisition Properties 20665 5409 285 18243 961 23652 1246

Other4 6487 43497 11491 54988

Total 132759 86909 82929 169838

Total units Excludes 9776 unconsolidated units and 4709 militaiy housing fee managed units for which capitalized

improvements to real estate are self-funded and do not consolidate into the Companys results

Established Properties Wholly Owned Properties acquired prior to January 2006

New Acquisition Properties Wholly Owned Properties acquired during 2006 2007 and 2008 Per unit amounts are based on

weighted average of 18983 units

Other Includes properties either partially owned or sold during the period commercial space corporate housing and

condominium conversions Also includes $34.2 million included in replacements spent on various assets related to major

renovations and repositioning of these assets

For the year ended December 31 2007 our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately $252.7

million This includes the following amounts in thousands except for unit and per unit amounts

Capitalized Improvements to Real Estate

For the Year Ended December 31 2007

Total Avg Building Avg Avg
Units Replacements Per Unit Improvements Per Unit Total Per Unit

Established Properties 103560 37695 364 77109 745 114804 1109

New Acquisition Properties 27696 9433 371 66182 2605 75615 2976

Other 7388 16398 45858 62256

Total 138644 63526 189149 252675

Total units Excludes 10446 unconsolidated units and 3731 military housing fee managed units for which capitalized

improvements to real estate are self-funded and do not consolidate into the Companys results

Established Properties Wholly Owned Properties acquired prior to January 2005

New Acquisition Properties Wholly Owned Properties acquired during 2005 2006 and 2007 Per unit amounts are based on

weighted average of 25406 units

Other Includes properties either partially owned or sold during the period commercial space corporate housing and

condominium conversions Also includes $22.2 million included in building improvements spent on 26 specific assets related

to major renovations and repositioning of these assets

The Company incurred less in capitalized improvements per unit and overall in 2008 primarily due to

enhanced efforts to limit the scope of projects and greater cost controls on vendors For 2009 the Company estimates

an annual stabilized run rate of approximately $925 per unit of capital expenditures for its established properties The

above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-looking

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Companys total non-real estate capital additions such as

computer software computer equipment and furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements to the Companys

property management offices and its corporate offices were approximately $2.3 million The Company expects to

fund approximately $2.0 million in total additions to non-real estate property in 2009 The above assumption is based

on current expectations and is forward-looking
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Improvements to real estate and additions to non-real estate property are generally funded from net cash

provided by operating activities and from investment cash flow

Derivative Instruments

In the normal course of business the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes The

Company seeks to limit these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the

use of derivatives to hedge interest rate risk on debt instruments

The Company has policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their

credit ratings and other factors When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that the

derivatives are designed to hedge the Company has not sustained material loss from those instruments nor does it

anticipate any material adverse effect on its net income or financial position in the future from the use of derivatives it

currently has in place

See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of derivative instruments

at December31 2008

Other

Total distributions paid in January 2009 amounted to $142.2 million excluding distributions on Partially

Owned Properties which included certain distributions declared during the fourth quarter ended December 31 2008

Minority Interests as of December 31 2008 decreased by $39.5 million when compared to December 31

2007 primarily as result of the following

Distributions declared to Minority Interests which amounted to $33.7 million excluding Junior Preference

Unit distributions

The allocation of income from operations to holders of OP Units in the amount of $26.9 million

The issuance of 19017 OP Units related to the true-up of the purchase price on the acquisition of one

property in April 2006 with valuation of $0.8 million and

The conversion of 1.8 million OP Units into Common Shares valued at $49.9 million

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The Company has co-invested in various properties that are unconsolidated and accounted for under the equity

method of accounting Management does not believe these investments have materially different impact upon the

Companys liquidity cash flows capital resources credit or market risk than its property management and ownership

activities During 2000 and 2001 the Company entered into institutional ventures with an unaffiliated partner At the

respective closing dates the Company sold and/or contributed 45 properties containing 10846 units to these ventures and

retained 25% ownership interest in the ventures The Companys joint venture partner contributed cash equal to 75% of

the agreed-upon equity value of the properties comprising the ventures which was then distributed to the Company The

Companys strategy with respect to these ventures was to reduce its concentration of properties in variety of markets The

Company sold three properties consisting of 670 units and one property consisting of 400 units during the years
ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company and its joint venture partner currently intend to wind up these

investments over the next few years by selling the related assets The Company cannot estimate what if any profit it will

receive from these dispositions or if the Company will in fact receive its equity back

As of December 31 2008 the Company has 10 projects totaling 3568 units in various stages of development

with estimated completion dates ranging through June 30 2011 The development agreements currently in place are

discussed in detail in Note 18 of the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

See also Notes and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding

the Companys investments in partially owned entities

The following table summarizes the Companys contractual obligations for the next five years and thereafter

as of December 31 2008
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Payments Due by Year in thousands

Contractual Obligations 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Debt

Principal 863398 953483 1514342 911854 566333 5691836 $10501246

Interest 539674 501815 429789 364376 318714 1645206 3799574

Operating Leases

MinimumRentPaymentsc 6047 5530 3582 1273 1101 58553 76086

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Deferred Compensation 1456 1457 2062 2062 1464 11376 19877

Total 1410575 1462285 1949775 1279565 887612 7406971 $14396783

Amounts include aggregate principal payments only

Amounts include interest expected to be incurred on the Companys secured and unsecured debt based on obligations outstanding at

December 31 2008 and inclusive of capitalized interest For floating rate debt the current rate in effect at December 31 2008 is

assumed to be in effect through the respective maturity date of each instrument

Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on ground leases for three properties

Estimated payments to the Companys Chairman two former CEOs and its former chief operating officer based on planned

retirement dates

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies including making

estimates and assumptions If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various

transactions had been different or different assumptions were made it is possible that different accounting policies

would have been applied resulting in different financial results or different presentation of our financial statements

The Companys significant accounting policies are described in Note in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements These policies were followed in preparing the consolidated financial statements at and for the

year ended December 31 2008 and are consistent with the year ended December 31 2007

The Company has identified six significant accounting policies as critical accounting policies These critical

accounting policies are those that have the most impact on the reporting of our financial condition and those requiring

significant judgments and estimates With respect to these critical accounting policies management believes that the

application of judgments and estimates is consistently applied and produces financial information that fairly presents

the results of operations for all periods presented The six critical accounting policies are

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets including its investments in real estate and

goodwill for indicators of permanent impairment The judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators

are based on factors such as operational performance market conditions and legal and environmental concerns as

well as the Companys ability to hold and its intent with regard to each asset Future events could occur which would

cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and an impairment loss is warranted

Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate

The Company depreciates the building component of its investment in real estate over 30-year estimated

useful life building improvements over 5-year to 10-year estimated useful life and both the furniture fixtures and

equipment and replacements components over 5-year estimated useful life all of which are judgmental

determinations

Cost Capitalization

See the Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Improvements to Real Estate section for discussion of the policy

with respect to capitalization vs expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance costs In addition the Company

capitalizes the payroll and associated costs of employees directly responsible for and who spend all of their time on

the supervision of major capital and/or renovation projects These costs are reflected on the balance sheet as an

increase to depreciable property
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The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No 67 Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of

Real Estate Projects for all development projects and uses its professional judgment in determining whether such

costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred The Company capitalizes interest real estate

taxes and insurance and payroll and associated costs for those individuals directly responsible for and who spend all

of their time on development activities with capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following issuance of the

certificate of occupancy These costs are reflected on the balance sheet as construction-in-progress for each specific

property The Company expenses as incurred all payroll costs of on-site employees working directly at our properties

except as noted above on our development properties prior to certificate of occupancy issuance and on specific major

renovations at selected properties when additional incremental employees are hired

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Including Derivative Instruments

The Company follows the guidance under SFAS No 157 when valuing its financial instruments The

valuation of financial instruments under SFAS No 107 and SFAS No 133 as amended requires the Company to

make estimates and judgments that affect the fair value of the instruments The Company where possible bases the

fair values of its financial instruments including its derivative instruments on listed market prices and third party

quotes Where these are not available the Company bases its estimates on current instruments with similar terms and

maturities or on other factors relevant to the financial instruments

Revenue Recognition

Rental income attributable to residential leases is recorded on straight-line basis which is not materially

different than if it were recorded when due from residents and recognized monthly as it is earned Leases entered into

between resident and property for the rental of an apartment unit are generally year-to-year renewable upon

consent of both parties on an annual or monthly basis Fee and asset management revenue and interest income are

recorded on an accrual basis

Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its share-based compensation in accordance with SPAS No 123R Share-Based

Payment effective January 2006 which results in compensation expense being recorded based on the fair value of

the share compensation granted

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded

options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable This model is only one method of valuing options

and the Companys use of this model should not be interpreted as an endorsement of its accuracy Because the

Companys share options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because

changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate in managements opinion the

existing models do not necessarily provide reliable single measure of the fair value of its share options and the actual

value of the options may be significantly different

Funds From Operations

For the year ended December 31 2008 Funds From Operations FF0 available to Common Shares and

OP Units decreased $91.8 million or 12.7% as compared to the year ended December 31 2007 For the year ended

December 31 2007 FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units increased $7.3 million or 1.0% as compared to

the year ended December 31 2006

The following is reconciliation of net income to FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units for each of the

five years ended December 31 2008
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Funds From Operations

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Net income 420092 989622 1072844 861793 472329

Allocation to Minority Interests Operating Partnership net 1735 2663 738 2481 2170

Adjustments

Depreciation 591162 562290 482683 365329 309180

Depreciation Non-real estate additions 8269 8279 7840 5541 5303

Depreciation Partially Owned and Unconsolidated Properties 4157 4379 4338 2487 1903

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities 2876 2629 370 1330 4593

Discontinued operations

Depreciation 11746 54124 109834 163418 187132

Gain on sales of discontinued operations net of minority

interests 368382 873767 958815 658723 296927

Net incremental loss gain on sales of condominium units 3932 20771 48961 100361 32682

Minority Interests Operating Partnership 718 3256 6324 8351 11254

FF0 646151 752430 757221 838626 705487

Preferred distributions 14507 22792 37113 49642 53746

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965 4359

FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units 631644 723484 716143 784625 651741

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT defines funds from operations FF0 April 2002

White Paper as net income computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of depreciable property plus depreciation and amortization and after

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint

ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis The April 2002 White Paper states that gain or

loss on sales of property is excluded from FF0 for previously depreciated operating properties only Once the Company

commences the conversion of units to condominiums it simultaneously discontinues depreciation of such property FF0

available to Common Shares and OP Units is calculated on basis consistent with net income available to Common Shares

and reflects adjustments to net income for preferred distributions and premiums on redemption of preferred shares in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States The equity positions of various individuals and

entities that contributed their properties to the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively referred to as

the Minority Interests Operating Partnership Subject to certain restrictions the Minority Interests Operating

Partnership may exchange their OP Units for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis

The Company believes that FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units are helpful to investors as supplemental

measures of the operating performance of real estate company because they are recognized measures ofperformance by the

real estate industry and by excluding gains or losses related to dispositions of depreciable property and excluding real estate

depreciation which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and

useful life estimates FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units can help compare the operating performance

of companys real estate between periods or as compared to different companies FF0 and FF0 available to Common

Shares and OP Units do not represent net income net income available to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating

activities in accordance with GAAP Therefore FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and OP Units should not be

exclusively considered as alternatives to net income net income available to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating

activities as determined by GAAP or as measures of liquidity The Companys calculation of FF0 and FF0 available to

Common Shares and OP Units may differ from other real estate companies due to among other items variations in cost

capitalization policies for capital expenditures and accordingly may not be comparable to such other real estate companies
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risks relating to the Companys fmancial instruments result primarily from changes in short-term L1BOR

interest rates and changes in the SIFMA index for tax-exempt debt The Company does not have any direct foreign

exchange or other significant market risk

The Companys exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the unsecured revolving

and term credit facilities as well as floating rate tax-exempt debt The Company typically incurs fixed rate debt obligations

to fmance acquisitions while it typically incurs floating rate debt obligations to finance working capital needs and as

temporaly measure in advance of securing long-term fixed rate financing The Company continuously evaluates its level of

floating rate debt with respect to total debt and other factors including its assessment of the current and future economic

enviromnent To the extent the Company carries as it did at December31 2008 substantial cash balances this will tend to

partially counterbalance
any increase or decrease in interest rates

The Company also utilizes certain derivative financial instruments to limit market risk Interest rate protection

agreements are used to convert floating rate debt to fixed rate basis or vice versa Derivatives are used for hedging

purposes rather than speculation The Company does not enter into financial instruments for trading purposes See also

Note 11 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of derivative instruments

The fair values of the Companys financial instruments including such items in the financial statement captions as

cash and cash equivalents other assets lines of credit accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities

approximate their canying or contract values based on their nature terms and interest rates that approximate current market

rates The fair value of the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $5.0 billion and

$4.7 billion respectively at December 31 2008

At December 31 2008 the Company had total outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.9 billion or

18.3% of total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt

permanently increased by 34 basis points 10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average
interest rates the

increase in interest expense on the floating rate debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately $6.5

million If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently decreased by 34 basis points 10% decrease

from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the decrease in interest expense on the floating rate debt

would increase future earnings and cash flows by approximately $6.5 million

At December 31 2008 the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $8.6 billion or 81.7%

of total debt net of the effects of
any

derivative instruments If market rates of interest permanently increased by 58 basis

points 10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the

Companys fixed rate debt would be approximately $7.8 billion If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 58

basis points 10% decrease from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the

Companys fixed rate debt would be approximately $9.5 billion

At December 31 2008 the Companys derivative instruments had net liability fair value of approximately

$19000 If market rates of interest permanently increased by 15 basis points 10% increase from the Companys existing

weighted average interest rates the net asset fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be approximately

$1.7 million If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 15 basis points 10% decrease from the Companys

existing weighted average interest rates the net liability fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be

approximately $1.8 million

At December 31 2007 the Company had total outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.9 billion or

20.2% of total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt

permanently increased by 53 basis points 10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the

increase in interest
expense on the floating rate debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately $10.2

million If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently decreased by 53 basis points 10% decrease

from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the decrease in interest expense on the floating rate debt

would increase future earnings and cash flows by approximately $10.2 million

At December 31 2007 the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $7.6 billion or 79.8%

of total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest permanently increased by 58 basis

points 10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the

Companys fixed rate debt would be approximately $6.9 billion If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 58

basis points 10% decrease from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the

Companys fixed rate debt would be approximately $8.4 billion
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At December 31 2007 the Companys derivative instruments had net liability fair value of approximately $10.6

million If market rates of interest permanently increased by 47 basis points 10% increase from the Companys existing

weighted average interest rates the net liability fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be

approximately $6.5 million If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 47 basis points 10% decrease from the

Companys existing weighted average interest rates the net liability fair value of the Companys derivative instruments

would be approximately $15.0 million

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on the Companys

financial instruments The foregoing assumptions apply to the entire amount of the Companys debt and derivative

instruments and do not differentiate among maturities These analyses do not consider the effects of the changes in overall

economic activity that could exist in such an environment Further in the event of changes of such magnitude

management would likely take actions to further mitigate its exposure to the changes However due to the uncertainty of

the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects this analysis assumes no changes in the Companys

financial structure or results

The Company cannot predict the effect of adverse changes in interest rates on its debt and derivative instruments

and therefore its exposure to market risk nor can there be any assurance that long-term debt will be available at

advantageous pricing Consequently future results may differ materially from the estimated adverse changes discussed

above

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-l of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Effective as of December 31 2008 the Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision

and with the participation of the Companys management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer of the effectiveness of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rules

3a- 15 and 5d- 15 Based on that evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that

the disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the

Company in its Exchange Act filings is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SECs rules and forms

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Equity Residentials management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal

control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 3a- 15f under the Exchange Act Under the

supervision and with the participation of management including the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Therefore even those systems determined to be effective can only provide reasonable assurance

with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation

Based on the Companys evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31
2008 Our internal control over financial reporting has been audited as of December 31 2008 by Ernst Young

LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which is included herein

49



Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to the internal control over financial reporting of the Company identified in

connection with the Companys evaluation referred to above that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2008 that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial

reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Items 10 11 12 13 and 14

Trustees Executive Officers and Corporate Governance Executive Compensation Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions and Trustee Independence and Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 10 Item 11 Item 12 Item 13 and Item 14 is incorporated by reference to and will

be contained in the Companys definitive proxy statement which the Company anticipates will be filed no later than

April 16 2009 and thus these items have been omitted in accordance with General Instruction to Form 10-K
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PART 1V

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Financial Statements See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-i of this Form 10

Exhibits See the Exhibit Index

Financial Statement Schedules See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-i of this

Form 10-K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

By Is David Neithercut

David Neithercut President and

Chief Executive Officer

Date February 26 2009



EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

ERP OPERATING LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN/WOMEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below

hereby constitutes and appoints David Neithercut Mark Parrell and Ian Kaufman or any of them his or her

attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution for him or her in any and all capacities

to do all acts and things which said attorneys and agents or any of them deem advisable to enable the company to

comply with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and any requirements or regulations of the Securities

and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in connection with the companys filing of an annual report on Form

10-K for the companys fiscal year 2008 including specifically but without limitation of the general authority hereby

granted the power and authority to sign his or her name as trustee or officer or both of the company as indicated

below opposite his or her signature to the Form 10-K and any amendment thereto and each of the undersigned does

hereby fully ratif and confirm all that said attorneys and agents or any of them or the substitute of any of them shall

do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities set forth below and on the dates indicated

Name Thle Da

Is David Neithercut President Chief Executive Officer and Trustee February 26 2009

David Neithercut

Is Mark Parrell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 26 2009

Mark Parrell

Is/Ian Kaufman First Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer February 26 2009

Ian Kaufman

Is John Alexander Trustee February 26 2009

John Alexander

Is Charles Atwood Trustee February 26 2009

Charles Atwood

Is Stephen Evans Trustee February 26 2009

Stephen Evans

Is Boone Knox Trustee February 26 2009

Boone Knox

Is John Neal Trustee February 26 2009

John Neal

Is Sheli Rosenberg Trustee February 26 2009

Sheli Rosenberg

Is/B Joseph White Trustee February 26 2009

Joseph White

Is Gerald Spector Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees February 26 2009

Gerald Spector

Is Samuel Zell Chairman of the Board of Trustees February 26 2009

Samuel Zell
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders

Equity Residential

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential the Company as of December

31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in shareholders equity and cash flows

for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also included the fmancial statement

schedule listed in the accompanying index to the consolidated financial statements and schedule These financial

statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Equity Residential at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related fmancial statement schedule when considered

in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the

information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Equity Residentials internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders

Equity Residential

We have audited Equity Residentials the Company internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO Criteria Equity Residentials management is responsible for

maintaining effective internal control over fmancial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over fmancial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such

other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis

for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of fmancial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over fmancial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management

and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

In our opinion Equity Residential maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO Criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related

consolidated statements of operations changes in shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the

period ended December 31 2008 of Equity Residential and our report dated February 20 2009 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2009
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Amounts in thousands except for share amounts

ASSETS

Investment in real estate

Land

Depreciable property

Proj ects under development

Land held for development

Investment in real estate

Accumulated depreciation

Investment in real estate net

December 31
2008

3671299

13908594

855473

254873

18690239

3561300
15128939

December 31
2007

3607305

13556681

828530

340834

18333350

3170125
15163225

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in unconsolidated entities

Deposits restricted

Escrow deposits mortgage

Deferred financing costs net

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Liabilities

Mortgage notes payable

Notes net

Lines of credit

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Other liabilities

Security deposits

Distributions payable

Total liabilities

890794

5795

152372

19729

53817

283664

16535110

5036930

5464316

108463

113846

289562

64355

141843

11219315

50831

3547

253276

20174

56271

142453

15689777

3605971

5763762

139000

109385

124717

322975

62159

141244

10269213

Commitments and contingencies

Minority Interests

Operating Partnership

Preference Interests and Units

Partially Owned Properties

Total Minority Interests

292797

184

25520

318501

331626

184

26236

358046

Shareholders equity

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value

100000000 shares authorized 1951475 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 1986475

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2007

Common Shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value

1000000000 shares authorized 272786760 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 269554661

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2007

Paid in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

208786 209662

2728

4340138

481441

35799
4997294

16535110

2696

4266538

599504

15882
5062518

15689777

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

Rental income 2092489 1937874 1693440

Fee and asset management 10715 9183 9101

Total revenues 2103204 1947057 1702541

EXPENSES

Property and maintenance 542371 505899 444290

Real estate taxes and insurance 217461 195359 160299

Property management 77063 87476 96178

Fee and asset management 7981 8412 8934

Depreciation 591162 562290 482683

General and administrative 44951 46767 44194

Impairment 122103 1726 34002

Total expenses 1603092 1407929 1270580

Operating income 500112 539128 431961

Interest and other income 33540 20144 30880

Interest

Expense incurred net 479101 482819 417576

Amortization of deferred financing costs 9701 10121 8077

Income before income and other taxes allocation to Minority Interests

loss income from investments in unconsolidated entities net gain on

sales of unconsolidated entities and land parcels and discontinued operations 44850 66332 37188

Income and other tax expense benefit 5286 2520 4346

Allocation to Minority Interests

Operating Partnership net 1735 2663 738

Preference Interests and Units 15 441 2002

Partially Owned Properties 2650 2200 3132

Premium on redemption of Preference Interests 684

Loss income from investments in unconsolidated entities 107 332 631

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities 2876 2629 370

Net gain on sales of land parcels 2976 6360 2792

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests 40909 67829 30293

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 379183 921793 1042551

Net income 420092 989622 1072844

Preferred distributions 14507 22792 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965

Net income available to Common Shares 405585 960676 1031766

Earnings per share basic

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.10 0.14 0.04

Net income available to Common Shares 1.50 3.44 3.56

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 270012 279406 290019

Earnings per share diluted

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.10 0.14 0.04

Net income available to Common Shares 1.49 3.39 3.56

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 290060 302235 290019

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding
1.93 1.87 1.79

See accompanying notes
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Comprehensive income

EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS Continued

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

Net income

Other comprehensive loss derivative instruments

Unrealized holding losses arising during the year

Losses reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income other instruments

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year

Comprehensive income

420092 989622 1072844

23815 3853 2043
2696 1954 2247

1202 27 258

400175 987750 1073306

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 420092 989622 1072844

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Allocation to Minority Interests

Operating Partnership 26928 65165 72574

Preference Interests and Units 15 441 2002

Partially Owned Properties 2650 2200 3132

Premium on redemption of Preference Interests 684

Depreciation 602908 616414 592637

Amortization of deferred financing costs 9701 11849 9134

Amortization of discounts and premiums on debt 3542 4990 6506

Amortization of discounts on corporate notes 365

Amortization of deferred settlements on derivative instruments 1317 575 841

Impairment 122103 1726 34353

Income from technology investments 4021

Loss income from investments in unconsolidated entities 107 332 631

Distributions from unconsolidated entities return on capital 116 102 171

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities 2876 2629 370

Net gain on sales of land parcels 2976 6360 2792

Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 392857 933013 1019603

Gain loss on debt extinguishments 18656 3339 12171

Unrealized loss gain on derivative instruments 500

Compensation paid with Company Common Shares 22311 21631 22080

Other operating activities net 19 555

Changes in assets and liabilities

Increase decrease in deposits restricted 2003 3406 2225

Increase decrease in other assets 1538 5352 975

Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses 821 9760 7637

Decrease increase in accrued interest payable 10871 33545 17192

Decrease increase in other liabilities 19412 1482 50727

Increase in security deposits 2196 4087 2914

Net cash provided by operating activities 755027 793128 755466

CASH FLOWS FROM IN VESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in real estate acquisitions 388083 1680074 1718105

Investment in real estate development/other 521546 480184 291338

Improvements to real estate 169838 252675 255180

Additions to non-real estate property 2327 7696 10652

Interest capitalized for real estate under development 60072 45107 20734

Proceeds from disposition of real estate net 887576 2012939 2318247

Proceeds from disposition of unconsolidated entities 2629 373

Proceeds from technology investments 4021

Investments in unconsolidated entities 191 1072

Distributions from unconsolidated entities return of capital 405 122 92

Investment in corporate notes/other 158367

Decrease increase in deposits on real estate acquisitions net 65395 245667 296589

Decrease in mortgage deposits
445 5354 10098

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES continued

Consolidation ofpreviously Unconsolidated Properties

Via EITF 04-5 cash consolidated

Acquisition of Minority Interests Partially Owned Properties

Other investing activities net

Net cash used for investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loan and bond acquisition costs

Mortgage notes payable

Proceeds

Restricted cash

Lump sum payoffs

Scheduled principal repayments

Prepayment premiums/fees

Notes net

Proceeds

Lump sum payoffs

Scheduled principal repayments

Gain on debt extinguishments

Lines of credit

Proceeds 6417500

Repayments 6726500
Payments on proceeds from settlement of derivative instruments 10722

Proceeds from sale of Common Shares 7972

Proceeds from exercise of options 69726
Common Shares repurchased and retired 83230
Redemption of Preferred Shares 115000
Redemption of Preference Interests 25500
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 27
Premium on redemption of Preference Interests 10
Payment of offering costs

Other financing activities net

Contributions Minority Interests Partially Owned Properties

Distributions

Common Shares

Preferred Shares

Preference Interests and Units

Minority Interests Operating Partnership

Minority Interests Partially Owned Properties ____________ ____________ ____________
Net cash provided by used for financing activities

_____________ _____________
Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year ____________ _____________ ____________
Cash and cash equivalents end of year

20
1200

343803 200645

2006

1436

71

259472

11662

267045

20193
466035

26967
12171

1039927

60000

4286

9233

1841453

37262

411391

24034
81

304043

18737

841000

980000

26781
6170

24634

12548

102
16

2083

522195

14521
15

34584
3056

428739

839963

50831

890794

26257

827831

113318

523299

24732
3339

1493030

150000

4286

17536000

17857000

2370

7165

28760

1221680

IDUUU

24

175
14

10267

526281

27008
453

35543
18943

801929

209446

260277

50831

125

9582

514055

39344
2054

36202
3658

324545
171449

88828

260277

See accompanying notes

F-8



EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest net of amounts capitalized 491803 457700 444654

Net cash received paid for income and other taxes 1252 1587 11750

Real estate acquisitions/dispositions/other

Mortgage loans assumed 24946 226196 126988

Valuation of OP Units issued 849 49591

Mortgage loans assumed by purchaser 76744 117949

Consolidation ofpreviously Unconsolidated Properties Via EITF 04-5

Investment in real estate net 24637

Mortgage loans consolidated 22545

Deferred financing costs net 265

Investments in unconsolidated entities 2602

Net other liabilities recorded 1191

Amortization of deferred financing costs

Investment in real estate net 1986 1521 45

Deferredfinancingcostsnet 11687 13370 9179

Amortization of discounts and premiums on debt

Investment in real estate net

Mortgage notes payable 6287 6252 6963

Notes net 2751 1262 457

Amortization of deft rred settlements on derivative instruments

Other liabilities 1379 1379 1406

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 2696 1954 2247

Unrealized loss gain on derivative instruments

Other assets 6680 2347 1079

Mortgage notes payable 6272 7492 2049

Notes net 1846 4323 551

Other liabilities 22877 5616 529

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 23815 3853 2043

Payments on proceeds from settlement of derivative instruments

Other assets 98 2375 10729

Other liabilities 26683

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Amounts in thousands

PREFERRED SHARES

Balance beginning of year

Redemption of 1/8% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Redemption of 8.60% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Conversion of 7.00% Series Cumulative Convertible

Conversion of 7.00% Series Cumulative Convertible

Balance end of year

COMMON SHARES $0.01 PAR VALUE
Balance beginning of year

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares

Conversion of Preference Interests into Common Shares

Conversion of OP Units into Common Shares

Exercise of share options

Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP
Share-based employee compensation expense

Restricted/performance shares

Common Shares repurchased and retired

Balance end of year

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

4266538

876

49884

24624

68

17273

5846

1289

7906
102

7304

17040
4340138

5349194

1911

11497

32430

28750

1278

15226

5345

1701

1226045

175
6130

6709
38842

4266538

5253188

2521

22993

27865

69699
C7A

1795

14938

5198

1578

83211
125

3938

674

9947
30120

5349194

209662 386574 504096

115000

175000

828 1818 2357
48 94 165

208786 209662 386574

2696 2936 2895

17 15 17

10 10 27

275 19
2728 2696 2936

PAID IN CAPITAL

Balance beginning of year

Common Share Issuance

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares

Conversion of Preference Interests into Common Shares

Conversion of OP Units into Common Shares

Exercise of share options

Pmnlr .hc/---J
Share-based employee compensation expense

Performance shares

Restricted shares

Share options

ESPP discount

Common Shares repurchased and retired

Offering costs

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares original issuance costs

Premium on redemption of Preference Interests original issuance costs

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP
Adjustment for Minority Interests ownership in Operating Partnership

Balance end of year

See accompanying notes

F- 10



EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

RETAINED EARNINGS DEFICIT
Balance beginning of year 599504 159528 350367

Net income 420092 989622 1072844

Common Share distributions 523648 520700 521871

Preferred Share distributions 14507 22792 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares cash charge 24 27
Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares original issuance costs 6130 3938

Balance end of year 481441 599504 159528

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Balance beginning of year 15882 14010 14472
Accumulated other comprehensive loss derivative instruments

Unrealized holding losses arising during the year 23815 3853 2043

Losses reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income 2696 1954 2247

Accumulated other comprehensive income other instruments

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year 1202 27 258

Balance end of year 35799 15882 14010

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Business

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an

SP 500 company focused on the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in top

United States growth markets EQR has elected to be taxed as REIT

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2008 owned an approximate 94.2% ownership interest

in ERP Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership The Company is

structured as an umbrella partnership REIT UPREIT under which all property ownership and related business

operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to the Company include

EQR the Operating Partnership and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership and/or EQR

As of December 31 2008 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities

owned all or portion of 548 properties in 23 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 147244 units The

ownership breakdown includes table does not include various uncompleted development properties

Properties Units

Wholly Owned Properties 477 127002

Partially Owned Properties

Consolidated 28 5757

Unconsolidated 41 9776

Military Housing Fee Managed 4709

548 147244

The Wholly Owned Properties are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting The

Company beneficially owns 100% fee simple title to 475 of the 477 Wholly Owned Properties and all but one of its

wholly owned development properties The Company owns the building and improvements and leases the land

underlying the improvements under long-term ground leases that expire in 2026 for one property 2077 for another

property and 2101 for the development property These properties are consolidated and reflected as real estate

assets while the ground leases are accounted for as operating leases in accordance with Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 13 Accounting for Leases

The Partially Owned Properties Consolidated are controlled by the Company but have partners with

minority interests and are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting The Partially Owned Properties

Unconsolidated are partially owned but not controlled by the Company and consist of investments in partnership

interests and/or subordinated mortgages that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting The Military

Housing Fee Managed properties consist of investments in limited liability companies that as result of the terms of

the operating agreements are accounted for as management contract rights with all fees recognized as fee and asset

management revenue

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Due to the Companys ability as general partner to control either through ownership or by contract the

Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries other than entities that own controlling interests in the Partially Owned

Properties Unconsolidated and certain other entities in which the Company has investments the Operating Partnership

and each such subsidiary has been consolidated with the Company for financial reporting purposes
Effective March

31 2004 the consolidated financial statements also include all variable interest entities for which the Company is

the primary beneficiary

The Companys mergers and acquisitions were accounted for as purchases in accordance with either

Accounting Principles Board APB Opinion No 16 Business Combinations or SFAS No 141 Business

Combinations SFAS No 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30 2001 be accounted for under

the purchase method of accounting The fair value of the consideration given by the Company in the mergers was

used as the valuation basis for each of the combinations The accompanying consolidated statements of operations

and cash flows include the results of the properties purchased through the mergers
and through acquisitions from

their respective closing dates
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Real Estate Assets andDepreciation of Investment in Real Estate

The Company allocates the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired

based on their fair values in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 141 In making estimates of fair values for

purposes of allocating purchase price the Company utilizes number of sources including independent appraisals that

may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective property our own analysis of recently

acquired and existing comparable properties in our portfolio and other market data The Company also considers

information obtained about each property as result of its pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and leasing activities

in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired The Company allocates the purchase price of

acquired real estate to various components as follows

Land Based on actual purchase price if acquired separately or market research/comparables if

acquired with an operating property

Furniture Fixtures and Equipment Ranges between $8000 and $13000 per apartment unit acquired

as an estimate of the fair value of the appliances and fixtures inside unit The per-unit amount

applied depends on the type of apartment building acquired Depreciation is calculated on the straight-

line method over an estimated useful life of five years

In-Place Leases The Company considers the value of acquired in-place leases that meet the

definition outlined in SFAS No 141 paragraph 37 The amortization period is the average remaining

term of each respective in-place acquired lease

Other Intangible Assets The Company considers whether it has acquired other intangible assets that

meet the definition outlined in SFAS No 141 paragraph 39 including any customer relationship

intangibles The amortization period is the estimated useful life of the acquired intangible asset

Building Based on the fair value determined on an as-if vacant basis Depreciation is calculated

on the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of thirty years

Replacements inside unit such as appliances and carpeting are depreciated over five-year estimated

useful life Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred and

significant renovations and improvements that improve and/or extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized over

their estimated useful life generally five to ten years Initial direct leasing costs are expensed as incurred as such

expense approximates the deferral and amortization of initial direct leasing costs over the lease terms Property

sales or dispositions are recorded when title transfers to unrelated third parties contingencies have been removed

and sufficient cash consideration has been received by the Company Upon disposition the related costs and

accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts Any gain or loss on sale is recognized in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

The Company classifies real estate assets as real estate held for disposition when it is certain property will be

disposed of in accordance with SFAS No 144 see further discussion below

The Company classifies properties under development and/or expansion and properties in the lease-up phase

including land as construction-in-progress until construction has been completed and all certificates of occupancy

permits have been obtained

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill

In June 2001 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets SFAS No 142 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and requires that goodwill be reviewed for

impairment at least annually In August 2001 the FASB issued SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets SFAS Nos 142 and 144 were effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15

2001 The Company adopted these standards effective January 2002 See Notes 13 and 19 for further discussion

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets including its investments in real estate and

goodwill for indicators of permanent impairment The judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators

are based on factors such as operational performance market conditions and legal and environmental concerns as

well as the Companys ability to hold and its intent with regard to each asset Future events could occur which

would cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and an impairment loss is warranted
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For long-lived assets to be held and used the Company compares the expected future undiscounted cash

flows for the long-lived asset against the carrying amount of that asset If the sum of the estimated undiscounted

cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset the Company further analyzes each individual asset for

other temporary or permanent indicators of impairment An impairment loss would be recorded for the difference

between the estimated fair value and the carrying amount of the asset if the Company deems this difference to be

permanent

For long-lived assets to be disposed of an impairment loss is recognized when the estimated fair value of

the asset less the estimated cost to sell is less than the carrying amount of the asset measured at the time that the

Company has determined it will sell the asset Long-lived assets held for disposition and the related liabilities are

separately reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or their estimated fair values less their costs to sell and

are not depreciated after reclassification to real estate held for disposition

Cost Capitalization

See the Real Estate Assets and Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate section for discussion of the

policy with respect to capitalization vs expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance costs In addition the

Company capitalizes the payroll and associated costs of employees directly responsible for and who spend all of

their time on the supervision of major capital and/or renovation projects These costs are reflected on the balance

sheet as an increase to depreciable property

The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No 67 Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of
Real Estate Projects for all development projects and uses its professional judgment in determining whether such

costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred The Company capitalizes interest real

estate taxes and insurance and payroll and associated costs for those individuals directly responsible for and who

spend all of their time on development activities with capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following

issuance of the certificate of occupancy These costs are reflected on the balance sheet as construction-in-progress

for each specific property The Company expenses as incurred all payroll costs of on-site employees working

directly at our properties except as noted above on our development properties prior to certificate of
occupancy

issuance and on specific major renovation at selected properties when additional incremental employees are hired

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all demand deposits money market accounts and investments in certificates of deposit

and repurchase agreements purchased with maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash

equivalents The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions The combined account

balances at one or more institutions typically exceed the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance

coverage and as result there is concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance

coverage The Company believes that the risk is not significant as the Company does not anticipate the financial

institutions non-performance

Investment Securities

Investment securities are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No 115 Accounting for Certain Investments

in Debt and Equity Securities and included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets These securities are

classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost if management has the positive intent and ability to hold the

securities to maturity Otherwise the securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at estimated fair value with

unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income loss separate component of

shareholders equity

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain the Companys lines of credit and long-term

financings These costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt Unamortized financing costs are written off

when debt is retired before the maturity date The accumulated amortization of such deferred financing costs was $31.4

million and $28.0 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Including Derivative Instruments

The Company follows the guidance under SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements when valuing its

financial instruments The valuation of financial instruments under SFAS No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value of
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Financial Instruments and SFAS No 133 and its amendments SFAS Nos 137/138/149 Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect

the fair value of the instruments The Company where possible bases the fair values of its financial instruments

including its derivative instruments on listed market prices and third party quotes Where these are not available

the Company bases its estimates on current instruments with similar terms and maturities or on other factors

relevant to the financial instruments

In the normal course of business the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes The

Company limits these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of

derivatives to hedge interest rate risk on debt instruments

The Company has policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their

credit ratings and other factors When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that the

derivatives are designed to hedge the Company has not sustained material loss from those instruments nor does it

anticipate any material adverse effect on its net income or financial position in the future from the use of

derivatives

On January 2001 the Company adopted SFAS No 133 and its amendments SFAS Nos 137/138/149

which requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial

position and to measure those instruments at fair value Additionally the fair value adjustments will affect either

shareholders equity or net income depending on whether the derivative instruments qualifi as hedge for

accounting purposes and if so the nature of the hedging activity When the terms of an underlying transaction are

modified or when the underlying transaction is terminated or completed all changes in the fair value of the

instrument are marked-to-market with changes in value included in net income each period until the instrument

matures Any derivative instrument used for risk management that does not meet the hedging criteria of SFAS No

133 is marked-to-market each period The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes

The fair value of the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $5.0 billion

and $4.7 billion respectively at December 31 2008 The fair values of the Companys financial instruments other than

mortgage notes payable unsecured notes and derivative instruments including cash and cash equivalents lines of credit

and other financial instruments approximate their carrying or contract values See Note 11 for further discussion of

derivative and other fair value instruments

Revenue Recognition

Rental income attributable to residential leases is recorded on straight-line basis which is not materially

different than if it were recorded when due from residents and recognized monthly as it was earned Leases entered into

between resident and property for the rental of an apartment unit are generally year-to-year renewable upon consent

of both parties on an annual or monthly basis Fee and asset management revenue and interest income are recorded on an

accrual basis

Share-Based Compensation

The Company adopted SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payment as required effective January 2006

SFAS No 123R requires all companies to expense
share-based compensation such as share options as well as

making other revisions to SFAS No 123 As the Company began expensing all share-based compensation effective

January 2003 the adoption of SFAS No 123R did not have material effect on its consolidated statements of

operations or financial position

The cost related to share-based employee compensation included in the determination of net income for the

years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is equal to that which would have been recognized if the fair value

based method had been applied to all awards since the original effective date of SFAS No 123R

The fair value of the option grants as computed under SFAS No 123R would be recognized over the vesting

period of the options The fair value for the Companys share options was estimated at the time the share options were

granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions
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2008 2007 2006

Expected volatility 20.3% 18.9% 19.1%

Expected life years years years

Expected dividend yield 4.95% 5.4 1% 6.04%

Pid.-_fr rf f7O 740L

Option valuation per share $4.08 $6.26 $4.22

Expected volatility
Estimated based on the historical volatility of EQRs share price on monthly basis for period

matching the expected life of each grant

Expected life Approximates the actual weighted average life of all share options granted since the Company went

public in 1993

Expected dividend yield Calculated by averaging the historical annual yield on EQR shares for period matching the

expected life of each grant with the annual yield calculated by dividing actual dividends by the average price of EQRs
shares in given year

Risk-free interest rate The most current U.S Treasury rate available prior to the grant date for period matching the

expected life of each grant

The valuation method and assumptions are the same as those the Company used in accounting for option

expense in its consolidated financial statements The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in

estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable This model is only

one method of valuing options and the Companys use of this model should not be interpreted as an endorsement of its

accuracy Because the Companys share options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options

and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate in managements

opinion the existing models do not necessarily provide reliable single measure of the fair value of its share options and

the actual value of the options may be significantly different

Income and Other Taxes

Due to the structure of the Company as REIT and the nature of the operations of its operating properties no

provision for federal income taxes has been made at the EQR level Historically the Company has generally only

incurred certain state and local income excise and franchise taxes The Company has elected Taxable REIT Subsidiary

TRS status for certain of its corporate subsidiaries primarily those entities engaged in condominium conversion and

corporate housing activities and as result these entities will incur both federal and state income taxes on any taxable

income of such entities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for fi.iture tax consequences attributed to differences between

the fmancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases These assets and

liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates for which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or

settled The effect of deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in earnings in the period enacted The Companys
deferred tax assets are generally the result of tax affected amortization of goodwill differing depreciable lives on

capitalized assets and the timing of expense recognition for certain accrued liabilities As of December 31 2008 the

Company has recorded deferred tax asset of approximately $38.5 million which was fully offset by valuation

allowance due to the uncertainty in forecasting future TRS taxable income

The Company provided for income franchise and excise taxes allocated as follows in the consolidated

statements of operations for the years ended December 31 20082007 and 2006 amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

Income and other tax expense benefit 5286 2520 4346
Discontinued operations net of minority interests 1848 7309 3547

Provision for income franchise and excise taxes 3438 4789 7893

Primarily includes state and local income excise and franchise taxes In 2006 also includes $2.9 million of federal

income taxes related to forfeited deposit on terminated sale transaction and included in income from continuing

operations

Primarily represents federal income taxes recovered incurred on the gains on sales of condominium units owned by

TRS and included in discontinued operations Also represents state and local income excise and franchise taxes on
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operating properties sold and included in discontinued operations

All provision for income tax amounts are current and none are deferred

The Company carried back approximately $7.3 million and $13.9 million of net operating losses NOL
during the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively and none were carried back in 2006 The Company

has $13.7 million of NOL canyforwards available as of January 2009 which will expire in 2028

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Companys tax treatment of dividends and

distributions were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

Tax treatment of dividends and distributions

Ordinary dividends 0.699 1.276

Qualified dividends 0.090

Long-term capital gain 0.755 1.426 0.330

Unrecaptured section 1250 gain 0.476 0.444 0.094

Dividends and distributions declared per

Common Share outstanding 1.930 1.870 1.790

The cost of land and depreciable property net of accumulated depreciation for federal income tax purposes as

of December 31 2008 and 2007 was approximately $10.7 billion and $9.7 billion respectively

Minority Interests

Operating Partnership Net income is allocated to minority interests based on their respective ownership

percentage of the Operating Partnership The ownership percentage is calculated by dividing the number of units of

limited partnership interest OP Units held by the minority interests by the total OP Units held by the minority interests

and EQR Issuance of additional common shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value per share the Common

Shares and OP Units changes the ownership interests of both the minority interests and EQR Such transactions and

the related proceeds are treated as capital transactions

Partially Owned Properties The Company reflects minority interests in partially owned properties on the

balance sheet for the portion of properties consolidated by the Company that are not wholly owned by the Company The

earnings or losses from those properties attributable to the minority interests are reflected as minority interests in partially

owned properties in the consolidated statements of operations

Use of Estimates

In preparation of the Companys fmancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from these estimates

Reclasstlcations

Certain reclassifications considered necessary for fair presentation have been made to the prior period

financial statements in order to conform to the current year presentation These reclassifications have not changed the

results of operations or shareholders equity

Other

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation FIN No 46 Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities as

required effective March 31 2004 The adoption required the consolidation of all previously unconsolidated

development projects The Company does not have any unconsolidated FIN No 46 assets FIN No 46 requires the

Company to consolidate the assets liabilities and results of operations of the activities of variable interest entity

which for the Company includes only its development partnerships if the Company is entitled to receive majority

of the entitys residual returns and/or is subject to majority of the risk of loss from such entitys activities The

Company provides substantially all of the capital for its development partnerships other than third party mortgage

debt if any and as such is clearly the primary beneficiary of the risks and rewards of ownership The adoption of
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FIN No 46 did not have any effect on net income as the aggregate results of operations of these development

properties were previously included in income loss from investments in unconsolidated entities

In December 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8
Disclosures by Public Entities Enterprises about Transfers of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable Interest

Entities FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8 FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8 amends SFAS No 140 Accounting for

Trnnv Ion nncl .coruirho nI Rinnnrinl evotc mn/-I RvtinoficyInonto nI Timlilitioc tn renuiro nillir rnmn1npc fn

provide additional disclosures abouttransfers of flnancial assets It also amends FIN 46R to require public

enterprises including sponsors that have variable interest in VIE to provide additional disclosures about their

involvement with VIEs FAS 140-4 and FiN 46R-8 are effective for the Company for the year ended December

31 2008 and affects disclosures only The adoption of this standard has no impact on the Companys consolidated

results of operations or financial position

The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No 150 and FSP No FAS 150-3 Accountingfor

Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity effective December 31 2003

SFAS No 150 and FSP No FAS 150-3 require the Company to make certain disclosures regarding noncontrolling

interests that are classified as equity in the financial statements of subsidiary but would be classified as liability

in the parents financial statements under SFAS No 150 e.g minority interests in consolidated limited-life

subsidiaries The Company is presently the controlling partner in various consolidated partnerships consisting of

28 properties and 5757 units and various uncompleted development properties having minority interest book

value of $25.5 million at December 3i 2008 Some of these partnerships contain provisions that require the

prtneiships be iiquiuaiu thiough uiC 5diC 01 itS a5sts upon rcciiiiig uaie spuineu ifi adn tespecilve

partnership agreement The Company as controlling partner has an obligation to cause the property owning

partnerships to distribute proceeds of liquidation to the Minority Interests in these Partially Owned Properties only

to the extent that the net proceeds received by the partnerships from the sale of its assets warrant distribution based

on the partnership agreements As of December 31 2008 the Company estimates the value of Minority Interest

distributions would have been approximately $71.6 million Settlement Value had the partnerships been

liquidated This Settlement Value is based on estimated third party consideration realized by the partnerships upon

disposition of the Partially Owned Properties and is net of all other assets and liabilities including yield

maintenance on the mortgages encumbering the properties that would have been due on December 31 2008 had

those mortgages been prepaid Due to among other things the inherent uncertainty in the sale of real estate assets

the amount of any potential distribution to the Minority Interests in the Companys Partially Owned Properties is

subject to change To the extent that the partnerships underlying assets are worth less than the underlying

liabilities the Company has no obligation to remit
any

consideration to the Minority Interests in Partially Owned

Properties

In July 2006 the FASB ratified the consensus in FIN No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN No 48 creates single model to address uncertainty in income tax positions and prescribes minimum

recognition threshold tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements It also

provides guidance on derecognition measurement classification interest and penalties accounting in interim

periods disclosure and transition and clearly scopes
income taxes out of SPAS No Accounting for

Contingencies The Company adopted FIN No 48 as required effective January 2007 The adoption of FIN No
48 did not have material effect on the consolidated results of operations or financial position

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 defines

fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States and expands disclosure about fair value measurements The Company adopted SPAS

No 157 as required effective January 2008 The adoption of SPAS No 157 did not have material effect on the

consolidated results of operations or financial position See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP No FAS 157-2 Effective Date of FASB Statement No 157 PAS
157-2 which delays the effective date of SFAS No 157 for all nonfinancial assets and liabilities except those that

are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on recurring basis at least annually FAS

157-2 partially defers the effective date of SFAS No 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 and as

result is effective for the Company beginning January 2009 The Company does not expect the adoption of this

FSP to have material effect on the consolidated results of operations or financial position

In October 2008 the FASB issued FSP No FAS 157-3 Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset

When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active PAS 157-3 FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of SPAS No 157

in market that is not active and became effective upon issuance including prior periods for which financial
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statements have not been issued The adoption of FAS 157-3 did not have material effect on the Companys

consolidated results of operations or financial position

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities SFAS No 159 provides Fair Value Option under which company may irrevocably elect

fair value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for certain financial instruments The Fair Value

Option will be available on contract-by-contract basis with changes in fair value recognized in earnings as those

changes occur SFAS No 159 is effective beginning January 2008 but the Company has decided not to adopt

this optional standard

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business Combinations SFAS No 141R will

significantly change the accounting for business combinations Under SFAS No 141R an acquiring entity will be

required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair value

with limited exceptions SFAS No 141R will change the accounting treatment for certain specific acquisition

related items including expensing acquisition related costs as incurred valuing noncontrolling interests at

fair value at the acquisition date and expensing restructuring costs associated with an acquired business SFAS

No 141R also includes substantial number of new disclosure requirements SFAS No 14 1R is to be applied

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 2009 Due to the

current decline in the Companys acquisition activities the initial adoption of SFAS No 141R is not expected to

have material effect on the consolidated results of operations or financial position

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements SFAS No 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of subsidiary It clarifies that noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

minority interest is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the

consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent companys equity Among other requirements this

statement requires consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both

the parent and the noncontrolling interest It also requires disclosure on the face of the Consolidated Statements of

Operations of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest

This statement is effective for the Company on January 2009 Other than the presentation changes required to the

consolidated financial statements the initial adoption of SFAS No 160 is not expected to have material effect on

the consolidated results of operations or financial position

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS No 161 is intended to improve financial standards

for derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to better

understand their effects on an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows Among other

requirements entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about how and why an entity uses derivative

instruments how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No 133 and its

related interpretations and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial

position financial performance and cash flows SFAS No 161 is effective for the Company on January 2009

Other than the enhanced disclosure requirements the adoption of SFAS No 161 is not expected to have material

effect on the consolidated financial statements

In May 2008 the FASB issued FSP No APB 14-1 Accountingfor Convertible Debt Instruments That May

Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion Including Partial Cash Settlement APB 14-1 APB 14-1 requires the

issuer of certain convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash on conversion to separately account for the

liability and equity components of the instrument in manner that reflects the issuers nonconvertible debt

borrowing rate APB 14-1 which is applied retrospectively is effective for the Company beginning January

2009 The adoption of APB 14-1 will affect the accounting for the Operating Partnerships $650.0 million $548.6

million outstanding at December 31 2008 3.8 5% convertible unsecured notes with maturity date of August 2026

The Company believes that APB 14-1 will result in reduction to earnings of approximately $9.0 million in 2009

assuming it does not repurchase any additional amounts of this debt

Shareholders Equity and Minority Interests

The following tables present the changes in the Companys issued and outstanding Common Shares and

OP Units for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006
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Common Shares

Common Shares outstanding at January

Common Shares Issued

Conversion of Series Preferred Shares

Conversion of Series Preferred Shares

Conversion of Preference Interests

Conversion of OP Units

Exercise of options

Employee Share Purchase Plan

Dividend Reinvestment DRIP Plan

Restricted share grants net

Common Shares Other

Repurchased and retired

Common Shares outstanding at December 31

OP Units

OP Units outstanding at January

OP Units issued through acquisitions/consolidations

Conversion of OP Units to Common Shares

OP Units outstanding at December 31

Total Common Shares and OP Units outstanding at December 31

OP Units Ownership Interest in Operating Partnership

OP Units Issued

Consolidations per unit

Consolidations valuation

2008 2007 2006

269554661 293551633 289536344

104904

9554

679686

1653988

2647776

213427

169

352433 603697

19914583 20424245

1144326

1494263 1653988

18420320 19914583

287974981 313466216

6.4% 6.4%

As of February 2009 an unlimited amount of equity securities remains available for issuance by the

Company under registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in December

2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically expires on December 15

2011 and does not contain maximum issuance amount

On April 27 May 24 and December 2007 the Board of Trustees approved an increase of $200.1 million

an additional $500.0 million and an additional $500.0 million respectively to the Companys authorized share

repurchase program Considering the above additional authorizations and the repurchase activity for the year ended

December 31 2008 EQR has authorization to repurchase an additional $467.7 million of its shares as of December

31 2008

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company repurchased 220085 of its Common Shares at an

average price of $35.93 per
share for total consideration of $7.9 million These shares were retired subsequent to

the repurchases Of the total shares repurchased 120085 shares were repurchased from employees at an average

price of $36.10 per share the average of the then current market prices to cover the minimum statutory tax

withholding obligations related to the vesting of employees restricted shares The remaining 100000 shares were

repurchased in the open market at an average price of $35.74 per share The Company also funded $4.6 million in

January 2008 for the settlement of 125000 Common Shares that were repurchased in December 2007 and recorded

as other liabilities at December 31 2007

During the year
ended December 31 2007 the Company repurchased 27484346 of its Common Shares at

an average price of $44.62 per share for total consideration of $1.2 billion These shares were retired subsequent to

the repurchases Of the total shares repurchased 84046 shares were repurchased from employees at an average

price of $53.85 per share the average of the then current market prices to cover the minimum statutory tax

withholding obligations related to the vesting of employees restricted shares The remaining 27400300 shares

were repurchased in the open market at an average price of $44.59 per share As of December 31 2007

transactions to repurchase 125000 of the 27484346 Common Shares had not yet settled As of December 31

2007 the Company has reduced the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding by this amount and recorded

liability of $4.6 million included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets

80895

5463

324484

1494263

1040765

189071

36830

2750

1759560

995129

195961

461954

220085 27484346 1897912

272786760 269554661 293551633

18420320

19017

1759560

16679777

289466537

5.8%

$44.64

$0.8 million

$43.34

$49.6 million
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During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company repurchased 1897912 of its Common Shares in

the open market at an average price of $43.85 per share The Company paid approximately $83.2 million for these

shares which were retired subsequent to the repurchases

The equity positions of various individuals and entities that contributed their properties to the Operating

Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively referred to as the Minority Interests Operating

Partnership Subject to certain restrictions the Minority Interests Operating Partnership may exchange their OP

Units for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis

Net proceeds from the Companys Common Share and Preferred Share see definition below offerings are

contributed by the Company to the Operating Partnership In return for those contributions EQR receives number

of OP Units in the Operating Partnership equal to the number of Common Shares it has issued in the equity offering

or in the case of preferred equity offering number of preference units in the Operating Partnership equal in

number and having the same terms as the Preferred Shares issued in the equity offering As result the net

offering proceeds from Common Shares and Preferred Shares are allocated between shareholders equity and

Minority Interests Operating Partnership to account for the change in their respective percentage ownership of the

underlying equity of the Operating Partnership

The Companys declaration of trust authorizes the Company to issue up to 100000000 preferred shares of

beneficial interest $0.01 par value per
share the Preferred Shares with specific rights preferences and other

attributes as the Board of Trustees may determine which may include preferences powers and rights that are senior

to the rights of holders of the Companys Common Shares

The following table presents the Companys issued and outstanding Preferred Shares as of December 31

2008 and 2007

Amounts in thousands

Annual

Redemption Conversion Dividend per December 31 December 31

Date Rate Share 2008 2007

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value

100000000 shares authorized

7.00% Series Cumulative Convertible Preferred 11/1/98 1.1128 $1.75 8225 9053

liquidation value $25 per share 329016 and 362116 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2008 and December

31 2007 respectively

7.00% Series Cumulative Convertible Preferred 6/30/98 1.4480 $1.75 561 609

liquidation
value $25 per share 22459 and 24359 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2008 and December

31 2007 respectively

8.29% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 12/10/26 N/A $4145 50000 50000

liquidation value $50 per share 1000000 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31 2008 and December 31 2007

6.48% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 6/19/08 N/A $16.20 150000 150000

liquidation value $250 per share 600000 shares issued and

outstanding at December31 2008 and December31 2007
_____________

208786 209662

On or after the redemption date redeemable preferred shares Series and may be redeemed for cash at the option of

the Company in whole or in part at redemption price equal to the liquidation price per share plus accrued and unpaid

distributions if any

On or after the redemption date convertible preferred shares Series may be redeemed under certain circumstances

at the option of the Company for cash in the case of Series or Common Shares in the case of Series in whole or in

part at various redemption prices per share based upon the contractual conversion rate plus accrued and unpaid

distributions if any

Dividends on all series of Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at various pay dates The dividend listed for Series is

Preferred Share rate and the equivalent Depositary Share annual dividend is $1.62 per share
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The Series Preferred Shares have corresponding depositary share that consists of ten times the number of shares and
one-tenth the liquidation value and dividend per share

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company redeemed for cash all 700000 shares of its 8.60%
Series Preferred Shares with liquidation value of $175.0 million The Company recorded the write-off of

approximately $6.1 million in original issuance costs as premium on redemption of Preferred Shares in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company redeemed for cash all 460000 shares of its 9.125%
Series Preferred Shares with liquidation value of $115.0 million The Company recorded the write-off of

approximately $4.0 million in original issuance costs as premium on redemption of Preferred Shares in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company issued an irrevocable notice to redeem for cash

all 230000 units of its 7.625% Series Preference Interests with liquidation value of $11.5 million This notice

triggered the holders accelerated conversion right which they exercised As result the 230000 units were

converted into 324484 Common Shares

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company redeemed for cash all of its 7.875% Series

Preference Interests with liquidation value of $25.5 million The Company recorded approximately $0.7 million as

premium on redemption of Preference Interests Minority Interests in the accompanying consolidated statements

of operations

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company issued irrevocable notices to redeem for cash all

460000 units of its 7.625% Series and Preference Interests with liquidation value of $23.0 million This

notice triggered the respective holders accelerated conversion rights which they exercised As result the

460000 units were converted into 679686 Common Shares

The following table presents the Operating Partnerships issued and outstanding Junior Convertible

Preference Units the Junior Preference Units as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Amounts in thousands

Annual

Redemption Conversion Dividend December 31 December 31

Date Rate per Unit 2008 2007

Junior Preference Units

Series Junior Convertible Preference Units 7/29/09 1.020408 $2.00 184 184

liquidation value $25 per unit 7367 units issued

and outstanding at December 31 2008 and

December 31 2007

184 184

Dividends on the Junior Preference Units are payable quarterly at various pay dates

On or after the tenth anniversary of the issuance the Redemption Date the Series Junior Preference Units may be

converted into OP Units at the option of the Operating Partnership based on the contractual conversion rate Prior to the

Redemption Date the holders may elect to convert the Series Junior Preference Units to OP Units under certain

circumstances based on the contractual conversion rate The contractual rate is based
upon ratio dependent upon the

closing price of EQRs Common Shares

Real Estate

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for investment in real estate at cost as of December 31
2008 and 2007 amounts in thousands
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2008 2007

Land 3671299 3607305

Depreciable property

Buildings and improvements 12836310 12665706

Furniture fixtures and equipment 1072284 890975

Projects under development

Land 175355 225960

Construction-in-progress 680118 602570

Land held for development

Land 205757 296129

Construction-in-progress 49116 44705

Investment in real estate 18690239 18333350

Accumulated depreciation 3561300 3170125
Investment in real estate net 15128939 15163225

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company acquired the entire equity interest in the following

from unaffiliated parties @urchase price in thousands

Purchase

Properties Units Price

Rental Properties 2141 380683

Uncompleted Developments 31705

Military Housing Fee Managed 978

Total 3119 412388

The Company assumed management of 978 housing units at McChord Air Force Base in Washington state and invested

$2.4 million towards its redevelopment McChord AFB adjoins Ft Lewis U.S Army base at which the Company

already manages 3731 units

The Company also acquired all of its partners interests in one partially owned property containing 144

units for $5.9 million and three partially owned land parcels for $1.6 million In addition the Company made an

additional payment of $1.3 million related to an April 2006 acquisition of partners interest in now wholly-

owned property partially funded through the issuance of 19017 OP Units valued at $0.8 million

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company acquired the entire equity interest in the

following from unaffiliated parties purchase price in thousands

Purchase

Properties Units Price

Rental Properties 36 8167 1686435

Land Parcels eight 212841

Total 36 8167 1899276

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company disposed of the following to unaffiliated parties

sales price in thousands

Properties Units Sales Price

Rental Properties

Wholly Owned 38 9457 862099

Partially Owned Unconsolidated 670 34600

Condominium Conversion Properties 130 26101

Land Parcel one _____________ 3300

Total 45 10257 926100

The Company owned 25% interest in these unconsolidated rental properties Sales price listed is the gross sales price
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The Company recognized net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $392.9 million

net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities of approximately $2.9 million and net gain on sales of land parcels of

approximately $3.0 million on the above sales

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company disposed of the following to unaffiliated parties

sales price in thousands

Properties Units Sales Price

Rental Properties

Wholly Owned 72 21163 1918673

Partially Owned Unconsolidated 400 21000

Condominium Conversion Properties 617 164226

Land Parcels two
______________

49959

Total 78 22180 2153858

The Company owned 25% interest in this unconsolidated rental property Sales price listed is the gross sales price

The Company recognized net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $933.0 million

net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities of approximately $2.6 million and net gain on sales of land parcels of

approximately $6.4 million on the above sales

Commitments to Acquire/Dispose of Real Estate

As of February 2009 the Company had entered into an agreement to acquire one land parcel for $23.5

million

As of February 2009 in addition to the three properties that were subsequently disposed of as discussed

in Note 21 the Company had entered into separate agreements to dispose of the following sales price in

thousands

Properties Units Sales Price

Rental Properties

Wholly Owned 1232 128600

Partially Owned Unconsolidated 216 21700

Total 10 1448 150300

The closings of these pending transactions are subject to certain conditions and restrictions therefore there can

be no assurance that these transactions will be consummated or that the fmal terms will not differ in material respects

from those summarized in the preceding paragraphs

Investments in Partially Owned Entities

The Company has co-invested in various properties with unrelated third parties which are either consolidated or

accounted for under the equity method of accounting unconsolidated The following table summarizes the Companys
investments in partially owned entities as of December 31 2008 amounts in thousands except for project and unit

amounts
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Consolidated Unconsolidated

Development Projects

Held for Completed Completed Institutional

and/or Under Not and Joint

Development Stabilized Stabilized Other Total Ventures

Total projects
21 28 41

Total units 410 1405 3942 5757 9776

Debt Secured

EQR Ownership 517543 76708 141206 287986 1023443 121200

Minority Ownership 14228 14228 363600

Total at 100% 517543 76708 141206 302214 1037671 484800

Project and unit counts exclude all uncompleted development projects until those projects are completed

All debt is non-recourse to the Company with the exception of $111.8 million in mortgage debt on various development

projects

Represents the Companys current economic ownership interest

Projects included here are substantially complete However they may still require additional exterior and interior work

for all units to be available for leasing

Mortgage debt is also partially
collateralized by $33.4 million in unconsolidated restricted cash set aside from the net

proceeds of property sales

Deposits Restricted

The following table presents the Companys restricted deposits as of December 31 2008 and 2007 amounts in

thousands

December 31 December 31

2008 2007

Taxdeferred 1031 exchange proceeds 63795

Earnest money on pending acquisitions 1200 3050

Restricted deposits on debt 96229 133491

Resident security and utility deposits 41478 39889

Other 13465 13051

Totals 152372 253276

Primarily represents amounts held in escrow by the lender and released as draw requests are made on fully funded

development mortgage loans

Mortgage Notes Payable

As of December 31 2008 the Company had outstanding mortgage debt of approximately $5.0 billion

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company

Repaid $435.4 million of mortgage loans

Assumed $24.9 million of mortgage debt on an uncompleted development property in connection with its

acquisition

Obtained $500.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11.5 year cross-

collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for 10.5 years at 5.19% secured by 13 properties

Obtained $550.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11.5 year cross-

collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for 10.5 years at approximately 6% secured by 15

properties

Obtained $543.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an year cross-collateralized

loan with fixed stated interest rate for years at approximately 6% secured by 18 properties and

Obtained an additional $248.5 million of new mortgage loans primarily on development properties
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The Company recorded approximately $81000 and $131000 of prepayment penalties and write-offs of

unamortized deferred financing costs respectively as additional interest related to debt extinguishment of mortgages

during the year ended December31 2008

As of December 31 2008 scheduled maturities for the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness were at

various dates through September 2048 At December 31 2008 the interest rate range on the Companys mortgage

debt was 0.60% to 12.465% During the year ended December 31 2008 the weighted average inteiest rate on the

Companys mortgage debt was 5.18%

The historical cost net of accumulated depreciation of encumbered properties was $6.5 billion and $5.3 billion

at December31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Aggregate payments of principal on mortgage notes payable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as

follows amounts in thousands

Year Total

2009 635818

2010 454701

2011 672526

2012 163276

2013 167347

Thereafter 2943262
Total 5036930

As of December 31 2007 the Company had outstanding mortgage debt of approximately $3.6 billion

During the year ended December31 2007 the Company

Repaid $548.0 million of mortgage loans

Assumed $226.2 million of mortgage debt on certain properties in connection with their acquisitions

Obtained $827.8 million of new mortgage loans on certain properties and

Was released from $76.7 million of mortgage debt assumed by the purchaser on disposed properties

The Company recorded approximately $3.3 million and $3.6 million of prepayment penalties and write-offs of

unamortized deferred financing costs respectively as additional interest related to debt extinguishment of mortgages

during the year ended December31 2007

As of December 31 2007 scheduled maturities for the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness were at

various dates through September 2045 At December 31 2007 the interest rate range on the Companys mortgage

debt was 3.00% to 12.465% During the year ended December 31 2007 the weighted average interest rate on the

Companys mortgage debt was 5.74%

Notes

The following tables sunmiarize the Companys unsecured note balances and certain interest rate and maturity

date information as of and for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Net Interest Weighted Maturity

December 31 2008 Principal Rate Average Date

Amounts are in thousands Balance Ranges Interest Rate Ranges

Fixed Rate Public/Private Notes 4701372 3.85% 7.57% 5.69% 2009-2026

Floating Rate Public/Private Notes 651554 3.89% 2009-2010

Fixed Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 75790 5.20% 5.07% 2029

Floating Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 35600 1.05% 2028

Totals 5464316
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Net Interest Weighted Maturity

December 31 2007 Principal Rate Average Date

Amounts are in thousands Balance Ranges Interest Rate Ranges

Fixed Rate Public/Private Notes 5002664 3.85% 7.57% 5.65% 2008 2026

Floating Rate Public/Private Notes 649708 6.15% 2009-2010

Fixed Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 111390 4.75% 5.20% 5.05% 2028 2029

Totals 5763762

At December 31 2008 $150.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts portion of the $227.4 million

face value 4.750% notes due June 15 2009 to floating interest rate At December 31 2007 $150.0 million in

fair value interest rate swaps converts 50% of the $300.0 million face value 4.750% notes due June 15 2009 to

floating interest rate

The floating interest rate is based on the 7-Day Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association SIFMA
rate which is the tax-exempt index equivalent of LIBOR At December 31 2008 the interest rate is 0.75%

The Companys unsecured public debt contains certain financial and operating covenants including among

other things maintenance of certain financial ratios The Company was in compliance with its unsecured public debt

covenants for both the years ended December31 2008 and 2007

As of February 2009 an unlimited amount of debt securities remains available for issuance by the Operating

Partnership under registration statement that became automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in December

2008 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically expires on December 21 2011 and

does not contain maximumissuance amount

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company

Repurchased $72.6 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 at discount to par

of approximately 1.0% and recognized debt extinguishment gains of $0.7 million and wrote-off

approximately $0.1 million of unamortized deferred financing costs

Repurchased $101.4 million of its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 15 2026 at

discount to par of approximately 17.7% and recognized debt extinguishment gains of $18.0 million

and wrote-off approximately $0.8 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and

Repaid $130.0 million of fixed rate private notes at maturity

During the
year

ended December 31 2007 the Company

Issued $350.0 million of five-year 5.50% fixed rate public notes receiving net proceeds of $346.1

million

Issued $650.0 million of ten-year 5.75% fixed rate public notes receiving net proceeds of $640.6

million

Obtained three-year $500.0 million floating rate term loan see below

Repaid $150.0 million of fixed-rate public notes at maturity and

Repaid $4.3 million of other unsecured notes

On October 11 2007 the Operating Partnership closed on $500.0 million senior unsecured term loan The

loan matures on October 2010 subject to two one-year extension options exercisable by the Operating Partnership

The Operating Partnership has the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $250.0 million under certain

circumstances Advances under the loan bear interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR plus spread currently

0.50% dependent upon the current credit rating on the Operating Partnerships long-term senior unsecured debt EQR
has guaranteed the Operating Partnerships term loan up to the maximumamount and for the full term of the loan

On August 23 2006 the Operating Partnership issued $650.0 million of exchangeable senior notes that mature

on August 15 2026 Following the repurchases discussed above the notes had face value of $548.6 million at

December 31 2008 The notes bear interest at fixed rate of 3.85% The notes are exchangeable into EQR Common

Shares at the option of the holders under specific circumstances or on or after August 15 2025 at an initial exchange

rate of 16.3934 shares per $1000 principal amount of notes equivalent to an initial exchange price of $61.00 per share

The initial exchange rate is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances including upon an increase in the Companys

dividend rate Upon an exchange of the notes the Operating Partnership will settle any amounts up to the principal

amount of the notes in cash and the remaining exchange value if any will be settled at the Operating Partnerships

option in cash EQR Common Shares or combination of both
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On or after August 18 2011 the Operating Partnership may redeem the notes at redemption price equal to the

principal amount of the notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon Upon notice of redemption by the Operating

Partnership the holders may elect to exercise their exchange rights In addition on August 18 2011 August 15 2016

and August 15 2021 or following the occurrence of certain change in control transactions prior to August 18 2011 note

holders may require the Operating Partnership to repurchase the notes for an amount equal to the principal amount of the

notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon

Note holders may also require an exchange of the notes should the closing sale price of Common Shares exceed

130% of the exchange price for certain period of time or should the trading price on the notes be less than 98% of the

product of the closing sales price of Common Shares multiplied by the applicable exchange rate for certain period of

time

Aggregate payments of principal on unsecured notes payable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as

follows amounts in thousands

Year Total

2009 227580

2010 498782

2011 841816

2012 748578

2013 398986

Thereafter 2748574
Total 5464316

Principal payments on unsecured notes include amortization of any discounts or premiums related to the notes

Premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the unsecured notes

Includes the $500.0 million term loan which matures on October 2010 subject to two one-year extension options

exercisable by the Operating Partnership

Includes $548.6 million face value of 3.85% convertible unsecured debt with final maturity of 2026

10 Lines of Credit

The Operating Partnership has $1.5 billion unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on February 28 2012

with the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $500.0 million by adding additional banks to the facility

or obtaining the agreement of existing banks to increase their commitments Advances under the credit facility bear

interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus spread currently 0.50% dependent upon

the Operating Partnerships credit rating or based on bids received from the lending group EQR has guaranteed the

Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the maximumamount and for the full term of the facility

During the year ended December 31 2008 one of the providers of the Operating Partnerships unsecured

revolving credit facility declared bankruptcy Under the existing terms of the credit facility the providers share is up to

$75.0 million of potential borrowings As result the Operating Partnerships borrowing capacity under the unsecured

revolving credit facility has in essence been permanently reduced to $1 .425 billion of potential borrowings The

obligation to fund by all of the other providers has not changed

On April 2005 the Operating Partnership obtained three-year $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit

facility maturing on May 29 2008 Advances under the credit facility bore interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR

at various interest periods plus spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating or based on bids

received from the lending group EQR guaranteed the Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the maximumamount

and for the full term of the facility This credit facility was repaid in full and terminated on February 28 2007 The

Company recorded $0.4 million of write-offs of unamortized deferred fmancing costs as additional interest in connection

with this termination

On May 2007 the Operating Partnership obtained one-year $500.0 million unsecured revolving credit

facility maturing on May 2008 Advances under this facility bore interest at variable rates based on LIBOR at various

interest periods plus spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating EQR guaranteed this credit

facility up to the maximum amount and for its full term This credit facility was repaid in full and terminated on June

2007
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As of December 31 2008 the amount available on the credit facility was $1.29 billion net of $130.0 million

which was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above As of December

31 2007 $139.0 million was outstanding and $80.8 million was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and not

available for borrowing on the credit facilities During the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 the weighted

average interest rates were 4.31% and 5.68% respectively

11 Derivative and Other Fair Value Instruments

The following table summarizes the Companys consolidated derivative instruments at December 31 2008

dollar amounts are in thousands

Development

Fair Value Cash Flow

Hedges Hedges

Current Notional Balance 385693 262912

Lowest Possible Notional 385693 48126

Highest Possible Notional 387694 375008

Lowest Interest Rate 3.245% 4.059%

Highest Interest Rate 4.800% 6.000%

Earliest Maturity Date 2009 2009

Latest Maturity Date 2012 2011

Estimated Asset Liability Fair Value 6802 6821

Fair Value Hedges Converts outstanding fixed rate debt to floating interest rate

Development Cash Flow Hedges Converts outstanding floating rate debt to fixed interest rate

On December 31 2008 the net derivative instruments were reported at their fair value as other liabilities of

approximately $6.8 million and other assets of $6.8 million As of December 31 2008 there were approximately

$37.6 million in deferred losses net included in accumulated other comprehensive loss Based on the estimated

fair values of the net derivative instruments at December 31 2008 the Company may recognize an estimated $9.5

million of accumulated other comprehensive loss as additional interest
expense during the year ending December

31 2009

In February 2008 the Company paid approximately $13.2 million to terminate three forward starting

swaps in conjunction with the issuance of $500.0 million 11.5-year mortgage loan The entire amount has been

deferred as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and will be recognized as an increase to interest

expense over the first ten years of the mortgage loan

In November 2008 the Company paid approximately $13.5 million to terminate six forward starting swaps

in conjunction with the issuance of $543.0 million 8-year mortgage loan Approximately $13.1 million of the

settlement payment has been deferred as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and will be

recognized as an increase to interest expense over the life of the underlying hedged item

In June 2007 the Company received approximately $2.4 million to terminate five forward starting swaps in

conjunction with the issuance of $650.0 million of ten-year unsecured notes The majority of the $2.4 million has

been deferred as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and will be recognized as reduction of

interest
expense over the life of the unsecured notes

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company invested in various investment securities in an

effort to increase the amounts earned on the significant amount of unrestricted cash on hand throughout 2008 The

following table sets forth the maturity amortized cost gross unrealized gains book/fair value and interest and other

income of the various investment securities held as of December 31 2008 amounts in thousands
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Amortized Unrealized Book Interest and

Security Maturity Cost Gains Fair Value Other Income

Held-to-Maturity

FDIC-insured promissory notes Less than one year 75000 75000 21

Total Held-to-Maturity 75000 75000 21

Available-for-Sale

FDIC-insured certificates of deposit Less than one year 54000 301 54301 305

Other Between one and five years or N/A 28001 1531 29532 638

Total Available-for-Sale 82001 1832 83833 943

Grand Total 157001 1832 158833 964

SFAS No 157 establishes three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements The

valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the

measurement date financial instruments categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest

level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement The three levels are defined as follows

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or

lialiilitiee in wtivp rnirkte

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in

active markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly for

substantially the full term of the financial instrument

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value

measurement

The Companys derivative positions are valued using models developed by the respective counterparty as

well as models developed internally by the Company that use as their basis readily observable market parameters

such as forward yield curves and credit default swap data and are classified within Level of the valuation

hierarchy In addition employee holdings other than EQR Common Shares within the supplemental executive

retirement plan the SERP have fair value of $44.3 million as of December 31 2008 and are included in other

assets and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet These SERP investments are valued using quoted

market prices for identical assets and are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

The Companys investment securities are valued using quoted market prices or readily available market

interest rate data The quoted market prices are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy and the market

interest rate data are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

12 Earnings Per Share

The following tables set forth the computation of net income per share basic and net income per share

diluted amounts in thousands except per share amounts
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Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Numerator for net income per share basic

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests 40909 67829 30293

Preferred distributions 14507 22792 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares

net of minority interests 26402 38883 10785

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 379183 921793 1042551

Numerator for net income per share basic 405585 960676 1031766

Numerator for net income per share diluted

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests 40909 67829 30293

Preferred distributions 14507 22792 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965

Effect of dilutive securities

Allocation to Minority Interests Operating Partnership net 1735 2663

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 28137 41546 10785

Discontinued operations 404376 984295 1042551

Numerator for net income per share diluted 432513 1025841 1031766

Denominator for net income per share basic and diluted

Denominator for net income per share basic 270012 279406 290019

Effect of dilutive securities

OP Units 17619 18986

Share options/restricted shares 2429 3843

Denominator for net income per share diluted 290060 302235 290019

Netincomepersharebasic
1.50 3.44 3.56

Net income per share diluted 1.49 3.39 3.56

Net income per share basic

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares

net ofminority interests 0.098 0.139 0.037

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 1.404 3.299 3.595

Netincomepersharebasic 1.502 3.438 3.558

Net income per share diluted

Income loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.097 0.137 0.037

Discontinued operations 1.394 3.257 3.595

Netincomepersharediluted 1.491 3.394 3.558

In accordance with SFAS No 128 Earnings per Share potential common shares issuable from the assumed conversion of OP

Units the exercise of share options and the vesting of restricted shares are automatically anti-dilutive and therefore excluded

from the diluted earnings per share calculation as the Company had loss from continuing operations for the year ended

December 31 2006

Convertible preferred shares/units that could be converted into 427090 652534 and 1163908 weighted average Common

Shares for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively were outstanding but were not included in the

computation of diluted earnings per share because the effects
would be anti-dilutive In addition the effect of the Common

Shares that could ultimately be issued upon the conversion/exchange of the Operating Partnership $650.0 million $548.6

million outstanding at December 31 2008 exchangeable senior notes was not included in the computation of diluted earnings

per share because the effects would be anti-dilutive

For additional disclosures regarding the employee share options and restricted shares see Notes and 14
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13 Discontinued Operations

The Company has presented separately as discontinued operations in all periods the results of operations

for all consolidated assets disposed of on or after January 2002 the date of adoption of SFAS No 144 all

operations related to active condominium conversion properties effective upon their respective transfer into TRS
and all properties held for sale if any

The components of discontinued operations are outlined below and include the results of operations for the

respective periods that the Company owned such assets during each of the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

REVENUES
Rental income 45708 200131 461802

Total revenues 45708 200131 461802

EXPENSES

Property and maintenance 18537 69391 148735

Real estate taxes and insurance 5974 26845 59311

Property management 62 266 8934

Depreciation 11746 54124 109954
General and administrative 29 15 117

hnpairment 351

Total expenses 36224 150641 327402

Discontinued operating income 9484 49490 134400

Interest and other income 224 221 1758

Interest

Expense incurred net 37 4010 35294
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1728 1057

Income and other tax benefit expense 1848 7309 3547

Discontinued operations 11519 51282 96260

Minority Interests Operating Partnership 718 3256 6324

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 10801 48026 89936

Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 392857 933013 1019603

Minority Interests Operating Partnership 24475 59246 66988
Gain on sales of discontinued operations net of minority interests 368382 873767 952615

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 379183 921793 1042551

Includes expenses paid in the current period for properties sold or held for sale in prior periods related to the

Company speriodofownershi

Includes only interest expense spec j/ic to secured mortgage notespayableforpropert-ies sold and/or heldfor sale

For the properties sold during 2008 excluding condominium conversion properties the investment in real

estate net of accumulated depreciation balance at December 31 2007 was $470.8 million

The net real estate basis of the Companys active condominium conversion properties owned by the TRS
and included in discontinued operations excludes the Companys halted conversions as they are now held for use
which were included in investment in real estate net in the consolidated balance sheets was $12.6 million and

$24.1 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

14 Share Incentive Plans

On May 15 2002 the shareholders of EQR approved the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan The

maximum aggregate number of awards that may be granted under this plan may not exceed 7.5% of the Companys
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outstanding Common Shares calculated on fully diluted basis and determined annually on the first day of each

calendar year As of January 2009 this amount equaled 21740453 of which 8742816 shares were available for

future issuance No awards may be granted under the 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated after February 20 2012

Pursuant to the 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated and the Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option and

Share Award Plan as amended collectively the Share Incentive Plans officers trustees and key employees of the

Company may be granted share options to acquire Common Shares Options including non-qualified share options

NQSOs incentive share options ISOs and share appreciation rights SARs or may be granted restricted or

non-restricted shares subject to conditions and restrictions as described in the Share Incentive Plans Finally certain

executive officers of the Company participate in the Companys performance-based restricted share plan Options

SARs restricted shares and performance shares are sometimes collectively referred to herein as Awards

The Options are generally granted at the fair market value of the Companys Common Shares at the date of

grant vest in three equal installments over three-year period are exercisable upon vesting and expire ten years from the

date of grant The exercise price for all Options under the Share Incentive Plans is equal to the fair market value of the

underlying Common Shares at the time the Option is granted Options exercised result in new Common Shares being

issued on the open market The Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option and Share Award Plan as amended will

terminate at such time as all outstanding Awards have expired or have been exercised/vested The Board of Trustees may

at any time amend or terminate the Share Incentive Plans but termination will not affect Awards previously granted

Any Options which had vested prior to such termination would remain exercisable by the holder

As to the restricted shares that have been awarded through December 31 2008 these shares generally vest

three years from the award date In addition the Companys unvested restricted shareholders have the same voting

rights as any other Common Share holder During the three-year period of restriction the Companys unvested

restricted shareholders receive quarterly dividend payments on their shares at the same rate and on the same date as

any other Common Share holder As result dividends paid on unvested restricted shares are included as

component of retained earnings deficit and have not been considered in reducing net income available to Common

Shares in manner similar to the Companys preferred share dividends for the earnings per share calculation If

employment is terminated prior to the lapsing of the restriction the shares are generally canceled

In addition each year prior to 2007 selected executive officers of the Company received performance-

based awards Effective January 2007 the Company has elected to discontinue the award of new performance-

based award grants The executive officers have the opportunity to earn in Common Shares an amount as little as

0% to as much as 225% of the target number of performance-based awards The owners of performance-based

awards have no right to vote receive dividends or transfer the awards until Common Shares are issued in exchange

for the awards The number of Common Shares the executive officer actually receives on the third anniversary of

the grant date will depend on the excess if any by which the Companys Average Annual Return i.e the average

of the Common Share dividends declared during each year as percentage of the Common Share price as of the first

business day of the first performance year
and the average percentage increase in funds from operations FF0 for

each calendar year on per share basis over the prior year for the three performance years
exceeds the average of

the 10-year Treasury Note interest rate as of the first business day in January of each performance year the T-Note

Rate

If the Companys Average Less Greater

Annual Return exceeds than than

the T-Note Rate by 0.99% 1-1.99% 2% 3% 4% 5% 6% 7%

Then the executive officer will receive

Common Shares equal to the

target number of awards times

the following 0% 50% 100% 115% 135% 165% 190% 225%

If the Companys Average Annual Return exceeds the T-Note Rate by an amount which falls between any

of the percentages in excess of the 2% threshold the performance-based award will be determined by extrapolation

between the two percentages Fifty percent of the Common Shares to which an executive officer may be entitled

under the performance share grants will vest subject to the executives continued employment with the Company

on the third anniversary of the award which will be the date the Common Shares are issued twenty-five percent

will vest on the fourth anniversary and the remaining twenty-five percent will vest on the fifth aimiversary The

Common Shares will also fully vest upon the executives death meeting of retirement criteria see below for further

discussion disability or upon change in control of the Company
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The Companys Share Incentive Plans provide for certain benefits upon retirement at or after age 62 As of

November 2008 but effective as of January 2009 the Company changed the definition of retirement for

employees including all officers but not members of the Companys Board of Trustees under its Share Incentive

Plans For employees hired prior to January 2009 retirement generally will mean the termination of employment

other than for cause on or after age 62 or ii prior to age 62 after meeting the requirements of the Rule of 70

described below For employees hired after January 2009 retirement generally will mean the termination of
-l
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The Rule of 70 is met when an employees years of service with the Company which must be at least 15

years plus his or her age which must be at least 55 years on the date of termination equals or exceeds 70 years In

addition the employee must give the Company at least months advance written notice of his or her intention to

retire and sign release upon termination of employment releasing the Company from customary claims and

agreeing to ongoing non-competition and employee non-solicitation provisions The following executive officers of

the Company will become eligible for retirement under the new definition of retirement of employees in the next

three years Frederick Tuomi President Property Management 2009 Bruce Strohm Executive Vice

President and General Counsel 2010 and David Neithercut Chief Executive Officer and President 2011

For employees hired prior to January 2009 who retire at or after age 62 such employees unvested

restricted shares and share options would immediately vest and share options would continue to be exercisable for

the balance of the applicable ten-year option period as was provided under the Share Incentive Plans prior to the

adoption of the Rule of 70 For all other employees those hired after January 2009 and those hired before such

date who choose to retire prior to age 62 upon such retirement under the new definition of retirement of

employees such employees unvested restricted shares and share options would continue to vest per the original

vesting schedule subject to immediate vesting upon the occurrence of subsequent change in control of the

Company or the employees death and options would continue to be exercisable for the balance of the applicable

ten-year option period subject to the employees compliance with the non-competition and employee non
solicitation provisions If an employee violates these provisions after such retirement all unvested restricted shares

and unvested and vested share options at the time of the violation would be void unless otherwise determined by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Trustees of the Company

The following tables summarize compensation information regarding the performance shares restricted

shares share options and Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP for the three years ended December 31 2008
2007 and 2006 amounts in thousands

Performance shares

Restricted shares

Share options

ESPP discount

Total

Performance shares

Restricted shares

Share options

ESPP discount

Total

Compensation

Expense

1278

13816

4922

Dividends

Incurred

Year Ended December31 2008

Compensation Compensation Compensation Dividends

Expense Capitalized Equity Incurred

15761 1517 17278 2175

5361 485 5846

1197 92 1289

22311 2094 24405 2175

Year Ended December31 2007

Compensation Compensation

Capitalized Equity

1278

1414 15230

423 5345

1615

21631

86

1923

1701

23554

2296

2296
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Year Ended December 31 2006

Compensation Compensation Compensation Dividends

Expense Capitalized Equity Incurred

Performance shares 1795 1795

Restricted shares 13923 1021 14944 2437

Share options 4868 330 5198

ESPP discount 1494 84 1578 ________________

Total 22080 1435 23515 2437

Compensation expense is generally recognized for Awards as follows

Restricted shares and share options Straight-line method over the vesting period of the options or

shares regardless of cliff or ratable vesting distinctions

Performance shares Accelerated method with each vesting tranche valued as separate award with

separate vesting date consistent with the estimated value ofthe award at each period end

ESPP discount Immediately upon the purchase of common shares each quarter

In accordance with the applicable provisions of SFAS No 123R the Company accelerates the

recognition of compensation expense
for all Awards for those individuals approaching or meeting the retirement age

criteria discussed above The total compensation expense related to Awards not yet vested at December 31 2008 is

$19.6 million which is expected to be recognized over weighted average term of 1.3 years

See Note for additional information regarding the Companys share-based compensation

The table below summarizes the Award activity of the Share Incentive Plans for the three years ended

December31 2008 2007 and 2006

Weighted Weighted

Common Average Average Fair

Shares Subject Exercise Price Restricted Value per

to Options per Option Shares Restricted Share

Balance at December 31 2005 10572743 $27.02 1369828 $28.42

Awards granted 1671122 $42.32 684998 $34.65

Awards exercised/vested 2647776 $26.58 670768 $21.63

Awards forfeited 162760 $35.57 81301 $34.71

Awards expired 17542 $26.09

Balance at December 31 2006 9415787 $29.71 1302757 $34.85

Awards granted 1030935 $53.46 453580 $52.56

Awards exercised/vested 1040765 $27.00 477002 $31.78

Awards forfeited 166585 $44.88 101147 $41.92

Awards expired 54231 $36.45

Balance at December 31 2007 9185141 $32.37 1178188 $42.30

Awards granted 1436574 $38.46 524983 $38.29

Awards exercised/vested 995129 $24.75 644131 $35.99

Awards forfeited 113786 $43.95 63029 $44.87

Awards expired 39541 $35.91

Balance at December 31 2008 9473259 $33.94 996011 $44.16

The weighted average grant date fair value for Options granted during the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 was $4.08 per share $6.26 per share and $4.22 per share respectively

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$15.6 million $13.7 million and $58.0 million respectively These values were calculated as the difference

between the strike price of the underlying awards and the per share price at which each respective award was

exercised

The fair value of restricted shares vested during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $23.9

million $25.5 million and $28.7 millionrespectively
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The following table summarizes information regarding options outstanding and exercisable at December

31 2008

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Contractual Exercise Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Options Life in Years Price Options Price

$16.05 to $21.40 379299 1.05 $21.05 379299 $21.05

$21.41 to $26.75 1351459 3.23 $24.24 1351459 $24.24

$26.76 to $32.10 4023395 4.64 $29.55 4023395 $29.55

$32.1 ito $37.45 26802 5.73 $32.57 25573 $32.46

$37.46 to $42.80 2786492 7.79 $40.39 1332138 $41.40

$42.81 to $48.15 4308 7.64 $45.21 3992 $45.33

$48.16 to $53.50 901504 7.85 $53.50 406488 $53.50

$16.05 to $53.50 9473259 5.53 $33.94 7522344 $31.58

Vested and expected to vest

as of December 31 2008 9153483 5.58 $33.68

The aggregate intrinsic value of both options outstanding and options vested and expected to vest as of December

312008 is $14.9 million

The aggregate intrinsic value and weighted average remaining contractual life in years of options exercisable as of

December 31 2008 is $14.9 million and 4.8 years respectively

Note The aggregate intrinsic values in Notes and above were both calculated as the excess if any
between the Companys closing share price of $29.82 per share on December 31 2008 and the strike price of the

underlying awards

As of December 31 2007 and 2006 7000222 Options with weighted average exercise price of $28.45 and

6567868 Options with weighted average exercise price of $26.87 were exercisable respectively

15 Employee Plans

The Company established an Employee Share Purchase Plan to provide each employee and trustee the ability to

annually acquire up to $100000 of Conimon Shares of the Company In 2003 the Companys shareholders approved an

increase in the aggregate number of Common Shares available under the ESPP to 7000000 from 2000000 The

Company has 3885727 Common Shares available for purchase under the ESPP at December 31 2008 The Common
Shares may be purchased quarterly at price equal to 85% of the lesser of the closing price for share on the last day
of such quarter and the greater of the closing price for share on the first day of such quarter and iithe average

closing price for share for all the business days in the quarter The following table summarizes information regarding
the Common Shares issued under the ESPP

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

Shares issued 195961 189071 213427

Issuance price ranges $23.51 $37.61 $31.38 $43.17 $35.43 $43.30
Issuance proceeds $6170 $7165 $7972

The Company established defmed contribution plan the 40 1k Plan to provide retirement benefits for

employees that meet minimum employment criteria The Company matches dollar for dollar up to the first 3% of eligible

compensation that participant contributes to the 40 1k Plan Participants are vested in the Companys contributions

over five years The Company recognized an expense in the amount of $3.8 million $4.2 million and $2.3 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively
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The Company may also elect to make an annual discretionaiy profit-sharing contribution as percentage of

each individual employees eligible compensation under the 401k Plan The Company did not make contribution for

the year ended December 31 2008 and as such no expense was recognized The Company recognized an expense
of

approximately $1.5 million and $3.3 million for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively

The Company established supplemental executive retirement plan the SERP to provide certain officers and

trustees an opportunity to defer portion of their eligible compensation in order to save for retirement The SERP is

restricted to investments in Company Common Shares certain marketable securities that have been specifically approved

and cash equivalents The deferred compensation liability represented in the SERP and the securities issued to fund such

deferred compensation liability are consolidated by the Company and carried on the Companys balance sheet and the

Companys Common Shares held in the SERP are accounted for as reduction to paid in capital

16 Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

On November 1997 the Company filed with the SEC Form S-3 Registration Statement to register

14000000 Common Shares pursuant to Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan the DRIP Plan The

registration statement was declared effective on November 25 1997 The remaining shares available for issuance under

the 1997 registration lapsed in December 2008

On December 16 2008 the Company filed with the SEC Form S-3 Registration Statement to register

5000000 Common Shares under the DRIP Plan The registration statement was automatically declared effective the

same day and expires at the earlier of the date in which all 5000000 shares have been issued or December 15 2011 The

Company has 4999254 Common Shares available for issuance under the DRIP Plan at December 31 2008

The DRIP Plan provides holders of record and beneficial owners of Common Shares and Preferred Shares with

simple and convenient method of investing cash distributions in additional Common Shares which is referred to herein

as the Dividend Reinvestment DRIP Plan Common Shares may also be purchased on monthly basis with optional

cash payments made by participants in the DRIP Plan and interested new investors not currently shareholders of the

Company at the market price of the Common Shares less discount ranging between 0% and 5% as detennined in

accordance with the DRIP Plan which is referred to herein as the Share Purchase DRIP Plan Common Shares

purchased under the DRIP Plan may at the option of the Company be directly issued by the Company or purchased by

the Companys transfer agent in the open market using participants funds

17 Transactions with Related Parties

The Company provided asset and property management services to certain related entities for properties not

owned by the Company Fees received for providing such services were approximately $0.3 million $0.3 million and

$0.3 million for the years ended December 31 20082007 and 2006 respectively

The Company leases its corporate headquarters from an entity controlled by EQRs Chairman of the Board of

Trustees The lease terminates on July 31 2011 Amounts incurred for such office space for the years
ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively were approximately $2.9 million $2.9 million and $2.8 million The Company

believes these amounts equal market rates for such rental space

18 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company as an owner of real estate is subject to various Federal state and local environmental laws

Compliance by the Company with existing laws has not had material adverse effect on the Company However the

Company cannot predict the impact of new or changed laws or regulations on its current properties or on properties that it

may acquire in the future

The Company is party to housing discrimination lawsuit brought by non-profit civil rights organization in

April 2006 in the U.S District Court for the District of Maryland The suit alleges that the Company designed and built

approximately 300 of its properties in violation of the accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act and Americans

With Disabilities Act The suit seeks actual and punitive damages injunctive relief including modification of non-

compliant properties costs and attorneys fees The Company believes it has number of viable defenses including that

majority of the named properties were completed before the operative dates of the statutes in question and/or were not

designed or built by the Company Accordingly the Company is defending the suit vigorously Due to the pendency of

the Companys defenses and the uncertainty of many other critical factual and legal issues it is not possible to determine

or predict the outcome of the suit and as result no amounts have been accrued at December 31 2008 While no

assurances can be given the Company does not believe that the suit if adversely determined would have material
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adverse effect on the Company

The Company does not believe there is any other litigation pending or threatened against it that

individually or in the aggregate reasonably may be expected to have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company has established reserve and recorded corresponding reduction to its net gain on sales of

discontinued operations related to potential liabilities associated with its condominium conversion activities The reserve

covers potential product liability related to each conversion The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of the

reserve and makes adjustments as necessary During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company recorded

additional reserves of approximately $0.3 million for current projects and $3.2 million for various projects sold prior to

2008 and paid approximately $0.6 million in settlements As result the Company had total reserves of approximately

$10.3 million at December 31 2008 While no assurances can be given the Company does not believe that the ultimate

resolution of these potential liabilities if adversely determined would have material adverse effect on the Company

As of December 31 2008 the Company has 10 projects totaling 3568 units in various stages of development

with estimated completion dates ranging through June 30 2011 Some of the projects are developed solely by the

Company while others are co-developed with various third party development partners The development venture

agreements with partners are primarily deal-specific with differing terms regarding profit-sharing equity contributions

returns on investment buy-sell agreements and other customary provisions The partner is most often the general or

managing partner of the development venture The typical buy-sell arrangements contain appraisal rights and

provisions that provide the right but not the obligation for the Company to acquire the partners interest in the project at

fair market value upon the expiration of negotiated time period typically two to five years after substantial completion

of the project However the buy-sell provisions with one partner covering three projects does require the Company to

purchase the partners interest in the projects at fair market value five years following the receipt of the final certificate of

occupancy on the last developed property in Qi 2009 The ultimate payment to the partner is estimated to approximate

$3.0 million

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 total operating lease payments incurred for

office space including portion of real estate taxes insurance repairs and utilities and including rent due under

two ground leases aggregated $8.3 million $7.6 million and $6.9 million respectively

The Company has entered into retirement benefits agreement with its Chairman of the Board of Trustees

and deferred compensation agreements with its former chief operating officer and two former chief executive

officers During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company reduced compensation expense by $0.4 million

related to these agreements During the
years

ended December 31 2007 and 2006 the Company recognized

compensation expense of $0.7 million and $1.1 million respectively related to these agreements

The following table summarizes the Companys contractual obligations for minimum rent payments under

operating leases and deferred compensation for the next five
years and thereafter as of December 31 2008

Payments Due by Year in thousands

__________________________
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Operating Leases

Minimum Rent Payments 6047 5530 3582 1273 1101 58553 76086

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Deferred Compensation 1456 1457 2062 2062 1464 11376 19877

Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on ground leases for three

properties

Estimated payments to the Companys Chairman two former CEOs and its former chief operating officer based on

planned retirement dates

19 Impairment

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company recorded approximately $116.4 million of asset

impairment charges on land held for development related to five potential development projects that will no longer

be pursued Following the guidance in SFAS No 144 this charge was the result of an analysis of each parcels

estimated fair value determined using internally developed models based on market assumptions and comparable

sales data compared to its current capitalized carrying value including pursuit costs and managements decision to

reduce the number of planned development projects the Company will undertake In addition the Company
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incurred impairment losses of $5.7 million $1.7 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 respectively related to the write-off of various pursuit and out-of-pocket costs for terminated

acquisition disposition including halted condominium conversions and development transactions

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company recorded approximately $30.0 million of asset

impairment charges related to its write-down of the entire carrying value of the goodwill on its corporate housing

business Following the guidance in SFAS No 142 this charge was the result of the continued poor operating

performance of the corporate housing business and managements expectations for future performance

20 Reportable Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information

is available that is evaluated regularly by senior management Senior management decides how resources are

allocated and assesses performance on monthly basis

The Companys primary business is owning managing and operating multifamily residential properties

which includes the generation of rental and other related income through the leasing of apartment units to residents

Senior management evaluates the performance of each of our apartment communities individually and

geographically and both on same store and non-same store basis however each of our apartment communities

generally has similar economic characteristics residents products and services The Companys operating

segments have been aggregated by geography in manner identical to that which is provided to its chief operating

decision maker

The Companys fee and asset management development including FIN No 46 partially owned

properties condominium conversion and corporate housing Equity Corporate Housing or ECH activities are

immaterial and do not individually meet the threshold requirements of reportable segment as provided for in SFAS

No 131 and as such have been aggregated in the tables presented below

All revenues are from external customers and there is no customer who contributed 10% or more of the

Companys total revenues during the three years ended December 31 2008 2007 or 2006

The primary financial measure for the Companys rental real estate properties is net operating income

NOT which represents rental income less property and maintenance expense real estate taxes and

insurance expense and property management expense all as reflected in the accompanying statements of

operations The Company believes that NOT is helpful to investors as supplemental measure of the operating

performance of real estate company because it is direct measure of the actual operating results of the Companys

apartment conmmnities Current year
NOT is compared to prior year NOT and current year budgeted NOl as

measure of financial performance The following tables present NOl for each segment from our rental real estate

specific to continuing operations for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively as well as

total assets for the
years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively amounts in thousands

Year Ended December31 2008

Northeast Northwest Southeast Southwest Other Total

Rental income

Same store 521817 376141 379999 461047 1739004

Non-same store/other 91644 29891 65562 52407 113981 353485

Totalrentalincome 613461 406032 445561 513454 113981 2092489

Operating expenses

Same store 189078 129262 155625 158401 632366

Non-same store/other 36890 12698 26847 27418 100676 204529

Total operating expenses 225968 141960 182472 185819 100676 836895

NOT

Same store 332739 246879 224374 302646 1106638

Non-same store/other 54754 17193 38715 24989 13305 148956

Total NOT 387493 264072 263089 327635 13305 1255594

Totalassets 4852278 2632577 3028737 3187144 2834374 16535110

Same store includes properties owned for all of both 2008 and 2007 which represented 115051 units
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Non-same store includes properties acquired after January 2007

Other includes ECH development condominium conversion overhead of $2.8 million and other corporate

operations Also reflects $13.6 million elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest

Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH

Year Ended December31 2007

Northeast Northwest Southeast Southwest Other Total

Rental income

Same store 502221 351925 379978 451072 1685196

Non-same store/other 46641 17380 48840 35448 104369 252678

Total rental income 548862 369305 428818 486520 104369 1937874

Operating expenses

Same store 184287 126161 153734 154700 618882

Non-same store/other 22656 7222 19133 19730 101111 169852

Total operating expenses 206943 133383 172867 174430 101111 788734

NOT

Same store 317934 225764 226244 296372 1066314

Non-same store/other 23985 10158 29707 15718 3258 82826

TotalNOl 341919 235922 255951 312090 3258 1149140

Total assets 4745316 2703533 3046598 3213709 1980621 15689777

Same store includes properties owned for all of both 2008 and 2007 which represented 115051 units

Non-same store includes properties acquired after January 2007

Other includes ECH development condominium conversion overhead of $4.8 million and other corporate

operations Also reflects $16.6 million elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest

Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH

Year Ended December31 2006

Northeast Northwest Southeast Southwest Other Total

Rental income

Same store 449608 325512 354441 446761 1576322

Non-same store/other 51017 12421 27034 27893 86144 204509

Properties sold in 2008 87391 87391

Total rental income 500625 337933 381475 474654 1247 1693440

Operating expenses

Same store 167452 122488 141590 163544 595074

Non-same store/other 22127 4616 10777 13002 92467 142989

Properties sold in 2008 37296 37296

Total operating expenses 189579 127104 152367 176546 55171 700767

NOT

Same store 282156 203024 212851 283217 981248

Non-same store/other 28890 7805 16257 14891 6323 61520

Properties
sold in 2008 50095 50095

TotalNOI 311046 210829 229108 298108 56418 992673

Same store includes properties owned for all of both 2007 and 2006 which represented 115857 units

Non-same store includes properties acquired after January 2006

Other includes ECH development condominium conversion overhead of $5.9 million and other corporate

operations Also reflects $15.8 million elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest

Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH
Reflects discontinued operations for properties sold during 2008

Note Markets included in the above geographic segments are as follows

Northeast New England excluding Boston Boston New York Metro DC Northern Virginia and Suburban

Maryland

Northwest Central Valley Denver Portland San Francisco Bay Area and Seattle/Tacoma

Southeast Atlanta Jacksonville Orlando Raleigh/Durham South Florida and Tampa
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Southwest Albuquerque Dallas/Ft Worth Inland Empire Los Angeles Minneapolis/St Paul Orange

County Phoenix San Diego and Tulsa

The following table presents reconciliation of NOT from our rental real estate specific to continuing

operations for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Amounts in thousands

Rental income 2092489 1937874 1693440

Property and maintenance expense 542371 505899 444290
Real estate taxes and insurance expense 217461 195359 160299

Property management expense 77063 87476 96178
Total operating expenses 836895 788734 700767

Net operating income 1255594 1149140 992673

21 Subsequent Events/Other

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31 2008 and through February 2009 the Company

Sold three apartment properties consisting of 468 units for $31.9 million excluding condominium

units

Repaid $37.0 million of mortgage loans and

Completed cash tender offer by the Operating Partnership accepting for repurchase $105.2 million

principal amount of its 4.75% public notes due June 15 2009 and $185.2 million principal amount of

its 6.95% public notes due March 22011

Other

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company recognized $0.7 million $0.3

million and $14.7 million respectively of forfeited deposits for various terminated transactions which are included

in interest and other income In addition during 2008 and 2007 the Company received $1.7 million and $4.1

million respectively for the settlement of litigationlinsurance claims which are included in interest and other

income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

During the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 in addition to the amounts discussed below for its

former Chief Financial Officer CFO and one other former executive vice president the Company recorded

approximately $4.3 million and $0.5 million of additional general and administrative expense respectively and

$0.8 million and $1.6 million of additional property management expense respectively related primarily to cash

severance for various employees

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company entered into resignation/release agreements with

its former CFO and one other former executive vice president The Company recorded approximately $3.4 million

of additional general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31 2007 related to cash

severance and accelerated vesting of share options and restricted/performance shares

The Company recorded reduction to general and administrative expense of approximately $1.7 million

during the year ended December 31 2007 due to the successful resolution of certain lawsuit in Florida resulting

in the reversal of the majority of previously established litigation reserve The Company had previously recorded

reduction to general and administrative expense of approximately $2.8 million during the year ended December

31 2006 due to the recovery of insurance proceeds related to the same lawsuit

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company received $1.2 million related to its 7.075%

ownership interest in Wellsford Park Highlands Corporation WPHC an entity which owns condominium

development in Denver Colorado The Company recorded gain of approximately $0.7 million as income from

investments in unconsolidated entities and has no further ownership interest in WPHC
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During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company received proceeds from technology and other

investments of $4.0 million from the following both of which were recorded as interest and other income in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations

$3.7 million for its ownership interest in Rent.com in connection with the acquisition of Rent.com by

eBay Inc and

$0.3 million as partial distribution for its ownership interest in Constellation Real Technologies

LLC

22 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following unaudited quarterly data has been prepared on the basis of December 31 year-end All amounts

have also been restated in accordance with the discontinued operations provisions of SFAS No 144 and reflect

dispositions and/or properties held for sale through December 31 2008 Amounts are in thousands except for per share

amounts

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2008 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/3

Totalrevenues1 507405 525601 536853 533345

Operating income 140957 162274 155825 41056

Income loss from continuing operations net of

minority interests 20642 41794 35705 57232
Discontinued operations net of minority interests 119840 90818 142536 25989

Net income loss 140482 132612 178241 31243
Net income loss available to Common Shares 136849 128986 174613 34863

Earnings per share basic

Net income loss available to Common Shares 0.51 0.48 065 0.13

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 268784 269608 270345 271293

Earnings per share diluted

Net income loss available to Common Shares 0.51 0.47 0.64 0.13

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 289317 290445 290795 271293

The amounts presented for the first three quarters of 2008 are not equal to the same amounts previously reported in the

respective Form 1O-Qs filed with the SEC for each period as result of changes in discontinued operations due to

additional property sales which occurred throughout 2008 Below is reconciliation to the amounts previously reported
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First Second Third

Quarter Quarter Quarter

2008 3/31 6/30 9/30

Total revenues previously reported in Form 10-Q 522812 535525 538319

Total revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 15407 9924 1466
Total revenues disclosed in Form 10-K 507405 525601 536853

Operating income previously reported in Form 10-Q 146847 165859 156570

Operating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued

operations 5890 3585 745

Operating income disclosed in Form 10-K 140957 162274 155825

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

previously reported in Form 10-Q 26024 45157 36368

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 5382 3363 663
Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

disclosed in Form 10-K 20642 41794 35705

Discontinued operations net of minority interests previously

reported in Form lO-Q 114458 87455 141873

Discontinued operations net of minority interests from properties

sold subsequent to the respective reporting period 5382 3363 663

Discontinued operations net of minority interests disclosed

in Form 10-K 119840 90818 142536

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2007 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues 460763 481619 499658 505017

Operating income 116318 132946 137949 151915

Income from continuing operations net of

minority interests 4636 14924 16337 31932

Discontinued operations net of minority interests 121601 267477 441370 91345

Net income 126237 282401 457707 123277

Net income available to Common Shares 118813 274985 447246 119632

Earnings per share basic

Net income available to Common Shares 0.41 0.97 1.64 0.44

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 292251 284424 272086 269197

Earnings per share diluted

Net income available to Common Shares 0.41 0.95 1.62 0.44

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 292251 307631 294331 290658

The amounts presented for the four quarters of 2007 are not equal to the same amounts previously reported in the Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on December 15 2008 for each period as result of changes in discontinued operations due to additional

property sales which occurred during the fourth quarter of 2008 Below is reconciliation to the amounts previously

reported
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First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2007 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues previously reported in December 2008 Form 8-K 462557 483319 501102 506460

Total revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 1794 1700 1444 1443
Total revenues disclosed in Form 10-K 460763 481619 499658 505017

Operating income previously reported in December 2008 Form 8-K 116289 133373 137628 151959

Operating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued

operations 569 530 467 1000
Other 598 103 788 956

Operating income disclosed in Form 10-K 116318 132946 137949 151915

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

previously reported in December 2008 Form 8-K 5171 15424 16755 32959

Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 535 500 418 1027
Income from continuing operations net of minority interests

disclosed inForm 10-K 4636 14924 16337 31932

Discontinued operations net of minority interests previously

reported in December 2008 Form 8-K 121066 266977 440952 90318

Discontinued operations net of minority interests from properties

sold subsequent to the respective reporting period 535 500 418 1027

Discontinued operations net of minority interests disclosed

inFormlO-K 121601 267477 441370 91345

The Company did not have any extraordinary items or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle during the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 Therefore income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle is

not shown as it was equal to the net income amounts disclosed above
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Overall Summary
December 31 2008

Properties Investment in Real Accumulated Investment in Real

II Unit II Estate Gross Depreciation Estate Net Encumbrances

Wholly Owned Unencumbered 303 78813 10680108067 2211404675 8468703392

Wholly Owned Encumbered 174 48189 6316596571 1223300257 5093296314 2114902657

Portfolio/Entity Encumbrances 1884355798

Wholly Owned Properties 477 127002 16996704638 3434704932 13561999706 3999258455

Partially Owned Unencumbered 339 179608076 9342384 170265692

Partially Owned Encumbered 27 5418 1513926137 117252852 1396673285 1037671184

Partially Owned Properties 28 5757 1693534213 126595236 1566938977 1037671184

Total Unencumbered Properties 304 79152 10859716143 2220747059 8638969084

Total Encumbered Properties 201 53607 7830522708 1340553109 6489969599 5036929639

Total Consolidated Investment in Real Estate 505 132759 18690238851 3561300168 15128938683 5036929639

See attached Encumbrances Reconciliation
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Encumbrances Reconciliation

December 31 2008

Portfolio/Entity Encumbrances

EQR-Bond Partnership

EQR-Codelle LP

EQR-FANCAP 2000A LP

EQR-Fankey 2004 Ltd Pship

EQR-Fanwell 2007 LP

EQR-Wellfan 2008 LP

EQR-SOMBRA 2008 LP

Portfolio/Entity Encumbrances

Individual Property Encumbrances

Total Encumbrances per Financial Statements

Number of

Properties

Encumbered by

10

15

18

70

See Properties

With Note Amount

88189000

110106335

148333000

221589463

223138000

550000000

543000000

1884355798

3152573841

5036929639

Collateral also includes letters of credit supported by the Companys revolving credit facility
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Amounts in thousands

The changes in total real estate for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are as follows

Balance beginning of year

Acquisitions and development

Improvements

Dispositions and other
_________________ _________________ ________________

Balance end of year

The changes in accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are as follows

Balance beginning of year

Depreciation

Dispositions and other

Balance end of year

2008 2007

3170125

602908

211733

3022480

616414

468769

3561300 3170125

2006

2888140

592637

458297

3022480

20062008 2007

18333350

995026

172165

810302

17235175

2456495

260371

1618691

18690239 18333350

16590370

2252039

265832

1873066

17235175
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Sohodtdo III -Root Ettute aud Atoomulotod Doproolution

Duoombor3l 2008

Coot Cupilulizod

Subsequent to

Atqt.IzIIIoutuldul Cott to

Deoorlptlou Compony uzeptovem0000 tot u-noos

Dote of Buildiog Btzildiug Boildiug Acooutototed luveotmeut to Rool

Apuefluent Nutue L000tlott Coozfroution Usito II Luod Iliuturet Loud Fiotoreu Loud Fixturee Totol Doprooiodott Iistzte Not ot 12/31/58 Socombroecet

Gross Atnosut Curried

at Close of

EOR Wholly Otenod Uueueutstboood

l2lOMoxs WoxbmgtooDC.G 2004 144 921352 36559189 153329 9213512 36712510 45926030 5007066 40850 165

l600Peoebteeo AtlootoGA 1000 555 502050 53 605960 712518 924 126 25315 081 33.239207 529.965/ 28.109.242

2300611011 Seotile WA 1992 92 796800 7173725 4937617 796800 12111342 12908142 6946085 5962057

2400 SI W000eoglon D.C 2006 359 30006593 13 763705 508240 3000693 14272025 144278610 12 469372 131809247

420 fool 8OthStrsol NrwYorkNY 1961 55 39277000 23 026904 1651277 39277000 2467026 63955261 3295056 60659405

600Woohmglox NrwYoNYG 2004 135 32.852000 43140551 18.083 32852000 4325834 76 110634 6046770 70003865

70 Orreor irlOry CIty NJ 2870059 167 955344 28170659 167955 344 196126003 196126003

71 Broodooy Neo Yorl NY 1997 238 2261 1600 77492171 1207324 22611600 78699495 10131 109 12 305450 89005645

AbolgIos DIes Abioglon MA 1965 90 553105 697396 2195843 553105 5893239 6446344 2043 82 4403163

A00OIuCree6 SeoOothleAZ 1988 1994 304 3663473 21.172306 2280640 3665 473 23453026 27116499 338430 17778069

Agll000 Toolpufl 5000000 5000000 5000006 5000000

ArlogIno Flare Coodommmo Hornet LLC Isuoqoob WA 1988 63 2838484 7053079 2297065 288404 9352144 12 20548 12210548

4ObleyFolkot BoerCetok RoleIgh NC 2002 374 3610000 407489 2602154 5610000 33529643 39 39643 5693533 35446110

AsbIon The Cor000 HOle CA 1986 492 2594264 33 042398 5355182 2594264 38397579 40 991843 15506897 25484946

AxpeoCrooxmg SilvorSprmgMD 1979 192 2880000 8551377 2978084 2880000 11529462 14409462 4897 777 9511604

A64obooV0loge TuospoFL 1990 447 3576000 26 121909 2920077 3376000 29041985 3267985 10780907 21029079

Arloom Revet ROItIgb NC 2002 284 3408000 20890437 866.640 3408000 21757096 25165 096 55167 206/3422

AOveexVIIIoge OrloodoFL 1991 480 3838927 29322243 5499427 3038927 34821670 38660597 12822706 25837891

Avesre Royolr JookoonvIlIr FL 2001 200 5000000 17705388 618454 5000000 18403842 25403 842 3030994 20372847

AvoPIo AvooCT 1973 163 1708943 12440003 1390965 1788943 13830960 15619911 4090688 11529223

Aoore Creek Phorolx AZ 2581 160 8778006 17040790 594260 8778000 1843501 27213051 761366 24451685

SoeringlonPlocr Ovrndo FL 1090 233 6990000 1740825 2344835 6990000 18085660 25075660 3308801 21706859

Boy Ridge $00 Pedro CA 1087 60 2401300 2176 963 705868 2401340 882.032 283332 1329734 3.953598

BOyOdeOiOIOItlOUdS GllbortAZ 1809 272 3506404 15573066 2584474 306404 18077400 21 583864 7536121 13847843

06110 V81o Phoeox AZ 1995 248 2978879 28641333 3207492 2978879 23848785 26827664 9313554 17514110

torSo VixtoApoeIorots at Booo del Moe Booo Solon FL 1983 392 11760.000 20.190.22 0219963 11760008 28410215 40170215 753 092 30417124

Bello VetO II 111 Comboed Woodluod H41o CA 2003.2007 579 31682754 121868378 987809 31 682754 122056179 155738933 15 06965 130729282

Bollo AotoCoodooomooollomeoLLC Rollevor WA 2000 63158 248929 5541 63158 243387 306545 306545

Bolkvoo Meodows 50110000 WA 1983 180 4507158 2574814 3833002 4507100 16407 816 20914916 573741 177503

BooovoPeor Soo000toFL 1986 192 1344000 9665447 1523021 1344058 11188468 12532468 450654 8226127

BemlodoCovo JockooovlleFL 1989 350 1503000 19561896 4076735 1503060 23698631 25141631 9157733 13985898

Bohop Pork Wmlee Pork FL 1991 324 2592000 17090436 3190324 2592000 21180760 23772760 862382 15 147378

Brsdfo4 Apodroenlo NewloglooCT 1964 64 401091 2691210 457064 401091 3138274 3539365 1017 170 522195

Berobwood Vascoovee WA 1990 296 1357221 12202.521 2420695 1357221 14 623216 5980438 7424760 959678

Bedford Jokes II Grerobom NC 1100566 792509 1100564 792 509 1593073 1893073

Bndgevslor at Wolls Crootrng Oeoog Pok FL 1986 288 2160000 13347549 .678270 2160000 15 025818 17185810 3269173 916646

Br006odeCO BooldooCO 1993 44 3600400 10211159 785665 600400 996824 14597224 199023 10398201

BeoobsIdellMD FredeeckMD 1979 204 2450800 693202 2286724 2450800 999927 11650727 4035109 7615618

BrookoydrAplo WosiHootford CT 1945 80 594711 3975523 374724 594711 4550246 44 957 1.460762 3684195

CoolbndgeEttrloo Noro1bCT 1977 92 588206 3945265 356023 588206 4501287 5089493 442358 3647135

Coetellero Soollodole AZ 1979 348 1924.900 17324593 51 16214 1924900 22440807 24365 707 12225789 12139918

Cooyoo Crest Sorb CIotIIO CA 1993 158 2370000 10141078 2042078 2370 000 12183956 4955 956 425890 18128067

Cooyoo 06680 Sor DIego CA 1989 162 4869448 955064 1555475 869 440 13508539 18 377987 5430932 2947055

Corlyle Doilso TX 1993 180 890000 14155.000 92284 1890000 15077041 16 967841 5071 13460731

orlyleMlIl OlexoodeoV0 2002 317 10000000 313s791o 3324534 10500060 54692448 64692440 Il24853l 5344397

CoooCopocom SooDoogo CA 981 192 1262700 11363093 3158945 1262 706 14 524038 15786738 6635341 9151397

Coso Roe 000 DIego CA 1970-1986 196 3922400 9389153 3094434 3922 400 12 483588 16405988 5459641 0946346

Cuxoode at Loodroork AloxoodsIa VA 1990 277 3603406 19 637554 4916100 603400 24573654 28177054 10403738 17773316

Cotter Pomle Boovrloo OR 1996 264 421.535 15700833 2387768 3421535 18 096 62 21518156 5479396 038759

CrotreClub OoloooCA 1994 312 566000 23495 891 2123845 5616000 25609736 31225736 7815 929 23409807

CooOs Club II Golono CA 2002 100 1820000 9328898 402209 1820.000 9931106 751 106 2430675 320435

ChoedlerCoort ChordlrrAZ 1987 316 353100 12 175 173 3938495 1353100 16 608 17 486 768 7984448 9482319

Cbolololno 0081 DoloIb GA 1995 303 1818 000 24489 671 586741 1818000 26076412 27 894 412 450923 18443409

Chroopooke Glen ApIs lko Greerteer III Glen Bosme MD 1973 796 8993 41 27301052 19 583304 89934 46804 356 55877767 16 477188 39400579

Chroloul HIlls Puyollop WA 1991 157 76500 6806 635 1182619 756300 7989 254 745554 377172 5168382

ChIck000wCr000mg Orl0l0i011L 1986 202 2844000 12366832 1490455 2044000 1387287 15901287 5385 880 10315407

Ch00lows 8i0100v0y Lox Aogeleo CA 791831 684 936 14791 831 9684 936 24476767 24476 767

CIIetOFOIIO TsmpoFL 2003 273 8190000 28894280 211240 8190006 29105520 37295520 2760260 34535259

Coy V1tw GA Atloolo GA 2005 202 6440800 19992 78 987 157 6440.000 20979 875 27420675 3423445 23997230

CIuro Dotoille GA 1990 217 1594300 13537 99 1808154 1584 300 15346074 16850374 6301194 10549179

Cbooyo Coosolog Cobmobet MD 1984 198 891000 15489721 1820082 89 000 17 309803 /8200803 6663776 1537 027

Clot The Los Aegeles CA 1089 92 665467 4825.495 3428877 6.613467 18254372 24869839 1221812 23648028

Club the DIrer Sooveetos DR 1991 254 2030950 12610 747 2166457 2030950 14 783204 16814 154 6660 636 10 153 519

CoochbgbIVilIoge Agow8mMA 1967 88 501726 3.353.933 317416 501726 3671349 173075 102613 2990462

Co0000t Poim Clob Cooooot Cetek GA 1992 300 300 700 17678928 019630 3001706 19698550 22 700 250 690873 IS 009386

Colornol VnIlage PIornvIlIe 1000 10.8 605579 0656410 786885 695 575 423 2/5 /6 790 805 630/ 311 60

Cortonoot Dora Pork Moos AZ 1986 222 2028939 12466128 2050545 2028 939 14 56673 16545612 6090460 10455 152

Coosoy GalIlOx Brovr8oo OR 1991 288 .580500 14215 444 3136104 1580 500 17371548 18932 048 7996586 /0955461

CoveotSoyrlonBooohl BoyotooSeoehFL 1996 252 12600000 31590391 1641016 12600006 3323 40 45831407 575223 4011614

Cove 01 BOyslos B000h II BOyolOO Beech FL 1998 296 14800000 37874 719 34800 000 37874 719 5267479 6392520 40282 190

Cove 01 Fshere Luodog Voocoover WA 1993 253 277060 15656 807 959161 2277000 6616 048 18 893048 4472049 4420999

Creckode VIlIOgO Mom6oke Terloor WA 1987 52 807600 25270594 4024 584 2807600 29295 79 32 102778 15078709 17024 070

Cr01 woodo SI elreoborg FL 1986 288 561200 5758022 832 347 561200 7589 169 150369 551 498 5598 87

Crowolero Lobes Geloodo FL 2008 352 12009630 44670029 IS 829 12009630 4465057 56 693 407 996404 55699083

Clyolol VIllogO Attleboro MA 1974 369000 4989028 2480 460 1369 000 7469490 38 48 343 509 5494899

Cyprexo L40e 01 90500104 OrlulIllo FL 2001 316 006 000 27654816 1.075 057 000000 28729873 33729873 679 621 30 050252

DoellololIth Woods Lokewood CD 1990 281 1609800 10832 754 1517 738 1609800 12 350492 13 960292 5437099 8503193

DeorEotIlel 1000101 MA 1984 58 498080 3329560 585 906 498080 3915466 4413 546 1312622 3/00924

Defoor VIlloge AtImIlo ISA 1997 156 2966 406 10570210 1864 856 960400 2435 067 15 401 467 4705594 10615873
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Sohodulo III Roul Eututo and Aoonmnlnted Dopreolatton

Doottohor 312008

Coot Cupituttood

Suhuoquout to

Acqutuillonloitiol Coot to

Drocrlptton Company tumprovome015 Ott LL renoo 10/100

Building Aooumntoted loveoDo001 In Root

Loud Ftxtnroo 1010 DepredatIon Eotote Not It 12131/80 EnentobroneetLaId

Greet Amount Corned

Ct dote of

Dote 01 nullbffigot nn0010g Jo

Ap.rtmoutNnr

DotootHomot Phoooix AZ

Conotonotioo

1952

UnltuQ
4/2

Lund

1481 050

Ftxtnroo

1390249

Flotnroo

4099871 14I105U 17490 120 IO911IIU 5Ut f/ tUZOOO

Eoge Cooyoo Chmo HIIs CA 1985 252 1808900 16274361 4204489 1808900 20478850 2228770 8547706 13740144

Elltpte ot Goveoomoot Contor Fatofex VA 1989 404 19433000 5686266 946154 19433000 57762420 77195420 2741 397 74454 023

Emoeooo Ploor Bootoo MA 1902 444 14055000 57566636 1380196 1455400 71446832 86301832 30704352 5540740

Eoclavo
It

LakoUodrthtll Or/oodo FL 1989 312 9359750 2953960 1090893 9359750 30630 543 39990293 3978304 36011985

Eoolovo otWotorwoyt DreotioldBoaoh FL 1996 300 15000000 33194576 707033 15000000 33901609 40901609 4583694 44317915

Endove 14 W.ot000 Pork Cotut Crook FL 1995 278 5540000 19939324 1529034 5560 000 21468358 27 028351 5758916 21 269542

Eokvo The Tempo AZ 1994 204 1500192 19281399 1190 960 1500 192 20472258 21972490 /7972785/ 13 999665

Estotot It Phtppo Attanto GA 1996 254 9360000 29705236 3376190 9360000 33091 426 42 441426 585741 36566015

Ettotot 00 Woflmgtoo Gotun Woll.ogloo FL 2003 400 20000000 64790050 962255 25000000 65753105 65753105 9092626 76660479

Fool/old Stomford CT G/ 1996 263 6510299 39690120 4492852 6510 200 44182972 50693172 16 234 319 34458854

Fotolood Goodono Silver Sprtog MD 1981 400 6000 000 19972 183 5427590 000 000 25399773 31399773 10144 346 21295428

FoutWmds FoIl Rvoo MA 1987 168 1370843 163814 1591671 1370843 10750475 12126318 /3298 996 827322

Fox 14/I Ajroetooroto Fotleld CT 1974 166 129018 7547256 1061 074 1129018 8608330 9737348 2688901 7048447

Fox Rot WA Fodrool WJy WA 1988 144 639700 5765018 1509614 639 700 7274632 7914332 3871 952 4.542379

FoxRuoflWA FedtxtWoy WA 1988 80 000 1286139 55 086 80000 l339.225 1415225 /298 159 1121407

Goblet 0/rood Fleeo Coed Goblro FL 1998 lOS 44601400 2145.244 46746244 46 746244 8898.994 37.847.249

Goliroy The Hooxooa BoocbCA 8971 168 18144000 46565936 1557382 18144000 48123318 66267318 5336507 60 930810

Gotohouxo at Pxo Lakx Footbrokr Porte FL 1990 296 1896.600 17.070.795 2815255 1896600 19 884 049 21 780649 87l8 891 I506l759

Gotohoooo ox the 11000 Flooto6ox FL 1990 312 2228200 20036 270 3574818 2228200 23631068 25859288 10278 674 5580614

131409 ofRodotond Rodmoxd WA 1979 180 2306 100 12064015 4004123 2306100 16068.138 18374238 5845429 12528840

Gatewood Floasaotoo CA 1985 200 679651 20249392 2342791 6796 5/1 22592.183 29508 694 4965724 24 422970

Gloataxbuoycootor GlootoxbuoyCT 8962 105 852606 5699.497 618634 852.606 6318.131 7170737 /2030.196 5140541

Govemoox f/oor Bowto 5408 1999 478 19.845000 73335 916 42032 19 845000 73477948 93322.948 3653 3385 89669610

Grooxbold Village Rooky ti/li CT 1965 151 91 1534 6093 418 565622 91 1534 659041 7570.575 122 675 5447.900

Haotltoxtllax Boxo.ly HllxCA 1990 7772000 16864269 89.091 .772000 1772361 20410061 00487 24040 004

HuooxokoFlooe MioooFL 1986 296 319 180 12513467 2684422 319180 15197889 15517069 318371 7198498

Hamptoox FoyatlopWA 1991 230 1119200 10075 844 1468 167 1119200 11544011 12663211 5.056450 7606.762

Haborvrw Sot Pedro CA 1985 160 402500 12 627 347 1841855 6402500 14.469202 20071702 6333885/ 14537 816

Hatbawoy Loxg Beach CA 1987 385 2512.500 2261 1.912 5771 097 2512500 28.383005 30895 509 132021 13 17693 396

Hoolage Rtdgo Lyowood WA 1995 197 6895 000 18983597 310857 895000 19 294454 26189.44 2957 954 23231.500

Hoottago Tho Fboontx AZ 1995 204 1209705 13156903 1126.835 1209705 14263738 5473443 569748 9775959

Ho000 Pomtx Boyoton Boaxh FL 1989 192 1546 700 7774676 1678985 1546700 453661 11000361 2391275 761234

Htddoo Ooks Cart NC 1988 216 178600 10614135 2.314877 178600 12 929012 14107 612 5770 894 6336718

Htddox Polite Tampa FL 1986 256 2049600 6.345885 154 518 2049600 8480203 10529 803 4085678 6444124

Htgblaxd Girt WoxtwoodMA 1979 80 2229095 16828153 1933142 2229095 18761295 20.990390 5399950 15590440

Htghtood Glut It Wootwoad MA 2007 102 19867994 58332 19906326 19906326 169727 18736599

Higltloodo Tho Soaoxdale AZ 1990 272 1823840 31990970 2555577 1823840 3446547 46.370387 4422583 41.947 803

Hodooo Crototog Now York NY 2003 29 23420000 70086976 64309 23.420000 70 732.244 94152284 11243156 82909128

IlodoooPomto JrrxoyCttyN3 2003 82 5148500 41143042 462448 5148500 41.605490 41753990 7384.690 39449300

HootCloblt CltarloooNC 100000 100000 100000 100000

Htmttogton Fork Evorett WA 1991 381 597500 14 367 864 3162525 1597540 17530389 19127889 932519 9807699

Indoor Rood Sooftsdalr AZ 1973 277 1.075700 9000530 2845483 1075700 12 645015 13721 513 /7092138 6629 375

loon Horto FaA Ftoaoot Hill CA 1973 252 15000000 24339549 794 454 15000000 31.130002 46130802 598432 41931571

IxyFlaoe Atlaota.GA 1978 122 802.950 7.228257 1958504 802.950 96761 9989711 378068 5611.643

Koxptox Dowox Groxttaro OR 1990 278 1217349 10943 372 2492331 1217349 13 435705 14653052 6.964220 7608 024

Kroo.ooI Moo.t Bohaxk CA 1991 l41 14 100 000 24 612 803 548.795 14100.000 25 21 1.678 3931 1670 090.7021 36412977

KoyloloatWiodooxoto Ooooo FL 2000 282 8460000 31.761470 895 702 8460000 32657172 41117 72 3796924 37 320.249

Key Ir
II

Wnxdroroxrr II Oxoor FL 2008 165 3306.286 24510756 0817 306286 24.527573 27833.059 224734 27 609 125

KoogoColaoy FL Motot FL 1906 480 19200000 40379586 786 300 19200000 50165966 69365 966 7229691 62136275

La M.rogr Sot Drgo CA 1988 1992 070 20 895200 95567943 10 493222 20895200 106061165 /34956 365 43193153 51763212

LaMoogow SattDtogo.CA 2001 340 6000000 47.449353 896913 6000.000 49346266 55346266 12469214 42077 052

Lagotta Claro Saute Clora CA 1972 264 13.642.420 29.707475 2565383 13.642420 32272.857 45915277 6.399.603 39 5l5.674

Loke SooxaVoto Corobxed Oolaodo FL 2000/2002 672 23520000 75060206 3127959 23520000 70196165 101716165 10851645 90864520

Laket ot Vimflgo Atlaxt GA 972 1975 464 6498000 21 832252 3.576.176 6498000 25408420 31.906.420 10210483 21695945

LakoxlIr Retort Fetohtma CA 1984 492 736500 24610651 5013.485 736584 29624136 32 360636 136191 18 18741518

Laodmgo Pombroko Lako Pombrakx Frnr FL 1989 350 17900040 24531094 164768 17 900000 28695862 46 595 862 3950551 42637 310

LaodxgxaIFortlmpeoial NxwYoekNJ 1999 276 27246045 37741050 5915644 27.246045 43.656093 70902 130 II 540765 59 361 374

Lt Coloao It hook Caoyoo Ptroomx AZ 2008 304 9999005 35 916739 1561 9000000 55510299 44910299 154546 44 763753

LooroltUdge Chopo1HIlNC 1975 160 166000 3206076 4091 065 160000 7297141 7457 141 5511860 1945277

Laxoel lUdgell Cha99lHll.NC 2255/ 22.551 22551 22 551

Lrgotdx Ct Prortex Momovtllo NC 2000 382 3055906 27150092 080 140 3055906 28230241 31286147 0.485769 22000 378

Loxmgtox Forte Alphrtta GA 1995 352 3521900 22888305 2176406 3.521900 25 064 711 2858661 193367 19393245

Loxtog000 FaA Otloodo FL 198 252 2016000 12346726 2205 556 2016000 1452282 16568 282 5838903 10729 575

LobeotyPork BooooTreo MA 2000 202 5977504 26 749111 1.044321 5977584 28293431 34270 935 6313350 27957 585

Ltttlr Cottoowoodo Tempo AZ 1984 579 3050133 26991689 3064410 3050133 30056100 33106.233 12148 158 20958075

L0000 Ploxe Tompo FL 1908 280 2240000 16679214 2646895 2240000 19 326109 21566.109 509246 14056062

Leogfrllow Flor Bottom MA 1975 710 53/64.160 183.940619 36 399079 53164160 220339697 273503 857 70881773 94622084

LoomioMoxor WootHaolfordCT 1948 43 422350 2823326 375223 422350 198549 3620899 1043095 25/1086

MadoooatdrdarSpo.ogx Dalloo TX 1995 380 2470000 33194620 423060 2470000 36617600 39087 680 12884379 26203301

Modoao
at

Claoo Oaks Plooo TX 1955 470 3055000 28932885 2242678 3055000 31175563 34 230 563 580152 22642411

Modo000n Melrooe Riohaodoox TX 1995 200 1300000 15096551 981925 1300000 16 078476 7378.476 5.900043 478433

Mogoolto otVhtlook Moootta GA 1971 152 132979 1526 005 3900098 132979 426103 5559082 4235767 325 315

Macfloes W6aof OtexIe Park FL 1909 272 1861200 16.744951 941 744 86l.200 19.086695 21.547 895 7955327 13592.560

Marqoooxo Corooo Hills CA 1992 336 888500 21694584 2.465423 6888300 24070007 30958507 10.01981 20938695

Marthalako Lyooxvood WA 1991 155 821200 7405 070 1702 708 82/ 200 107779 9920979 4150837 5778 142

Maotooe The BollexxoWA 1984 67 3200000 9616.264 1.715520 3200000 II 331792 14531 792 503508 14028.284

MoodowRadgo NoroohCT 1987 120 747957 4999937 65842 747957 658362 64063/5 760359 4645959

Moroll Cook Lakewood WA 1994 l49 814200 330606 933970 814 200 026457 9078775 3500071 5570704

Mill Crook MOIFr64 CA 1991 516 12858693 57168503 1763176 12 858693 50 931679 7I790372 l291 18175 58878555

Miro Florot Palm Brash Gardoot FL 1996 332 703933 2233299 1514605 70393I3 24029954 31069217 6535956 24533261

MoaoxorLokos MtromaaFL 2003 344 17200000 51487233 910907 17200000 52406222 69606222 189253 63416969

Matt00 Ba Orlando FL 1991 304 2432000 21623560 2233969 2432000 23057529 26289529 8926315 17363215

MooooVeodr LLC Soojoto CA 1986 108 5190700 9679109 2918055 5190700 12 597163 7787863 4128009 13659 859
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EQUITY REStDENTIAL

Sohedule Ill Root Ettate sod Aocomuloted Depreolottos

Dooemher3l 2tOt

AporsmeosrtOtOe

Cost Capitalized

Sobooqoeot to

Aoqoststoolottlol Cost to

Deaoripttos Couspaoy

Bstldmt Aooomstoted

Lood Fixtures Total Doprooiatioo

lovottittoot to Root

Elate Not ot 12/Mitt EooornhraoorsLood

Cross Arnooot Carded

at
Ctoeo of

Date of Hsildlog HaOdta

MaOtOiOO MIII i_rook Mi/I Coos/c WA
Casstrssotloo

2003

Uataa ltJ

13 2OS 005

Ftaturex

/325512/

Fixturex

167330 2.0000W 3011400 10 222000 /2ZZI004/ /3 994794

Mao/ogsdo Scaotdao AZ 99 160 675 470 12657976 429596 70470 /403572 79342 9637 56 9070

Moaolzm Totoaco Stoooaaou Rauth CA 1992 510 396905 35514995 20336 966 550 43095931 47 06/i/ /6962 56 /0095975

NowtlivoeCovo DzoioFL 999 316 15500000 4542595 57202 15 500005 46.7/4907 625/4907 69355 5652/ 042

Noohaa9000 Larga MD 1905 276 1515505 14246 990 /65555 51/ 500 174/2545 5925040 046954 9079004

NooMaka MD C0000alowa MD 195 /54 5000000 2/ 142 /02 655 901 15 000 000 /25005/ 00005 520061 4190022

Nolto45r Ploaoaat Hill CA 1974 225 5.527.000 14.691 705 557075 5527 00 20570779 26105 579 72929/0 5015679

NOJIIIWOOOS Vlaga Cay NC 196 225 1569700 1460 /37 046290 1569 700 15906627 15 276527 6l70/57 9097

Oaks at falIx Charoh Falit Cltooch VA 1966 176 20240000 20192 616 2541 36 20240 000 22994492 452/4452 3165456 40065996

Octza Corel Solaoatloach CA 1956 146 51 11200 910 435 170/ 735 51 1206 15696173 /0 505373 921964

Ocorn Walk Koy Wool FL 1990 207 235749 25 545009 2949241 253749 25494249 31 332 990 II 254710 20070200

Olimsao Towels SeoOlo WA 2000 32 14752034 75 /7604l 742451 14752 034 751 10292 57l 326 l4l2059l 75750

Oochood Rdgo Laawaa4 WA 195 104 450600 372033 967 317 40606 5330350 019 950 2059009 960 4/

Qvo600kMoooo Foodoock MD 190/1905 l0 29906 936951 1096555 299100 82746 126 96 650019

Ovolook Mzaos II Frodoock MU 1900 1955 12 2106500 6262597 92500 106300 705 0374 0/5 242 274 5/I /31

Focos Slo000 Adaolo I/A 1904-1950 610 401500 32540053 72/1010 01 500 39 75962 44 5/I 362 17469546

Fuadlo Hllabara OR 2550 497 6461000 44050l56 010712 6461000 45 90065 52 359 660 12513925 39045945

hIm Teoco Laodogt Oavso FL 995 765 400000 105 793432 503979 5400000 10729741 145 693 4/ 312950097

FoothorRidgo Fodooul Wa0 WA 1950 260 05500 06 17 63557 1055 00 11
169 974 2225774 5007 543 2l 233

Foot 77 HowYaitçHY 30 1955 157 40 554000 l0025679 950422 40504000 20 976 lOl 61 4801/I 29 575 59

Fort Colooooo How York NV 30 1927 66 57 600000 9856337 136926 37805000 12 995263 50 593263 1.664 2393 40929

Fare Collxoam Now VaiL NY 30 1910 176 52 694000 23046 491 72460 52654000 27918 951 00 2951 32561 460 43

Foot at 170110 ttao Thu Cowl Soogx FL 2001 257 IS 420000 36 064620 759832 IS 425 000 36524461 52 244 461 35 02 550 4654191/

Fork Slaaaaagdalo Loodarntotato Hoowo Dloaturngdalo IL 1989 16824 4873 5998 16824 70876 95 700 30 281 65410

Fork Wool CA Lao Aagutox CA 157/1990 444 3033500 27302385 035591 3033 500 32 337973 35 371473 15297 564 20073909

Forkaido Umax Ctty CA 1979 200 246700 027453 995961 6246 700 14 23414 21 0701 14 507806 14562 220

Faekvtato Taerace Re4IOOda CA 1906 555 4969200 35653777 801094 4989200 48 545371 51514571 17 785 509 33720053

Fwkwaod CT Foal Havoo CT 1975 102 531 365 3502064 595656 531 365 4150700 4602 065 1354 4953 527570

FtoItlfx Fork Wolloaloy MA 1905 49 16922 460955 097230 518922 6350 lOS /1 /510/ 094 290 o2ooxo7

Fixa Huobom Orlmdo FL 1991 386 1684500 14 975 915 5094321 1664 308 18065236 19729536 709 955027

Flaya Facifica Hooaasa SoaahCA 1972 205 35100040 53 473 022 6009 421 35100060 4033243 75 43243 96 484 69515706

Foom 01 Sooth Moootwa Fh000w AZ 198 584 2225000 20 059 31 553555 2228500 22912 819 25141 619 IS 050 243 5141375

Folaa Fast Oolaada FL lOSt 505 1356000 9058620 1849205 1506500 25907508 222939/5 927 391 4366517

Faa Royalo FL Lzadoodalo FL 195 252 1794250 15789573 5840 425 1754200 21638301 23 392 SOt 1035/ 615 1304156

pow Royalo II FL Laodoodalo FL 1958 161 1022206 9253166 3710 65 1022206 13913 551 1393655t 770 701 0185550

PoaRoyalo III
Ft Loadoodalo FL 195 324 7454980 14725802 6940190 454900 21666 500 29 120900 594063 25125997

So09fioa Chrna WIlt CA 1989 576 5572400 14660904 1505 IS 5572408 16241109 19 0135/9 552370 13261 139

F000tdo Towels 300005C115 NO 1992-1997 527 2247006 98042915 0156 163 22407006 105099076 120 46003 3507512 59679571

hoooooo at Gore Craoh Oeaofiold Boaah FL 1597 540 15500000 60011205 2155641 505000 62146049 75 646549 12 844 000 63652

Ftstoo Tho Aoli0000 VA 2002 256 32080000 64451521 493189 32000000 64944 690 96 944 690 662135 90323305

Foornoaado FL St Fatottbatg FL 1994 534 2124153 25004037 3555540 2124 153 29 35907 31 483 770 252566 20230904

Ftotaoaado al Av0000oa Avootoro FL 1995 296 13325 000 30353740 2603391 13 32000/ 32 557 39 46277 139 9521590 755749

Foat000ado at Tomo CoHort Vairma CA 2001 294 14700000 35390 279 1120568 14 700 005 3651 146 5121 46 7360 900

Ftwmooodo at Wyodloato La/co Corel hjtoogx FL 1998 332 6645000 26743760 1631879 6640000 28375639 35015639 866255 28 329381

Fmtoaotaty Fomlo II Ph000to AZ 194/1996 424 2355559 50421 40 406 135 2355909 33927970 36193 479 1364594 22499355

Ftaapoct lawots Hw600tath Hi 1993 157 3926600 27 966 416 2635 344 926600 30861 760 34525 360 12559125 22 139235

Ftot1toct Towns II Hwkomotk NJ 2802 203 4500 500 33104 733 1295293 4500 000 34400 026 38 900526 252 34 30647642

Ravoot Cwtt Flototharo NJ 1904 754 4670550 42059642 534 409 467050 531 IS 051 57755 901 26920342 30957559

Rodlmda Laao aod Taoott ttotlaoda CA 196 496 4922 320 26359328 964 505 4622 320 30323913 35146233 /2454 83 22741 346

610
Rodatoad Sodgo Rrdtaaad WA 2005 JI 697r 7/5 45932825 17140 67 705 45a40awc 52835 881 1087 Sl590

Rodtoaod Way Rxtbaaod WA 15546376 6597 326 15546378 6897326 22433702 22433752

RegoacyFataw Hautioglootloath CA 1969 310 1057460 16713294 3400710 1057480 20113972 21071 372 978393 12152979

Rogoowy 06th Coasovillo VA 199 252 2521500 200666 7541759 3521504 23742424 26263924 999 214 17274710

Ro000gtoa Noca Fh000w AT 1953 412 1492750 13377475 4040 994 1492750 17 419472 1091 1222 5533 555 10577717

R000too otTo00 Cootot Loadax VA 2092 290 3144056 27669121 584594 3144056 29233315 31 377770 5599 555 25978 215

Ama-ox ol lomo Costs II WA 6411 Crooh WA 4310417 5013821 310417 5013621 324039 9324

Root400cot Liolo Rvw Haoootalt MA 3003 174 6905135 19172747 354 973 8905138 19557720 26 462858 4024.922 23437 936

Sobtioo MtIt Moewboxtor CF 1905 104 77929 5267144 556665 797939 823512 61 1741 1050563 4761

Stdgomood Vitlago tAll 350 Otogo CA 1997 408 809500 34004045 1409420 859500 35 413488 47222968 1457 452 35 765 515

Rixoex Sood CT Wmdoat CT 1973 373 3325917 22073826 2290970 525517 24 64804 29190320 7573 64 20616457

t8tooovtro Coadawtoiuoos Naooah CT 1991 92 305000 7408750 1630134 2300.000 /36864 1356864 3425 839 791 026

Itmk Crook Catehooo NC 1956 195 095700 5062543 020944 095700 091406 tO 957 186 4002339 614 047

Raawltff Qamoy MA 1999 158 5460000 15 721570 799043 5460 600 16 519 613 21979 613 390 975 6595

Royal GaIts FL Sacltooaotllo FL 1991 204 1.98.000 13645 17 673120 190 000 1631823 tO 306 239 191023 IS 215

Sabel hIm at Hoot ttaoch Faha Hmhao FL 1996 432 3088 000 25923692 735717 358 000 31659489 35 547409 117600793 23 779331

Sabal hIm at Caroollwoad Flaw Tam09 FL 19 433 58000 2691 1542 2232195 08 000 29143739 33031738 10 869948 22 362790

S66a1 Fobs 01 La/a Saooa Vttta Ortaodo FL 1950 400 20/0040 23 67093 715931 000 000 28395024 29 190024 10017094 191St 730

Sabol Fobs at MoOawoot Orlzotla FL 1990 41 41 10000 35394065 3150554 4110 080 41545449 45655449 15215912 30 439 537

Sobul Fobs
at

Moteamoot II Otlzada FL 1997 456 4580 050 33987253 2154794 4566060 36062067 40 622067 15073399 27545

Sobot Fatate Cowl Spuoga FL 1995 275 1951 600 17570559 394553 1951 600 20955061 22906861 9655450 13221203

oddto Rtdgo AxOhre VA 909 716 364 8/0 2.203.616 1.073.416 1.364 00 14157 033 15521553 6790014 5731

SOfO Caodamtoiaro Hoteot LLC FoxtaIL WA 2002 123 2500000 12521256 325641 2500000 2349597 14 849897 11 14232 13 73 665

Savattoth at
PaokFlatr Attaata GA 2901 416 7696095 34114542 2439417 7696095 36552 960 44249054 7216220 37032 34

Savoy ifi Aaxoea CO 659165 1850695 659165 695 2539SOt 539061

Secttoty Mzoar Woxthold h9A 1971 63 355456 2576152 353 201 355 456 709 353 064909 09621 2255 10

Sroloy Lahe Lahoooood WA 1990 522 760400 24545256 5370 196 2760 400 2233402 30993 542 12099508 5054374

Sovmth Joaot hototo WA 1992 96 663 500 5974803 2245556 663 000 0220559 9094159 4038426 945 33

Shodaw Crook Wtotar SF008t FL 2000 250 6000000 21719765 1049 360 6000000 22769 128 25769128 522360 24246 65

hhoodaa Loho C/tb Doota Soaah FL 2001 246 12 000000 23179500 630565 13000000 33009 449 35 809449 2296331

Shoodaa Ocom C/oh cambmod Omta Sowh FL 1991 648 1313414 470999/0 9139 062 15313414 56 229 993 74 543407 1489176 59 651 639

bttvwS09ogt FL Jackoootllo FL 1955 432 1831166 16474735 5190 516 1031060 21 65525 23406351 10 366665 131/966

Skylath lJatoa Ltty CA 196 174 1701 605 16731916 1341922 1791600 15073 930 I9055455 794474 13/66964

Saoataa Fhaoam AZ 1995 429 2361922 31541724 2353560 361922 34195 203 36557205 13 460 766 23 0084/9

Soathwoad Falo Alto CA 195 105 6936660 14324069 1731565 6936600 16055 654 22 992 234 6275 927 716307

S-6



EOR Whom Owned Euoonrbored

740 RoDrve

929 Horun

Aco.drmy Village

Actor Courtyard

Alborada

Alrxuodoo ooPonco

Amber000

Arbor Torooco

Arborotmo MA
Ardor Vrllau

Artoch Buuldarg

Aelrao Squaro

Avour

Bachrrhmmoe Butdsag

Bay Hdl

Boltagro Apornrtrnt /lomou

Borkeloyart

Sc Paul MN

Cambodge MA

North Hollywood CA

Borlcoloy CA

Fromont CA

Allaora GA

Mortosrar VA

Suorscalo CA

Cootou MA

Orlando FL

Berkoloy CA

Norrhodgo CA
Auahoira CA

Botkoloy CA

Long Boach CA

Scottudalo AZ

Bookrloy CA

tiQUflY RESIDENTIAL

Sohrrlolr HI Real Eatate tad Aooanrnlnted Drprroiatiou

Derembor 312008

Dororiptloro

Coat Copitahaed

Subaeqornt to

Anqaisotora

Lund

Groan Amount Currird

at Clone of

Penod 12/30/08rampr000mea.o cry One

Building Aooamolotod Invootoaent to Ron

Laud Fluturon Total Depreointian Eatate Net at 12/31/08 Eunambra0000

loitial Coot to

RE8BL

Lo000lon

route

C..nafl0000u irs 1i8 Land

Building

Fioturos

Baildiag

Fiuiureu

Spong 1911 Commorru Aoroo MA 1973 lOS 107.030 7402900 4570320 1107436 11901300 13088735 2936496 10152239

SpoegboookEueutou RrvorutdeCA 18206000 18200000 18200000 8200000

St Aodrrwo or
Wioalru Paris Coo000t Crork FL 1997 24 5680000 19812090 1552357 5680000 21364448 27044448 5766 647 21277800

9100ev Crook LakowootLWA 1990 231 1215200 10930 134 l992 699 1215200 /2930833 14146033 5561.951

Strabnidgo Mr.udowo Srarbndgo MA 1985 /04 702447 46957/4 807 772 702447 550346 6205 933 1706453

Suromor Rudgr Ravorrade CA /985 /36 602400 5422 807 19/2 238 602450 7335045 7937445 3466532

260 646

Summoanet Vsllrgr II Chatawooth CA 260646 260646 260646

970 10109800
Srmroorwood Hayward CA /982 /62 4866600 6942743 1705 627 4866600 6648370 13514

1/724841
Surrrrmt Block Hr/I Forrruegroa CT 1967 106 1757 458 11748.112 2516753 1757438 14264866 lb 022 303 4297762

878

Smmoor or Loko Guru Seatrle WA 1995 1997 150 1424706 12852461 2470.637 1424700 15323118 1674781 6377 940

861

Seeroy 100wou SrllovroWA 1986 122 3057150 7848618 1090 834 3057106 8939 452 11.996 552 5510691

15744095
Sycamore Crook Sooeudalr AZ 1984 350 3152000 19083727 2696969 152 000 21 780296 24932296

8660212
TorbooHollow Chapel HIINC 1986 /90 800000 11219537 1597627 800000 12817164 13617164

597 33831024
Tortoga Boy Orlaodo FL 2004 3/4 6280000 32121779 784818 6280000 32996597 39186

78623 846

Toucaoa byron CA 1991/1993 563 39410000 50806072 5499188 39410000 56296260 95706260

Towooo at Homdon Homdon VA 2002 218 10900000 49216125 415796 10 900 000 49.631 921 60531 6150653

986

TnrmpPloco 140 0vorerdo Now York NY 2003 354 103539199 94082725 792105 103539160 94.874 830

455

1984/3 /3 387944

25449168 30736677
Trump Place 160 Rovorurdo New York NY 2001 455 139933599 /90964745 1917710 139933.506 192082

Tour2 Floco /80 Savorurdo Now York NY 1998 516 144968250 l38346681 2010666 144960250 141157.347

16072605

286125597

16031806
Tumbroy Isle Dollar TX 994 187 2092 000 15287285 75320 2992000

Volrrco Plrorarror Orlardo FL 1990 194 873000 12819377 1276.090 873060 /4095468 14968.468 5175 393

495
Var Deem Manor Wool Sprrrgfiold MA 1970 III 74449/ 4976771 463363 744491 5440133 6184024 1747130

41447465
Voiced/eu Wood/arid HilIr CA 1991 253 12650 000 33636292 3247607 12650090 36903 890 49.553099 8106434

920

V.0100 ooVen00 Lou Augobeu CA 2006 115 10350 000 35.430461 71040 10350000 3550/ 501 45.851.501 3.415581 42435

View Paulo Rvorude CA 1998 200 104001010 263/5 150 1111852 10400000 27427902 37827002 3857291 33969711

Vt/la So/mo Lagrma Hr/lu CA 1984 272 1065 /00 /49050/0 3rro lore 106 193o2.334 21 10 6.4035

Village at BoarCreek Lakowood CO 1987 472 45/9700 40676390 3.171117 4519700 43847507 17943100

Vol/ago ofNeopoo Kout WA 1987 100 416300 3756562 716348 4/6306 4472 930 4809 12 380644

Vrrgil Squaro LouArrgrlou CA 1979 142 5500000 15216613 09/718 5500000 16/08331 21008 2536834

VItro Del Lago Mtoo00 Viojo CA 1986-1980 608 4525800 40736293 8984246 4525800 49320539 53846 339 26131 608

V.10 Grove Moua AZ /997/1998 224 341.796 12157045 1100139 1341 796 13257185 /4598981 5211012 9387309

Watorford Jar II Juckuruvullo FL 566923 62373 566923 62373 629.296

Wolarford at Dreewood Iuckuoou50 FL 1985 248 14909/3 10659702 2631532 1496913 13291254 1478167 5408.393

867

Watoofuod at Orange Pork George Pooh FL 1986 200 1960000 12090764 2586.956 1960000 14685741 1664574/ 0209073

Waterbed at the Laker Kaot WA 1990 344 3100200 16140 924 /7935 3100200 10258859 21359 8117707

Warorudr Reutor VA 1984 276 20700000 27474380 5802530 20700 000 33.276 917 53976 5198894

/05

Webttoe Green Needham MA 1985 77 1418093 9485006 753992 1418893 /0230998 11657891 3.029786

Web/oby Lake Club Surrue FL 1991 304 3640080 17620679 2395.273 3648099 20016 IS 23664 7544345

Wool Sod Apae0000tu gsa Emeruoe Place CRP II Boutor MA 2008 310 469546 162675247 150517 469546 162825764 163295 3432867

56560 552

Wev000ly ul Woeldgato Homdor VA 995 320 14568000 45620057 506338 14568000 58694393

28962435
Wourfiold Vs/logo Cearorv/Io VA 1908 228 7060000 23245834 4334790 7.000000 27580624 34580624 5610108

24516186
Woutrodgo Tacoma WA 1987.1991 714 3501900 31506062 5558220 3.501 908 37056302 40558202 /6042016

Wearudo Vllou Lou Argo/os CA 1999 21 1785000 3233254 215322 1785 000 34-40576 /087925

Wenrude Villas II
Lou Aegolea CA /999 23 955 000 354/435 /1079 1955.000 3652193 5607 193 1038765 4560428

Worru/doVIlau Ill Los Angeles CA /999 36 3060000 553007/ /59104 3060000 5698055 1635012

Woaludo Villas IV Lou Argeles CA 1999 36 3000000 5539390 166944 3060000 5706334 1621.210

WourudeVillarV LosrbogolruCA 1999 60 l00000 9224480 204051 6199000
9617 649 14617 949

WeutasdoVtIuVI Lou Aognlou CA 1989 18 530000 3023523 200 625 1530000 3232148 937683

12974970
Weotade V.1/u V/I Lou Aagoleu CA 200/ 53 4505000 10758900

295 14/ 4505 000 1/054040 /5559040 2584070

Wlrupoerug Oaks Waled Crook CA 1974 316 2170909 /9539506 3.710991 2170900 2325057 25421 77 /0728477 14692901

Worbocly 01 Dmrevood Jackuorville FL 2000 322 6000 000 30057214 1200755 8000000 31 257969 4444345

Wmchestoe Park Roveousde 5/ 1972 416 2822 618 18068626 4044490 2822 618 22913116 25735.734 8072828

WacherterWood Rvrrsdo RI 1989 62 603215 4567154 652 80/ 6032/5 5219955 5903 /71 1544324 4358846

Wordmort Aelarta GA 1988 /78 3204000 7128 448 1167 004 3294000 8295453 1499 453 2073.715

Wadnor asFuo Lakou P001eas VA /988 250 IS 000000 20587 /09 4391 868 10099000 32978 976 42978 976 6384022 36594.954

Winoire The FL Pembroke Psreu FL 200/ 2003 464 I8561000 49527 569 598 991 /856/ 000 50126 560 68687500 286208 65825472

537
Wood CeeokCA Ploarsol Hrll CA 1987 256 9729908 23009 760 2683 456 9729900 .693 224 35423 /24 /10 54587

586

Werdbndgr Caey faA 1993 l995 28 737400 6636 870 125626/ 737400 7893 130 86305 3742944

Woodbrdgo CT Newsngron CT /968 498 377 3331548 696 573 498 377 4028 /2/ 4526490 124960/ 3276897

Wooilbrdgrfl Caey GA 1993 1995 2/6 1244.600 11243364 l769 6/6 1244 600 IS 0I2 980 /4257 580 5996407
98/

Wood/nab Cairpholl CA 1984 8550600 1698183 1299 902 8550000 l8288085 26038685 6785704

Worduda Loeroa VA /987 252 1326 00 12510903 5576996 326060 /8087 898 /94/3848 8752.563 10661335

Maaagemeei Baumonu Chicago IL 76941326 76941 326 7694/ 326 48005088 28936230

800.718

Oprertag Paouers/op

EQR Wbotly Ornood Unencumbered

Ctacago IL 806716 000

788/3 2377 679 457 74673/2966 035 115 646 2377679.457 302428610 /0680108067 221144675 846703392

1962 /63 1626700 234 943 3814496 1626 700 15049439 16676139 7016877 659262 4443 675

1975 127 3252 993 21745 595 203875 5252 993 23 949470 27 282 463 Il 705 20090 759 3579 583

1989 248 25000 000 23593194 060244 25000080 28653438 53 653 438 050 444 48602904 20000508

2003 7/ 5550000 /5785509 20026 5550000 /5 806335 21 356 35 1445857 19910478 9925508

199 442 24310000 59 214 129 93 453 243l8000 61 /52502 0546252 I8106/9 6665/ 963 70

2003 335 9900000 358/9 022 /50190 905500 36969212 46869212 5159227 41 709985 28880000

1986 /90 900600 1921815 2240 783 900600 14102597 15063197 6180920 802270 l0705 008

1979 /74 9057300 18483642 1899788 057 308 20383 430 29440730 7581207 21.859524

/989 /56 4685900 15992751 562 523 4605900 12 555274 /7241174 959265 /2281959

/999 336 500005 20 608790 280/ 482 5500000 31402278 36 902278 081696 3/ 82051 23009902

2002 21 1642000 132518 20518 1642000 9173036 10 815038 735239 10001798 3200 000

2002 /40 7000000 20537359 588909 7000000 2/126 268 28 /26268 /4 720000 23 406.268

1907 102 12 960 005 18495 974 705203 12960 050 19281179 3216/179 2239060 29922 892 /9850000

Z04 44 459 000 13 866 379 15148 5439000 /380/527 /7 320 527 /76 425 16 144102 0585000

2002 160 600 000 27437239 605 09/ 605000 28 042330 35642 330 0/9 465 30622 865 13994000

1995 202 626 500 /602 041 765 530 2626000 16790971 19416971 3165360 16251202

1998 56 4377000 /6 022110 178584 4377000 /6200694 20577 694 1387160 /9190534 433 767
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

Sebedale ifi Real Estate cad Aeeumtstated Deprectatten

December 312008

Cast Capitalized

Sabteqce.ttta

AeqataittenIntttat Castta

Detertptien Cempany tmprevemeart net renec at/altec

Railthag Aeeemetated tneeent In Real

Lend Flelteree Teed Depreeiatten Estate Net at 12131/58 EeeambraeeeeLand

Great Aaeeaat Carried

at Clene ef

Dane at maaalng tee maeemngze

Apnrteeeet Name Leeattee rnnfrneo eTle IS 1eeerea rlnerre

SeedleyTark teyalleyWA 1999 15 3513th/li IL3I3eae 2654t 3eIieW t/94/9 L2392119 /3ufl.3i taaoooee e/e24 tie

SeerICeoIl Ayiz Vemee CT 1956 150 925572 620998 109991 925972 7309599 525.57/ 2363246 557362 5397/

Beeeweed CA Saeeyvelr CA 1955 92 999100 2224727 1195469 9995500 23.446747 33 438247 555075 24 550177 /2 503000

Sreekside OdD Frrdrrck MD /993 225 736 000 7934069 /505601 2736000 7996/0 /2535070 555020 5007650 /70000

Cea/aebaey Gremnalewe MD 1506 544 2751300 3294203/ /3270970 2751300 462133/0 4599450 /9075307 293/0302 3/000000

Caya Ieeer OaeksenviIr FL 1990 240 000000 22404240 /39579 4000000 22624 /0 27424/IS 1.090922 25027196 /4J20 343

Caye Iieeee /acksenn/Ie FL /995 240 500000 22229530 5535404 4000000 23360240 20/00240 I944209 20223900 /3045.237

Caemrl Terrace See thege CA /905 /909 304 2200300 2039020/ 451920 220 300 30040200 32 336500 /3/23742 /922704

CedeeGlee Eradeag MA /900 /04 1240000 0340003 1/07034 /240 303 0333600 /0702/63 2900500 7073303 565026

Crelaeea/CemI SeatdeWAG 200/ 107 000000 2/200039 23/075 3000000 2/5/1914 2531/9/4 342999 2/005005 /6600973

Ceeleoea/ Tewer Seal/Ia WA 191 22/ 000000 40000339 3294/4 0900 000 30 /29754 56029704 76/3/72 404/432 2665417

COd/tee Sqazee Errimeed WA 199/ 1/3 3397/00 929074 67395 397/00 05062 13362 /62 755639 603523

ChesHat Glee Abeegtee MA 1903 130 1/70963 705/30 772743 /70 965 065352 532047 2607565 7/40202 070 522

Chareh Corner Cambeedge MA /907 50 22000 /6744643 6030 322000 /7003.209 22 23209 43742 /970/ 467 /2000 000

Cirre Creel Peeve CO 1996 480 03/00 34094090 74371 003/00 365929 43462360 03036/93 2426/76

C/cO Teezabearee Illilebere OR 1990 302 32/300 16257934 279973 521300 IS 052005 22574200 04/5070 /4/30332

CoIeede Peinle Orevee CO 2000 /93 790000 200/376 /0/234 579000 20907000 34787000 36/5292 3/573700

CenwzyCeao ReslmdaleMA /920 20 /0145/ 7/0524 /09060 10145/ 900392 100/043 302/74 699670 3203/0

CoyyeeCaeyee HgleleedeEaachCO /909 222 1442212 162511/4 90995 /4422/2 172001/2 /0630323 0/0063 /2640250 06

Cemeoy Seat/i COated/a AZ /956 /996 396 1005219 29042535 30/ 1345 /50520 32553050 34039099 129/3 064 2/ /46 034

Ceeetey Clab Lakee Jeekeaevelle FL /997 593 /5000000 4/030756 2799600 5000000 43035472 30030472 713020 0/7/6 544 33 /70 246

Cookeedr See Melee See Melee CA /903 /92 00600 2/193232 21305 006600 22409740 3206340 0326697 23609643

Ceraiealat Chany Creek Oeeve CO /994 2/6 094000 10149470 147905 2094000 1629/20 19223120 6700229 /2522099

Crewa Leers Oeeesdz/e AZ /007 4/6 3/56600 254/4 399 992049 3106 600 34 407 440 37064048 /444972 231 /4375

Oteenread Cetera Cornea CA /992 3/0 4742200 20272092 2093960 4742200 23 2656/ 2500906/ 9759446 /02/913

l3rerweeil OH See Oerge CA /990 3/6 002095 10739$/S /05600 202 095 20706 395 307490 /4661895 1726595

Feebedge Pollee 176 /990 /69 380000 5000352 704905 300 00 12645207 102527 3692/04 /2333/04 435 73

FeizIre cc Ma//lend SW//li//I Or/aede FL /990 272 9520000 20352160 435179 520000 20753 330 35303330 4079290 34224 039

6/u/re aI Iaeo/eweod weeleeeotrr CO 2/fiJi Ooe 7Ooooec 5/200535 /327213 75oooec 5a5eIo2t ooI4/o21 /e/47ioo o/yo442

Fiae AeU Saidieg Seekrleo CA 2004 /00 717000 26462772 25395 70/7000 2645370 34303 370 310033 3/906337 /62/5 000

Fweside Fark Reekyille MO /96/ 236 4245000 9977/01 2037370 4240000 /2014470 17062479 3097290 /965/00 0093000

Oaie Se/Id/ag Seekei13 CA 2000 71 13000 2523526 4666/ 71 13000 20660407 32751407 2237949 30343030 /4630000

Gateway tIMe/date Lea/ce Maldea MA /900 203 9200700 2072266 007200 209750 3150974 40799654 7320061 33470 793 /4070000

Carey Caaet Yaad See feeecieee CA /900 /64 1722400 /547/420 /703020 722400 /7/74430 /00950 64/220 12053630 /9300770

Glee Oeeva We/leaky MA IFS /25 1346601 0008303 900913 134460/ 999295 113/3596 3046409 0207400 20731

Glee Meedaw Feaeddia MA 1971 20 2339330 /779431 203010 2339330 20331396 22 690 927 29300 16395039 /10536

Oaeaald Greet Late Falmeath IdA 1970 33 124296 030091 264497 /24296 093356 1219604 390911 020773 45242

Oaadrvd/r at Rvaa f/ace Oneda FL 2002 200 6000000 231/4693 1302075 000000 24416767 304/6767 0049743 23367022 20000000

Oaaeallavea UHoe Coy CA 0953 230 7507 000 /5210399 2533460 30700 /7763 067 25270067 6073909 10396 958 /0975000

Oeeaahaaae Frey Read Keeaesaw GA 1900 409 2467200 2257443 4041601 2467200 26729135 29196333 /4000034 /3137400

Gaaaahaaee Ratwell Raewe/I GA 1905 236 220000 /0974727 2474350 1220000 /34491 16 dM9.1 /6 7204 050 7350065

c/eaattwaad FeeS Ceelaaeeal CO 1994 291 4360000 30372 440 725203 4365000 39100640 43460643 3203000 40262646

Oeeaawaad Plaza Ceelaaaiel CO 1996 266 3900000 33546700 11306/4 3990000 37003322 40095322 300/2/5 37994/07

Hamp here P/ace Late Aegelee CA 1909 259 10006 000 30335330 /303399 /0006000 3/ 720 720 42526728 560736 36963 993 325 409

HaeFoestapa Seattle WA 2000 730 30900000 15$20432 34610/4 900000 I62291246 22210/ 246 2224/9/O /99949 33/ /34763 997

Heeghts aa Cayaa Hi/I OeeO/a WA 2006 /04 0425000 21136020 71212 5423000 21209240 26634 240 096940 24332299 /9 320000

Hae/lage al
Slaiaa Ridge HaeIeglaa MA 2003 /00 10.000000 3/500333 403316 /0500000 3229163/ 43091601 430/122 30790029 20692/74

Hanaga Grace 0/aebedge MA 1974 /30 030313 3553090 1031540 830313 6613435 7400732 2232291 52/646/ /066070

Heaaaha/d Keddaed WA 1090 202 0240000 270/0110 725229 245000 27743339 36900339 2703359 34234900 06

High Meadaic FI/mgNa /070 ba 000675 l00I774 607000 000070 44/0/00 SI220a0 i/laI600 /aI lea /057 110

Hegh/eadfaml AueaeaCO 1954 310 /63/900 14604439 20573/5 631900 /6741754 10373604 7463096 109/0050

High/aide at Chaeiy Hill Chatty Hella NJ 2002 /70 6546000 21459/OS 471177 6600000 21930200 20730203 3203694 25524392 16001272

Higheada at Soath PSeabald OctetS Plaiaoeld NJ 2000 252 10000000 375269/2 576777 /0050000 38/03650 40153600 0033750 43149930 2/552 742

Ia/a at Ateawhaad I/tech Gleadale AZ 1996 256 /650237 /9593/23 /347070 650237 20940 201 22390435 0244530 14345900

Ivaty Weed Sethall WA 2000 /44 2732000 /3058252 4626/3 2732000 /4330890 063605 2723630 14340066 0020000

Jaitaa Tawaaa Bevedy MA 1976 /00 437072 021733 930395 437072 3537330 294402 l433006 20393/7 /450692

LaTaetaaeaatCalaea 0/altec Ca/me CA 2005 /33 41249346 323559 41072905 41372905 323007/ 36342334 20940000

LaSatle Saaaaetaa OR 1990 054 7202000 33077612 /930273 7202006 37007005 45009505 9409696 35600100 30462 /20

Legecy at High/teA Reach Hegh/eada Reach CO 1099 422 6330000 37307013 /069200 6330000 30626 301 46936301 603117S 30/20/23 2164/420

LaaaaatPeoeaaaaFleca DaehaaaNC /999 292 4300000 /0974425 446705 4300000 19421129 23501129 4339972 /9461150 004529

Laaale Haighta Qrnecy MA /901 336 3920400 33595262 9764734 3925400 43339046 49255396 13005223 34 223173

Laagfallaie Glee Sadbaay MA /954 /20 /094273 7314994 2266380 1094273 9551374 10 670640 3374266 7301301 2933624

Laagviam P/em Waltham MA 2004 340 20000000 90235309 430/31 0000000 90660639 /1 563639 1064022 99 6746/7 029000

Laegwaad Gecatiet GA /992 260 /454040 13007393 /639126 454045 /4726519 /6100567 600509 0499975

Mediaoa al
Rica Sated Lawaeacevalla GA /996 506 3666 999 47387/06 2020976 3666999 49413003 53000082 17 029007 35256023

Maekel SFeatVillaga Oaa Dmga CA 2006 220 13740000 40757004 296103 /3 740000 4/053/57 54793 /07 3021043 30971304

Nadia Fag/swamI CO /967 66 4920 300 44 6223/4 5050912 4925000 40703 226 34631726 20537346 33 794150 /9 /93000

Named Sate/lie Pla Galeth GA /909 424 3400000 30115 674 2305090 400 000 32 421 665 30621 665 10401672 25 359 903

Ma/race/mt Seal/la WA 2002 /02 5340000 /2 209961 176601 6040000 /2 306052 20926502 lOIS/OS /91 Il 474 /6650004

Mill Peed Millmavelle 150 1904 240 2800000 0460014 2196463 2000000 10664477 1330447/ 441335l /30927 7300000

Md/break Apaoaeaele Pleaee Aleeaedma VA 1996 406 24360000 06176714 2077 005 4300000 0026219 12616219 1537 379 /01055040 64600000

Misateae at Sanbem Chela VieD CA 2003 336 25560000 59 27090 903 00 0060000 60/913W 08701 300 9200 716 79 543304 30001000

Macla Vieje Plieeeix AZ 2004 450 12700000 43926764 676442 /2700000 46606226 09306226 5973021 3331203 400331/5

MacleacH Veleaaee CA 1990 210 0400000 24709146 l460326 5400000 26169471 34069471 7510933 27049339 04

Macbeet Seesdale AZ /999 249 3435 000 17266707 155570 3435000 10422357 21077357 6423 643 10401712

Meeaeme CA Oae Geaga CA 1990 272 6160000 29360930 0907491 0160000 33340429 43 000429 l0033092 32674530

Matac at Maea Hyaecvdte 540 03329223 4955 33334100 53334100 19 53334161 36424735

Macalma Pat/i I/tech Pliaame AZ 1994 240 1662332 10260276 1316639 662332 19776933 21439267 7030900 l3400 359

Nahadee Glee Naadbam OtT 1975 634530 4241755 746016 634330 4905571 0623/09 I541213 405/ 096 40962

Neoeee Glee Wmcbeetee MA 1903 IS 151344 101 1700 372039 151344 1304339 I335003 464396 071407 252 92

NeOh P/re at Hathenide teem/i Coy NJ 2003 297 4000159 94340092 OM790 4000139 93212009 002/3040 l372403l 03400990 76662000

Naohemptae Laega MG 1977 344 1043200 17520301 5176972 1043200 22700303 24540553 12342 031 l2 206022 I7 790004

Nemltgtee Valeeeia CA 1905 234 9360000 20770033 470232 9360 000 22240705 31406705 6532 694 25076090 IS 406659

5/tepee Glee Nemee MA 1903 150 l0l2 506 765727 441054 012 056 lO21020l 222836 3467 407 755379 2650l03
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0081010k III Real Entoto and Aooonadoted Depredation

Dnoember 312008

5481556 54175507 59657063

15.617708 3581935 19199641

11923324 1796166 13719490

31468209 7947293 38513502

33432829 10793614 44226443

3899 124 3899124

396813 390813

50684679

19199641

13719490

38515502

43856443

3899124

390813

Denoription

Coot Cnpitoledd

Suloneqoeni to

Acqoioitioa

il000rovemeots neil ES

Croon Am000t Corded

at Close of

Load

Boildiug Aoonnsoloted loveotonnatlo Real

Load Flstorea Total DepredatioaC Estate Not at 12/31/08 Eseombr0001n

tahitI Cost to

C10g
00050 Os Boildiog Boildisg

OakM01 Geroonotowo Ml
rug5ggoo

1984

5TL
208 50000000

Ftstos010

13155322

FiO
6931483 10000000 20087006 300070/6 3499690 00 13282263

9600000
OukM1Iil /lemooutowoMD 5985 92 834133 10233947 5075011 8/4133 15308959 1616309/ 6602634

Oak PuokNorth AgoumHilIs CA 1990 220 1706900 15362666 2079058 1706900 17441724 19148624 8088992 11050632

OakPook Sooth Agoora Sill CA 199 224 1683800 13134608 2161159 1683 00 17335767 19.09.367 8007692 10931075

Oaks Suutu Cl000tu CA 20/9 520 24ooo oI02o43S 2149121 23400000 63169558 86569358 133444
1.134.000

Old MA Glen Moyoued MA 1083 50 396756 2652233 498334 306756 15037 3547343 1014022

41 15

Olde Rodmood Place Redmoud WA 1986 192 4807100 14126038 3723190 4807100 17 849220 22656 6869

Pure LaoS Toworo NewYoek NY 1977 324 102163000 109013628 4184672 102163000 113198300 215361 300 8902 329 206458972

PuokMeodow O1bertA2 1906 225 035217 15120.769 2063910 0352I7 17104678 18019895 6981 098 II038707

23275000
Psk0dd 000vor CO 2000 476 8330000 28667618 5.702048 8330.000 30369665 38699 0887.33

Po0050o 7/oS Vuleucon CA 1989 216 8640000 21487126 2045330 640000 23532456 32172456 6820399 25352057

000uon Crook Il 1018014100 TX I998 1999 464 4067292 38.906022 2180 726 4067292 41166 749 45234041 14417796 30816245

Preoloutoeod 134l110TX 1986 255 1075200 9532056 2071217 075200 11603273 12678473 5114507 756396

34
FlomeeudedPnoch09e Cbumbloe.OA 2001 406 10150000 35 29739 1393542 10150000 32635.282 42765282 6199984

Peomoode It
Towo CooIorlI Voloocto CA 2001 270 13500000 34405636 324710 13500000 35730354 49230354 7.004901 42.225453

PeomeoudoTeouce Coe000 CA 5990 330 2272800 20946289 4037899 2272800 24584180 26856988 5344582 15512.406

Provdonuo Botholl WA 2000 200 573621 19059505 464180 3573621 19519686 23093307 977751 19115550

ReservoutAshey Luke Boyutoo BnooA FL 5990 440 520400 23332 494 4.948999 3520400 27381492 30901.892 55540984 19860.908

Roteove otCbeoodosCenlee The AeImgton VA 2003 252 10500000 52652935 5394476 50.500000 54207411 64707 41

574 695

50393438 54313973

33 974278
Reserve at Euoohowee The Aloxuodeon VA 2002 226 6500000 34585.060 489635 6500000 35074690

ReouooeoOEmproLakou RuochoCueeaoougoCA 2005 467 56 345 000 73080670 712794 56345000 73793464 90538464 9990443 80548022

Reoerve at Fearfux Coroero Fearfuo VA 200 652 55.804057 63.l29051 2001242 55864057 65530293 90934 59238 664

ReoerveoOMoeooo Volley 00006 MoeeooVolloy.CA 2005 176 800000 26151298 353644 8800000 26464942 35264942 150420 32154523

69799462 66470.000
Rooerve 00 P0501001 Yosd Alexuodeo VA 2002 588 918917 68976484 1604768 11918 957 70585252 82500.169 12701707

29196.000

Roeevo 01 Toeao Cooke WA 84011 Crook WA 200 39 10369400 41172081 98979 10369400 42 161661 52331061 7732575

10037.761/ 22.558.031

10010000 tOe PhoossseAZ 1999 480 347554 226522 5.806221 39125478

RivrPoosOn 00000 Rook Ped Luwroooo MA 2080 174 4.6/5702 18440.147 919721 4655702 19359868 23975570 4652570 59.363392

Roetaugbom 0000 WestRoxbusy MA 5974 143 1124217 7555560 1257070 5324.257 8772230 9.896447 2950340 6986107

2726415
RoISogOoeeuAmheeI

Rogoog OeeouMoKoed

AsohootMA

Moford MA

1970

1970

204

304

1340702

202350

8962317

13452150

2814.267

3030631

1340702

2012350

II 776585

6.482785

13117286

18495.131

4501 096

5.730853 12764278

10

5503654

32960000
000 MuoooO ApoetmeoS Soolto46lo AZ 199 320 20000000 31265609 690579 20000000 31951789 5195179 4098674

31.11561 36610060
SuvooohLukeo Boyotooflouoh.FL 1991 466 7000000 30422607 2574674 7000000 3299728l 39997.281 8885.720

17tOO000
SuvoouuhMdtowto ASlno0.OA 2006 322 7.209873 29433307 2157986 7209873 31.591494 38801367 6019.634

Suvoy Aueoou CO 2005 444 5450.29 38765670 1489075 5450295 4024 746 45.705441 794998 37755083

7589606 4469216
So8oroogb Squuoo RookvIo MO 1967 121 1855000 7608126 2.133.815 1815000 9.741 1556940

SoeffleldCouet AebmgtoeVA 1906 597 3342381 35337332 6.398333 3342305 37735.665 41078046 18285259 22792787

56084838
SseouTosoooe lokoForeotCA 1940 356 1900000 24083024 2.272.417 8900000 2635544 35.255445 9545546 25709895

16.224620

Skyceout Voleuoo CA 1999 264 10560000 25374457 5526.460 50560000 27100917 37660917 898964

90210478
Skybme Towool Folio Chuoch VA 1971 939 78278296 91489591 24 992 550 70278200 16477741 194755941 57585702

Skyvow RuoohuSaotaMoegmileCA 1999 260 3380000 2C952.863 1316319 3380000 23269.582 26649302 7822780

19024.439 19190000
SonutuolChnnyCrook 000vee CO 999 583 5490000 18530479 95445 5.490000 19045.524 24535524 5511080

23549544
Sooteno nO footlull Ruoh Foothil Rouh CA 1997 300 7503400 24.040507 5263634 503400 25.312141 32813941

SodS Woods Foil Rover MA 1971 404 481021 16.780 359 3032954 2481821 19813313 22295134 6856334 12434800

SpemgoColooy Alt00000tteSpeoogsFL 1986 188 630411 5852157 2129296 630411 7985453 061864 4429561

38276124 64
StooeguteC0 B00mSeIdCO 2003 358 8750.000 32998775 2.121.297 8750.000 35520.062 43870062 5593937

16.800000

SOonoleig6ut Doorfield Alpbur080 GA 2003 370 4810000 29 999 596 518100 4810000 30517695 35327.695 5.325.713

15.854019

Stoneytidge DtIeCOty.VA 5985 264 8.000000 24147091 5045818 8.000.000 29292909 37192909 4617964

22092013
Slooyb1000 BoyntootoeoohFL 2005 264 10500.000 24967.630 760.64 10500000 25728283 36228283 4123771

5.409625
SuaoosoolsiUGlno MuyourdMA 5980 120 415812 3000.016 674965 415812 3675781 4095593 125.685 2805900

SomooeooetVslloge CloatowothCA 1985 280 2629804 23670.889 3.054491 2629004 26.725701 29355585 1404.108 57.951477

Sonforoot LSovoe FL 5989 494 19.000 000 32.124050 2.880576 10000000 35003426 45005426 8145.664

Tolloyrood T000ytowoNYl 5997 1998 300 2.000000 49838160 3496456 12000000 53334.616 65334656 13820073 55.514343

TooouboueoeToeeauo HilliboeoOP 1900.5989 373 1876700 16891205 3.519551 1076700 20410756 22207456 50045256

ToeJeovoodR1 WooOWuewck RI 1973 576 1141415 7630129 1077.803 1141415 0707932 9049347 2663 070 7506277

25.10000
Touglowood VA Mouuuonu VA 1967 432 2508295 24659495 950 095 2108295 32529546 34637881 14781448

Toeuoon CSOIOViS8KCA 2000 440 28600000 61916670 1295495 20600000 63212165 91812165 6755055 85057155

Tooooel BwIdng Boekeloy CA 2004 35 2736000 7810027 14530 2736000 424557 50560 557 721689 9.838067

35 01
Troili0000 at Alofsyu Oviodo FL 2006 253 7590000 32 014299 202.70 7590000 32217084 39807004 4474042

TonOClob Lttlo000C0 5906 324 2107300 15.478040 2663270 2.107300 10141310 20.248610 7801953 52.446657

Tuloooy oOLmdborgS A000tu GA 2001 324 9720000 40.074023 l416320 9720 000 42290343 52.050 345 6077629 45132714

107996277 00550000
UpOuoososquuro Doovoe.C0G 1999/2001 696 17492000 100705311 563393 57492000 102 336704 119.628.744

liwujuooyoVIlogo SooIOeWA 2002 576 8800000 22 580280 02852 8800000 22271140 31071140 3587 948 27.403595

VuV000eo Soouodule AZ 1900 528 1351785 13382006 7670117 1355.785 21.052.122 22403008 12953168 9450740

VIoEouuoolo PboeooAZ 1903 35 2004447 22597363 3141107 2.884447 25338470 28222957 10680949

VillugoolUkewood PhoeusxAZ 1908 240 3.166411 13.859090 5761379 3166411 55620469 58786880 6548296 52238.584

VotaDolugoTX DullauTX 1992 296 3.52000 20.066.92 1553019 3.02000 21.619931 25171931 6426287

16453653 0355 000

Wornook 01000 Wes500uooler CO 1986 332 2274125 21113974 2.62070 2274121 23734 26.008.805 9555151

WOeofootPIoueCO ThomtooC0 1998 336 5040000 29.733.022 1033715 5440060 30766737 55806.737 5984761 29821976

WelhogtooHll Monohootoe.N01 1907 390 1098300 11120044 0370825 1099200 23499.487 25389607 12579923 12009764

703056
WroOvood Glen WeOwood MA 1972 156 1616505 50800084 699109 616505 11305193 13.12h690 3413301

WlouporCroek DeoveeCO 2002 272 5310.000 22998558 601.945 5310000 23600504 28.910.584 4506340 24.723963

WIkmuGloo M668oI4MA 197 103 538403 3620943 1103055 538403 4.732090 5271481 5563292 3700189

Wodedgo CA UgoouNgoel CA 1969 344 2662.000 23989497 3897385 2.662900 27882881 30545781 14182946 16362835

WOOOIIOSIWA

EQRWhollyOnvandEnonnshated

EOR P.etlallV Owned Unennnbrond

KoeklaodWA 1984 288 6631400 16.735484 2.181.634 6631400 18917118 25548510 7504369 18044149

48109 120252306 4674586623 303757442 5798702506 5058344.069 6.316.596 975 5223300257 5093.296.314 2214902657

BolIPatkLoftu Drover COG 2003 339 5401556 53300741 866766

ButtoetleldRuooh CIoooHi00CA 15617708 3.54193

HudsonCeoootgll NowYot1cNY 11923324 1.796166

VituMoetaou Rnodsotoul 00nJose CA 31468.209 7047293

VOIOM000uOOVTOWOI00000 Su010eCA 33.432829 10793654

Woolgute POSOIeOOCA 3899524

WOOOOOOOPOOO4OOOOO4GOeOO P00001eOOCA
390053
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Sabodola III Rat Estate mad uloted Deprrlaliua

Daeembar3l 2008

EQR ParduUy Owned Uuaurnmbrred

EOR Purtlolly Onsuad Eucumbrradt

lllLowrrncobtrrot

Alto Pucific

Belle Term

Brooltuide Crossing

Brookuidn Crossing

Canyon Cnnak CA
Coy Lofts

CoppnrCraok

Connlay Oaks

Dublin West

Edgewolor

EDS Dulloe

Fox Ridge

Hidden Loin

Luknview

Leknwood

Lantern Covr

Logocy Pack Cannel

Mate Del Din

Montclao Metro

Mounts

Pmrsenne at Bnneslrff

Red Rood Continues

Schooner Buy
Schoone Buy
Sconudule Meadow

Silver Spring

South Shore

Stenyhorun at Aeeowheud Ranch

Third Square

Viatugo

Wotertinid Square

Wutoakeld Squaae II

Westgato Pasadrra Apaeenoenl

Wesigaln Punudnea Condos

Wlont Bouk CA
EQR Puatiolly Owned Encumbered

Poofelia Entity Enstnabraaces

Intel Cetetuildatud luntetuaron in Real Ettate

San unached Euceunbrueces Reooaotliattoo

Cent Cepltnllnad

Subsequent tn

Aaqtsiailltu

Grunt Aeuutnt Canlud

at lute of

40099922 68626760 108 726663

30391 10752145 34 $93371 43.347016

411913 568686 26482455 32169317

1574196 625000 6237493 6862493

1496341 770.000 7464016 8234016

72729 5425060 21539412 2696442

7638 6882467 61372224 6025469

1631029 1017400 10764288 11806688

2779840 6l05000 3234 705 38446705

12635839 12635039

2049489 580000 19759 55 20330t5l

30000 000 35000000

2052550 2490000 20374664 22864664

1940915 715000 18354069 20069069

1329292 950000 8713154 9663 154

1195513 855000 7676287 0531207

1922369 6945000 25254575 32199575

171.754 6469230 46017608 53386838

1124166 4305000 13264565 17589585

2208343 27 117930 29326273

150850 8500000 59198955 67698955

380918 6370000 18147240 24517240

27.383547 69.216843 96600304

1.754.561 5345000 22263000 27008800

1.995.009 4550000 20.137173 24.607.173

n3n 64 1012000 12 0569n6 14 068 iS96

10539817 121364121 139.903938

1.451.837 840000 10832623 11672623

78.787 4400000 13.046.700 17.446.788

8840 27812384 222825669 250638252

52736 7059.230 47730490 54789728

2020111 950000 11320.361 1227036

1.503 787 645000 10241775 11086.775

22898.848 46467.600 69.366536

29977723 13.024.529 43002254

505.300 5055000 39.893.972 44940972

35561.075 l18555758 l195370378 1513926137

l08726683

44410601 28260000

26740040 23350000

4537248 4658000

5.700.286 4.867000

20811661 28000000

67l25907 48440206

7121.986 51 2000

30407559 294 2000

12635839 0200 000

15042090 11980 000

30006060 17435.166

16456989 20300000

34688534 15165500

6991406 7286000

5085643 5600000

25 181297 36403 000

45793229 57650 SOS

3433343 9923 37

29326277 14539923

63268832 205070

22531930 6000000

96.600390 39027 806

1699.929 27006000

9420661 23760000

S4485 0300300

39 903936 98674159

85939 819000

16503291 6288385

250638 00 158515 054

50815594 33000 000

8681508 6929000

8039420 6595000

69 366536 160000

43002254 5990869

37546474 29000000

l396673285 1537671184

Initial Cuattu

Dernrlptluu Cumpuny .--
Dule uP Buildiug Building Buildiug Aenrsmulutad Iuneutmsut it Real

Apurlutant Name Leautina Coutlrualiau Uultu It
339

Loud

97.923.626

Fietorta

80.817.684

Loud Flutairnu

866766

Loud

97.923.626

Fletoman

81684450

Tagni

179.608.676

Depreeiutlun

9342364

Rite In Nat at 12/3108

170.265692

Eunuu.bmunean

Brooklyu NY 40099922 68626760

lenten CA 2008 132 10752345 34564980

MakiltaaWA 2002 235 5686863 26070540

StocktoaCA 198 90 625000 4663298

StasktanCA 198 128 770000 5967676

Sun Remon CA 1984 268 5425000 I8812121

ChicugaIL 2008 278 6.882467 61364586

Tampa AZ 1984 144 1017400 9358260

Agouen NtIS CA 1985 256 6105000 29561865

Dublin CA 12635.839

Baknrs0aldCA 1984 258 580000 17710063

Hoender VA 36 000000

EuglawoadCO 1984 300 2490.000 17.522114

Sacrumnata CA 1985 272 1715000 16413154

Lotli CA 3983 338 950000 7383862

Titsu OK 1985 152 855000 6480774

FostenCity CA 3985 232 6945000 23332206

Coacord CA 2003 259 6469230 46745854

Albuquerque NM 1983 22 4305000 12160410

Moutolsie NJ 2208343 27117930

Lou Aagalau CA 2007 272 6500 000 59 048304

Atlanta GA 1994 182 6370000 17760322

Maaau FL 27363547 69216843

Fouler City CA 1965 168 5345000 20509239

Fnutre City CA 1985 144 4550000 I8l42163

SvattudalmAZ 1084 163 uI2000 11400 340

Silvre SpooR MD 18539817 121364121

Stovhton CA 1979 120 840000 9300786

GlrndalnAZ 1906 136 4400000 12968002

Cambndge MA 27812384 222817028

Ontario CA 2005 2007 300 7059230 47677762

Stockton CA 3984 170 950000 9300249

Stuuktoe CA 1984 158 845000 8657988

Pasedaae CA 22898848 46467688

Pusadana CA 29.977.725 33.024529

Plnauai5 Hill CA 1985 220 5055006 38388672

5438 318 555758 l159809303

936915

5429277

2325246

2533730

35275

1128784

4684762

8.039 145

5297462

6407673

5380535

2671748

2645644

7018278

7593609

4156242

4430 123

1995 310

5908 87
5266531

5224101

3678712

943498

152

397434

3588853

3048347

7402498

17252852

884355798

132759 4052411347 13382526574 1255300930 4052411347 14037827504 18690238851 3561300166 1512893S683 5036929639
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Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2008

NOTES

The balance of furniture fixtures included in the total investment in real estate amount was $1072283499 as of December 31 2008

The cost net of accumulated depreciation for Federal Income Tax purposes as of December 31 2008 was approximately $10.7 billion

The life to compute depreciation for building is 30 years for building improvements ranges from to 10 years for furniture fixtures and

replacements is years
and for in-place leases is the average remaining term of each respective lease

This asset consists of various acquisition dates and largely represents furniture fixtures and equipment leasehold improvements and capitalized

software costs owned by the Management Business which are generally depreciated over periods ranging from to years

Primarily represents capital expenditures for major maintenance and replacements incurred subsequent to each propertys acquisition date

Represents land construction-in-progress and/or miscellaneous pursuit costs on projects either held for future development or projects currently

under development

portion or all of these properties includes commercial space retail parking and/or office space

Total properties and units exclude both the Partially Owned Properties Unconsolidated consisting of 41 properties and 9776 units

and the Military Housing Fee Managed consisting of two properties and 4709 units

through See Encumbrances Reconciliation schedule

This asset has new construction loan outstanding but no amounts had yet been drawn as of December 31 2008
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Corporate Data

Board of Trustees

Samuel Ze1156

Chairman of the Board Equity Residential

Chairman of the Board

Equity Group Investments LLC

Gerald Spector

Vice Chairman of the Board Equity Residential

Executive Vice President and Chief Administration

Officer Tribune Company

David Neithercut56

President Chief Executive Officer

Equity Residential

John Alexander34

President Mallard Creek Capital Partners Inc

Charles Atwood124

Former Vice Chairman Harrahs Entertainment Inc

Stephen Evans

President Evans Realty Associates

Boone Knox35

Managing Partner Knox Ltd

John Neal25

Partner Linden LLC

Sheli Rosenberg34

Co-Founder The Center for Executive Women at

Northwestern Universitys Kellogg School

of Management

Joseph White24

President The University of Illinois

Lead Trustee Audit Committee Compensation

Committee Corporate Governance Committee

Executive Committee Pricing Committee

Total Shareholder Returns

Performance Graph 2004-2008

The following graph compares our shareholder

return assuming reinvestment of dividends

since December 31 2003 with the SP 500

Index and the index of REITs prepared by

NAREIT The graph assumes an investment

of $100 in Equity Residential and the two

indexes on December 31 2003 The NAREIT

index includes all tax-qualified REITs listed on

the NYSE the American Stock Exchange and

the Nasdaq Stock Market

250

EQR

100 NAREIT

SP 500

50

Corporate Office

Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza

Chicago Illinois 60606-2609

Phone312.474.1300

www.equityresidential.com

Our Guidelines on Governance Code of Ethics

and Business Conduct and Committee Charters

are available in the Investor Information section

of our website at www.equityresidential.com

Executive Officers

David Neithercut

President Chief Executive Officer

Alan George

Executive Vice President

Chief Investment Officer

Mark Parrell

Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

John Powers

Executive Vice PresidentHuman Resources

David Santee

Executive Vice PresidentOperations

Bruce Strohm

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Mark Tennison

Executive Vice PresidentDevelopment

Frederick Tuomi

Executive Vice President

PresidentProperty Management

Auditor

Ernst Young LLP

Chicago Illinois

Transfer Agent

To keep securities information up-to-date and

to ensure that holders of Equity Residential

securities receive financial information as soon as

possible after mailing please advise the transfer

agent of your new address or change of name

Write to them directly at the following address

Computershare Trust Company N.A

P.O Box 43010

Providence Rhode Island 02940-3010

Or call 800.733.5001

www.computershare.com/equiserve

Shareholders

There were approximately 3700 record holders

of Equity Residential common shares on January 31

2009 The number of outstanding common shares

as of January 31 2009 was 272794454

Form 10-K and Other Reports Certifications

Requests for Equity Residentials Form 10-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission

SEC and any other inquiries from individuals

and institutional investors should be directed to

Martin McKenna

Vice PresidentInvestor and Public Relations

Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza

Chicago Illinois 60606-2609

Phone 888.879.6356

Email InvestorRelations@eqrworld.com

The SEC also maintains website that contains

reports proxy information and statements and

other information regarding registrants who file

electronically with the SEC The website address is

www.sec.gov

Equity Residential has included as Exhibits 31.1

and 31.2 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for

fiscal year 2008 filed with the SEC certificates of

Equity Residentials Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer certifying the quality of the

companys public disclosure Equity Residentials

Chief Executive Officer has also certified to the

New York Stock Exchange NYSE that he is not

aware of any violations by Equity Residential of

the NYSE corporate governance listing standards

Common Share Market Prices and Dividends

Equity Residentials common shares are listed on

the New York Stock Exchange NYSE ticker symbol

EQR The high low and closing sales prices and the

distributions declared for the past two years were as

follows

Dividend

2008 High Low Close Declared

Fourth Quarter $43.76 $21.27 $29.82 $04825

Third Quarter $49.00 $36.84 $44.41 $04825

Second Quarter $44.89 $37.76 $38.27 $0.425

First Quarter $43.78 $31.07 $41.49 $04825

Dividend

2007 High Low Close Declared

Fourth Quarter $45.01 $33.79 $36.47 $04825

Third Quarter $47.48 $35.00 $42.36 $04625

Second Quarter $52.25 $44.36 $45.63 $04625

First Quarter $56.46 $46.66 $48.23 $04625

Dividend Reinvestment and

Share Purchase Plan

Equity Residential offers Dividend Reinvestment

and Share Purchase Plan For an information packet

including the plan prospectus and enrollment form

please call the Plan Administrator Computershare

at 800.733.5001

DEC DEC DEC DEC DEC DEC

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

EQS $100 $129 $147 $198 $148 $128

NAREIT 100 130 141 190 156 98

SP500 100 111 116 135 142 90



Equity Residential

Two North Riversde Plaza

Chicago IL 60606-2609

www.EquityResidentiai.com


